HANDBOOK ON RADIO AND TELEVISION AUDIENCE RESEARCH

Graham Mytton

Head of International Broadcasting Audience Research

BBC World Service



Preface

When we talk to other people we spontaneously think about them, noting their characteristics and watching their responses to what we say. Journalism training is likely to start from the same point: if you want to communicate effectively, you must be aware of your audience; you may not wish to give them what they want, but you will certainly profit from knowing who they are.

Newspapers and other print media automatically receive some feed-back from their audience in the number of copies they sell. This is not the case with radio and television, and programmes are sometimes produced and transmitted at high cost, and often to wide areas, merely in the belief that there is an audience for them. Moreover, it is assumed that these broadcasts has an impact of some kind: this may not be the case since for many people radio and television are nowadays used as background noise to accompany other activities.

Audience research is a tool to overcome this lack of feed-back from listeners and viewers. It can tell a broadcaster that noone is listening to propaganda or that it is counterproductive. It can tell a producer, that the intended audience is not being reached or that they have misunderstood the message. It can tell a dramatist how surprisingly well audiences have grasped a sophisticated form of audio-visual expression.

The importance of audience research has increasingly been recognized by the electronic medias in the industrialized countries. In developing countries, lack of resources and expertise together with logistical difficulties have often proved insurmountable obstacles to carry out research. This is unfortunate, since audience research can save money by identifying those programmes which are not cost-effective; it is especially regrettable because audience research has a key role to play in communication for development. It is not only an essential tool for information campaigns and educational programmes, which directly support the development process, but also helps the professional broadcaster reflect the needs and preferences of audiences in programme productions. It is an essential part of the dialogue which ensures a more participatory approach to communication.

The BBC World Service has in many countries been a source, if not of that elusive ideal "objectivity", then of that more attainable goal balanced reporting. From its earliest days, the BBC has wanted to know about its listeners. In measuring the size and tastes of its audience, many of whom live in developing countries, and the researchers of the BBC World Service have accumulated formidable experience in conducting surveys in nonindustrialized environments. It was with this consideration in mind that we turned to Graham Mytton, Head of Audience Research at the BBC World Service, to share the expertise of his department in a practical handbook on audience research methods. This Handbook can be used as a training manual, and the methods it follows are not limited to developing countries but may be applied anywhere. Great communicators, like great artists, seem by instinct to strike responsive chords, often with large audiences and across centuries. The less gifted among us can be helped by sound research on the audiences we have the privilege to address to approach this ideal.

We hope you will find the Handbook useful.

Helis, Chan

Mehr Khan Director Division of Information United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Alain Modoux Director Communication Division United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)

The ideas and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of UNICEF or UNESCO.

Acknowledgements

The idea for this book came from Morten Giersing in 1990, when he was working in the Communications Division of UNESCO. UNESCO, which had organised a few regional seminars and conferences on audience research, mainly in developing countries, and had discovered the paucity of suitable reading material on the subject. Most of what has been written falls into two broad categories.

First, there are the mostly empirical studies done by or for broadcasting organisations. There are a large number of books and articles on audience and media research in the developed world, much of it dominated by the requirements of research for the improvement and enhancement of media campaigns through advertising. There is also a relatively small amount of public sector broadcasting audience research literature, almost all of it drawn from experiences in the richer industrialised countries.

The second category is the mostly theoretical and critical studies produced by academic scholars. There is a very large body of literature from academic social sciences. A lot of this is very far removed from the practical day-to-day problems and issues facing radio and television broadcasters who feel the need to know more about their audiences in order to do their jobs more effectively. There has been a growing interest in audience research in developing countries. It is being seen less as an expensive luxury, nice to have but not essential, and more as an essential requirement. Well planned and well managed audience research can always help broadcasters make more effective use of limited resources. Often audience research can actually save money by identifying those broadcasting activities which are ineffective and resource-wasting.

This is not just a training manual for audience research in poorer countries. The methods and techniques described are valid, amended and adapted as appropriate, anywhere.

As I wrote above, the two broad categories of research in mass communications reflect the uses to which it is put and the requirements of those who promote and finance it. In research for radio and television stations, the way the research is done is largely determined by the need for speedy information about audiences, keeping costs down and the need to provide information on which action and decisions can be based.

Academic mass media research into radio and television and their audiences tends to take a much longer time to produce. It is more concerned with the social consequences of broadcasting and to discover and develop theories about the processes of communication involved.

There is a rather wide gulf between the two and far too little interchange or cooperation. Some cooperation has been seen in, for example, the effects of violence on television on young viewers, and on the role of broadcasting in education and development. To have addressed these issues in this manual would have made it too long. The subject matter here is mainly confined to the methods used to measure audiences and to probe and understand audience behaviour. Some of the methods described here are relevant for the wider social issues raised by broadcasting. I hope, therefore, the book will be of use not only to broadcasting audience researchers, but also to those in the academic community interested in understanding how the work is done by and for radio and television stations.

Many people have assisted me and provided helpful comments and advice. I cannot mention everyone but the following have been especially helpful.

From the Group of European Audience Researchers (GEAR) I have had helpful comments from Claude Geertz of RTBF, Belgium, Jaroslav Kostal of Czech Radio, Heikki Kasari of YLE, Finland, Peter Diem, ORF, Austria, Isabel Serrano, La Cinq, France, Mathias Steinmann, SRG, Switzerland, Laura Martinez, CCRTV, Spain, Silvano Minitti, RAI, Italy, Deana Cakan, JRT, Yugoslavia and Elena Sapronova, Ostankino, USSR.

Other audience researchers who have helped have been Maude Blankson-Mills of GBC Ghana, the late Tobias Sumaili of ZNBC, Zambia, Daan Van Vuuren of SABC, South Africa, B. Khurana of Doordashan, India, Chen Ruoyu of CCTV China, Nandana Karunanayake, formerly of SLBC, Sri Lanka, Rosemary Whewell of NZBC, New Zealand, Dennis List of ABC, Australia, and Philip Savage, CBC, Canada.

Robert Fortner at Calvin College, Grand Rapids, Michigan read the manuscript and provided useful comments as also did Felix Widmer of Transworld Radio and my BBC domestic audience research counterpart Peter Menneer.

The extract from Yes, Prime Minister on page xx is reproduced by kind permission of BBC Enterprises and the authors, Peter Jay and Jonathan Lynn. The book is published by BBC Enterprises, London.

Among my own researcher colleagues, David Ostry, Satu Salmi and Melissa Baker provided ideas and comments from their own field research experiences. I am very grateful to my other colleagues at the audience research department of the BBC World Service, to Carol Forrester for finding references for me, for Denise Webb for compiling the bibliography, to Sharon Jones and Marie Dziedzic for typing and retyping successive drafts and to Adebisi Ogunsanya and Tim Ward for helping with layout and word processing problems.

None of this would have happened without Morten Giersing's encouragement and I am grateful to him and his successor on this project My von Euler for seeing it through to completion.

Without all these friends and helpers the work would never have been done. Any faults, however, are mine. My main purpose is to show why audience research is worthwhile and interesting and to give some guidance on how to go about it. I hope that is what I have achieved.

Graham Mytton

International Broadcasting Audience Research BBC World Service London May 1992

Table of Contents

Preface and Acknowledgements		
Introduction; The Need for Research	1	
The Methods of Audience Research	7	
Audience Measurement or Quantitative Research	7	
Sampling: Theory and Practice	7	
Defining the "Universe"	8	
Selecting a Representative Sample	9	
The Sampling Frame	9	
Random Samples	10	
Stratified Random Samples	11	
Quota Sampling	12	
More on Sampling	13	
The Questionnaire: The Art of Asking Questions	13	
Designing a Questionnaire	13	
Questions Before Asking Questions	16	
Not All Questions are Answerable!	16	
Types of Question	17	
Open-Ended or Verbal Questions	17	
"List" Questions	18	
Category Questions	18	
Ranking Questions	19	
Scale Questions	19	
Quantity Questions	19	
Grid Questions	19	
Making Questions Work	20	
The Role of the Interviewer	21	
Pilot Testing	23	
Checking or Testing	24	
Reliability of Questions	24	
Checking Interviewers	24	
Validity	25	
Checking and Editing of Questionnaires	26	
Translation into Different Languages	26	
Continuous Audience Research: Methods in Use Today	26	
Diaries	27	

Meters	28
Personal Interviews	30
Telephone Interviews	30
Face-to-Face Interviews	33
Research among specific target groups	36
Survey Research for Small Stations	37
Other Methods of Audience Measurement Research	37
Some Common Problems Encountered in Field Research and	
Some Solutions	38
Audience Opinion and Reaction	40
Panels	40
Postal Questionnaires	43
On-air Questionnaires	44
Appreciation Indices	44
Qualitative Research	46
Methods and Uses of Qualitative Research	46
Desk Research	49
Listeners' and Viewers' Letters	50
Data Analysis	51
Interpretation and Terminology	51
Coverage	51
What do we Mean by "Listen" or "Watch"?	52
Some Audience Research Terms	52
How Research is Used	55
Notes and References	61
Appendices	65
Bibliography	103

Introduction; The Need for Research

Radio and television are 20th century phenomena. The years between 1900 and 2000 have probably seen more changes in technology than any previous century. The electronic media have played a major part in those changes.

Radio reaches almost everyone, everywhere. It is true that some people still have no regular access to it, but the number is shrinking. Television has also grown rapidly in recent years, reaching many people in some of the very poorest parts of the world.

The world's population in 1991 was estimated to be 5,200 million. It was estimated that there were 2,037 million radio and 964 million television sets. They are very unevenly distributed; while there are more radio sets than people in rich countries like Australia, France, the U.K., Sweden, Canada and the United States, in poor countries like Bhutan, Bangladesh, Guinea Bissau and Burkina Faso, there are estimated to be only one set or less for every twenty people.¹

There are even greater disparities in access to television. While in some of the richer countries, most households have more than one set, there are 38 countries where there is only one set or less for every 100 people.

There are also great disparities in the development of the two media at the pro-

gramme and transmission end. The inhabitants of even quite small United States cities usually have more than 20 television and 40 radio stations or channels to choose from. In many West European countries, the number of television and radio channels has increased considerably over the past ten years as both media have been deregulated; that is to say, they are no longer monopolies of the state or public sector. Commercial and other independent operators have been licensed to own and run stations. The same process is beginning to happen now also in East and Central Europe where formerly there was a total state monopoly.

However, at the time of writing, in most countries in Africa and Asia, although there are often private newspapers and other print media, the electronic media tend to be a state monopoly. Now, even this is beginning to change. In Africa in the 1980s there were only six radio or television stations on the whole continent not owned by the state. But in 1990 and 1991 we have seen the beginnings of the end for state monopoly in countries as diverse as Sierra Leone, Burkina Faso, Ivory Coast, Kenya, Gabon and South Africa. Even so, in most African and Asian countries people have little choice of domestic radio and TV service. There is great unevenness in the availability of TV and radio channels. In some countries listeners and viewers may have many channels to choose from. In others they may have only two radio and one TV channel.

Despite these and other undoubted inequalities, the two electronic media obviously play a major role in world information. Pictures and reports of events and people from different parts of the globe are carried everywhere and at great speed. During the 1991 war in the Gulf, viewers were able to see pictures of the bombing of Baghdad on television screens or hear reports of air raids as they happened. None of this necessarily means that we are, as a result, better informed than we were before this era of more rapid global communication. Indeed the main impact of the modern mass media may be less in the rapid dissemination of information and more in the wider dissemination of certain ways of seeing the world.

The electronic media may be doing rather more than merely giving information. Some see them as having an unwelcome influence. They are thought to enhance the power of the already powerful. They are criticised for lowering cultural standards and of blurring the distinctive richness of many world cultures. They are seen by critics as promoting false values. They are seen as being dominated by powerful nations or multinational companies and as weakening further the already weak.

There are others who see the modern electronic mass media as leading to greater violence, immorality and disrespect for tradition. They are often blamed for the supposed increase in crime. Many other ills of modern society have been blamed on television - rather less on radio.

At the same time, the electronic media are viewed by others as having mostly beneficial effects. It is argued that they make democracy possible, by widely disseminating the kinds of information people need when exercising democratic choices. They cut across social and economic barriers and provide equal access to educational and other information by which people can improve their own personal circumstances.

It is not at all easy to decide who is right in this debate. Have the modern mass media had mostly beneficial or harmful effects? Put in this bald way, as many so often do, the question is probably unanswerable. The fact is that modern life as we know it could not be imagined without electronic mass communication. The systems of mass communication found in the world today form part of the way in which world societies function. One might as well ask, "Is modern society beneficial or harmful?" A more interesting set of questions arise instead if we think about the media in this way. What role do they play in different societies? How much are they used. for what purpose and by whom? What are the consequences when the media change in some way?

The questions "Who is Listening?" or "Who is Watching?" are surely not unwarranted or even remarkable questions to ask. Certainly the broadcasters need to know something about the people who are watching or listening. In all kinds of human communication activity we think about the person or persons with whom we are communicating. A teacher speaks in a different manner and about different things to first year and sixth year school children. If we speak to someone who does not speak our own language very well we try to make allowances for the fact. We use different ways of addressing members of our own family, the local shopkeeper, the police, subordinates and superiors. Every time we speak, write a letter, make a phone call or write a book like this one, we consider with whom we are communicating. If we don't know, we do a little research. When we meet someone for the first time we tend to ask questions which in various ways help us to continue to communicate by modifying our behaviour in some way, if necessary the way in which we communicate. Have we met before? Have we

certain things in common? Do we share similar interests? What can we ascertain about the other person's attitudes, knowledge or personality that would help us communicate better?

Radio and television broadcasting are peculiar forms of communication. Most of the communicating is one-directional. Broadcasts are transmitted and it is assumed that what is being broadcast is being watched or listened to. But why is this assumption made? What is so odd is that so much broadcasting activity in the world goes on without much effort to find out what is really happening at the other end! If you were a politician and you stood up and made a speech in a large hall full of people and slowly everyone got up and walked out, what would you do? What would you do if everyone started talking among themselves ignoring what you were saying? You would surely either stop talking or you might try to change what you were saying or the way in which you were saying it and attempt to attract everyone's attention. You would change what you were saying, or perhaps you would stop talking altogether in sheer embarrassment! You would certainly soon feel very foolish if you continued to talk without any change, unless you were extraordinarily thick-skinned! And yet, a not inconsiderable amount of radio and television broadcasting in the world is like this, especially in countries where there is a monopoly or very little competition. It continues inexorably, but no one troubles to find out if anyone is listening or viewing.

Audience Research is more than a matter of knowing if anyone is listening or viewing. Who is the programme intended for? Are *they* listening or viewing? Do radio broadcasters, living in the cities, know what time to broadcast to farmers? They might think they do, but experience shows that without research they can get it wrong. If programmes are aimed at children, are the children actually being reached?

Broadcasting is one of a range of goods and services available to the public, and it is one of the few such services which is now universal. But unlike most other goods and services, there is no equivalent to sales information. If you are selling soft drinks, you can easily find out on a yearly, monthly or even daily basis how many cans or bottles are being sold. If you are running a hospital, you can find out from your records how many people have been admitted over a given period of time. If you are running a bus service you can add up the tickets you have sold. Newspaper proprietors can count their sales. But broadcasters have no such easily obtained evidence of consumption or use. But that doesn't mean it is not needed. Nor does it mean that it cannot be obtained.

Radio and television, in the less developed countries as well as in Europe, are often funded out of taxation or licence revenue. In this case they are expected to provide a public service, serving the interests of the whole of the tax or licence paying public. But how can a public service broadcasting station receiving public funds show that it is doing this unless it does audience research? Part of a public service station's purpose will usually be to serve certain minority interests. This also needs to be researched so that it can be established that those requirements are being met satisfactorily.

In the United States, Latin America and increasingly in Europe research is essential if the main source of funds for broadcasting is advertising and programme sponsorship. How much should different time slots cost the advertisers? How many people and what kind of people are listening or viewing at different times and to which programmes? Which is the best time to advertise if one wants to reach housewives? What is the channel listened to most by professional people?

There was a time when, even in the richer countries, audience research was not at all widespread. Broadcasters in the early days of radio in Europe and the United States knew remarkably little about their listeners. What they thought they knew was based on very unreliable and misleading methods. In the very early days of radio in the United States, there was no systematic audience research. Very often it was the personal likes and dislikes of a prospective commercial sponsor - most U.S. broadcasting was and is paid for by advertising - which determined what went on air. An advertiser might sponsor a programme because of his own tastes and preferences.²

The first form of measurement used in the United States to guide programming was obtained by counting the number of letters elicited by programmes. Other "measurements" used by broadcasters in the early days were no more reliable. Some radio station managers used to draw a circle on a map with a hundred-mile radius about the station and determine the number of people who lived within that circle. But such a procedure is entirely meaningless so far as measuring the audience accurately was concerned. Differences in power, local geography, station programming, wavelengths, and numerous other factors are known to influence the size of the populations habitually reached by each station.

Broadcasting also began in Europe in the 1920s. In Britain, radio broadcasting began in 1922, first as a service for the purchasers of the new wireless sets provided by a consortium of manufacturers. This was very soon turned into a public corporation, the BBC, which was given a Royal Charter to provide radio transmissions of education and entertainment as a public service. There was no commercial broadcasting on radio in Britain until 1973. The BBC had no audience research for more than ten years after its establishment. Audience research did not begin without an argument.

"I cannot help feeling more and more strongly that we are fundamentally ignorant as to how our various programmes are received, and what is their relative popularity. It must be a source of considerable disquiet to many people besides myself to think that it is quite possible that a very great deal of our money and time and effort may be expended on broadcasting into a void. " (Val Gielgud, BBC Productions Director, 1930).

"I do not share Gielgud's view on the democratic issue. However complete and effective any survey we launch might be, I should still be convinced that our policy and programme building should be based first and last upon our conviction as to what should and should not be broadcast. As far as meeting public demand is concerned, I believe that the right way is to provide for a more conscious differentiation of objectives within our daily programme." (Charles Siepmann, BBC Director of Talks, 1930).³

These two points of view are not actually impossible to reconcile. Audience research does not aim to tell programme makers what to do. Gielgud's views were actually shared by many programme makers who felt the need to have some more reliable information on the growing audience. This information would help them to do their jobs better. It would also help those in management allocate resources better to meet their public service obligations. Siepmann's remarks seem to have been more in the nature of a caution against over-reliance on quantitative audience research since, according to the founder of audience research in the BBC, Siepmann became a firm supporter from the early days.⁴

Audience research was formally established within the BBC in 1936. Its role has, from the outset, included that of serving as an instrument of public accountability as well as providing an information system for programme makers and management. It is also involved in a large number of special studies on particular contemporary broadcasting issues which help the corporation decide on major policy issues. This function has been especially important in recent years as the broadcasting scene has changed so rapidly in the UK.

In the United States the process was completely different. American radio was, from the beginning, guided by one fundamental principle: people are attracted to listen if they get programmes they want. All American audience measurement has derived from this basic marketing principle. Through it, the broadcasters attempt to furnish people with the programmes that sufficiently large numbers of people will want to hear, not with programmes which someone thinks they ought to listen to. And so the determination of the programme preferences and desires of the general public. or of target audiences within it, is the basic function served by radio and TV audience measurement in any broadcasting system run on commercial lines. And this principle has in turn been modified by uneven consideration given to those preferences and desires. Programmes that attract large numbers of people with spending power are more likely to attract advertising and sponsorship than those which reach smaller numbers of people, or people with less spending power. Programmes for the old, the poor and for minorities are less likely to receive commercial backing. This is a fundamental difference between public service and commercial broadcasting and this difference is reflected in the outlook and approach of audience research.

But are these the only reasons that broadcasters need to know who is listening? Is it just a matter of attracting advertising or of justifying the way public funds are used? There is much more to audience research than these, important though they are.

Some people in broadcasting, especially in public service or state-run radio or television, are suspicious of research, especially research using the methods of market research. Their view is one I frequently encounter. "How can anything which helps those who are interested only in selling more soft drinks, cosmetics or baby food possibly be of interest or value to those of us who are keen to use broadcasting for the real benefit of people?" It is a profoundly short-sighted view. Whatever we may think about the activities of commercial firms which seek to maximise their sales and profits, sometimes perhaps unscrupulously, we have to recognise that the techniques they employ do actually work. Advertising clearly brings results, otherwise very large sums of money would not be spent on it. It doesn't always work in the way intended. Indeed many expensive campaigns fail to achieve the intended results. The sums spent on advertising in the rich industrial countries are very large indeed. And because some advertising is seen to fail, large sums are spent on research designed to discover the most effective means of advertising. Can these methods not be used too in ways to more general human benefit? The same techniques can of course be used to improve and make more effective any kind of communication on radio or TV. If the need is to improve broadcasting to farmers, or broadcasts to improve public health, infant nutrition, adult education, or anything else, research can be used in the same way. Just as it can maximise the effectiveness of advertising cosmetics, it can also do the same for more worthwhile communications activities.

Audience research can be used as a means of maximising the effectiveness of public campaigns, and of improving and enhancing education and information for effective democracy and good government. Audience research is a means of providing essential information to aid the creative process of programme making. It can be used as a means of maximising the efficient and cost-effective use of limited resources. And it can be used to test if the objectives of any educational or information campaign have been successful.

The objective may be a simple one; to increase awareness of a consumer brand - a new soft drink or a washing powder - or to make people aware of the dangers in drinking water from polluted sources. In both cases, messages via the media can be shown to increase awareness. It becomes far more complicated and difficult to test the effectiveness of advertising or educational promotion in changing people's purchasing or domestic behaviour.

The Methods of Audience Research

Audience Measurement or Quantitative Research

This is the core activity of any broadcasting audience research and the one into which most effort is put. How we can find out how many listen to or watch which services, which programmes and at what times?

I am often asked "How do you know how many listeners or viewers the BBC has for any of its programmes or services?" There is no great mystery about it! In Britain, my colleagues in the domestic audience research department have well-established methods by which they can calculate how many listen to or watch BBC and other programmes at different times and on different days of the week. In the World Service we are unable to carry out research with the same degree of regularity but are nonetheless able to say a lot about audiences for the different language services transmitted to many parts of the world. When audience measurement is carried out according to certain principles it is usually possible to make reasonably accurate estimates of the numbers of listeners or viewers to different services, the times that they listen or watch and the number of minutes or hours spent watching or listening. Research can normally provide information about the kinds of people who form the audience for different programmes at various times in the day and so on. Research of this kind carried out over a

period of time can plot trends in audience behaviour. It can show whether new programmes have increased or decreased audience size, whether new services have achieved their audience target objectives or whether there are long-term trends which need to be taken account of in future policy.

How is this done? The principles of audience measurement are not complex or difficult to understand. What we do is select a sample of the population and ask appropriate questions about television viewing or radio listening. There are various ways of doing this but before describing them, let us look in some detail at the principle and practice of sampling. How can a sample represent everyone?

Sampling: Theory and Practice

The principles of sampling used in audience measurement are shared by all branches of social, market and opinion research. Those principles are also used in everyday life. Experience tells us that we can draw conclusions from a few chance observations. In a market we might buy and taste an orange to see if it is ripe and sweet before buying a quantity. The farmer opens a few cobs of maize to see if a whole field is ready to harvest.

It is important to choose our examples with some care. We might pick the one orange out of a whole pile which was not sweet. The farmer would be foolish to select a couple of maize cobs from a corner of the field that was obviously ahead of the rest.

The principle of sampling is to remove bias as far as possible so that the sample we select is as representative of the whole as we can make it. It doesn't mean that it will always tell us the whole story; there are always going to be some differences between the characteristics of the sample and those of the universe. We can reduce the magnitude and likelihood of the differences by increasing the size of the sample; the more oranges we taste, the more maize cobs the farmer opens, the more certain we can be that the qualities represented by the sample are true of the whole lot; in other words, that the unsampled items will be the same.

The problem is that increasing the sample doesn't increase reliability by the same proportion. Interviewing 200 people in an area containing many thousands of people does not give us information twice as reliable as interviewing 100 people. For those who can understand statistical concepts, samples increase in reliability only in proportion to the square root of their size. So a sample of 100 (square root 10) would have to be increased to 400 (square root 20) to be twice as reliable.

The point to remember is that a lot of valuable social research is based on a law of statistical regularity which states that a small group chosen at random from a large group will share much the same characteristics. This is an important principle. Imagine the cost in time and money if sampling couldn't be relied on to represent reality, we had to contact and interview everyone!

Sometimes it is necessary to contact everyone and not to sample. Most countries have censuses of their entire populations. Many countries have a census every ten years. The main reason for a comprehensive count of everyone within a defined geographical area is to record reliable information on a given date. But it is a very expensive activity and is really necessary only when it is a matter of accurately counting whole populations. The acquisition of this information then assists the sampling of the population between censuses. Indeed, one of the most important aids to good sample survey research, including radio and television audience measurement, is an up-to-date and reliable census with detailed information on population size and distribution, age and sex composition, educational level, type of dwelling and other similar data. You can more easily take a sample and, above all, check that your sample really does reflect the population as a whole by having access to these important demographic criteria.

Public opinion polls are a well-known example of the use of sampling to find out about the population as a whole. In a general election, everyone of voting age is able to record his or her vote. But it is not necessary to have an election to know about public opinion. Between elections we can find out the state of political opinion by selecting and interviewing a sample representative of the electorate as a whole. This is done regularly in most democratic countries.

Defining the "Universe"

In social and market research we don't always sample the whole population. Often we sample people in various smaller "universes" or populations. Sometimes they may be clearly and relatively easily defined, like, for example, pupils at a school, adults in towns with more than 20,000 inhabitants, members of a town or village council or all women in a village aged 15 and over. Such definitions are straightforward and it is usually easy to determine who is included and who is excluded in the population under study. Some populations are less well defined and may be constantly changing. Just, for example, think of the following as subjects for study - the homeless population of Calcutta, the unemployed of Lagos, the rural poor of Sudan, Afghan refugees, displaced forest people in Brazil. Obviously some decisions have to be taken by the researcher to help define these shifting populations precisely enough to make sampling possible.

Most audience research involves whole populations of adults and children down to a certain defined age. Sometimes, for practical reasons or because of the requirements of the research, the universe will be confined to urban areas. Sometimes only rural areas will be covered, sometimes in one region.

Selecting a Representative Sample

In audience research we are most often involved in selecting samples of the whole population. The process of selection of a sample of the whole population is difficult. What is important is to ensure that the selection is not biased more than can be helped. To a large extent the success of any piece of research based on a sample survey depends on how representative is the selection you make.

Let us use an example of sampling from industry. A company making light bulbs needs to know how reliable its manufacturing process is. Batches of light bulbs are selected to be tested and the proportion failing to meet the required standard will be noted. The company will have set a minimum standard of quality and reliability. If the selected sample does not meet this standard, it is assumed that this is true of the rest and the whole output of that production line may be rejected and the machinery stopped for investigation. It is obviously crucially important that the selected sample of light bulbs is taken in such a way that it can be relied on to be representative.

Obviously we could test all the light bulbs but this would be time-consuming, expensive and pointless. If, after taking a representative sample of them, we find, say, 95% of them reach the required level or standard, we can predict with some confidence, that 95% of the rest reach the same standard. (How confident we can be about such predictions depends on the size of the sample).

It is worth noting that this method is used in most mass production processes to monitor performance. In the same way we need to ensure representativeness when sampling people. Sampling is the process of selecting people (or things) to represent those who are not selected.

The Sampling Frame

The universe is often defined in the process of selecting a suitable *sampling frame*. An electoral register is an obvious sampling frame used when one wants a sample of electors. All the electors are listed there. The register is what qualifies them.

In each case we need to know what is the relationship between the population we want to study and the sampling frame. Does the sampling frame adequately cover the population we are interested in?

Street maps may be viewed as adequate sampling frames, especially when they show dwellings, except for three major weaknesses. First of all, maps are very soon out-of-date and omit new developments. Also they tend to omit illegal, unplanned, "squatter", "informal" or temporary housing areas. The third weakness is that they often give no indication of housing or population density. Thus one could select ten people from one street which had over 1000 people living on it and ten from another with only 50. The two streets may even have the same number of houses or buildings, but the population density is different.

Sampling frames need careful scrutiny. Do they include what you want to cover? How up-to-date are they? Do any parts need to be excluded to achieve what is required?

Very often no sampling frame exists. In many parts of the world there are no electoral registers. Maps will be non-existent or hard to obtain and, of course, many may be out-of-date. Other information may be lacking. Very often you have to create an adequate sampling frame yourself.

If you want to sample the population of an unmapped village or group of villages it helps to draw a sketch map of the area, noting where houses are, where they are clustered and where they are scattered. You will need to draw the boundaries of the area you want to study. What do you use? There are political boundaries of course and these can be very useful. Often they will coincide with the enumeration areas of the census. So you will have information on how many people live in the area. Sometimes, both these will not be readily available and you need to make a sensible, practical decision. The geography will often make the choice quite easy. Rivers, ranges of hills, empty land and other physical features often make natural boundaries. If you don't have accurate population figures this need not be a major handicap. Adequate sampling is still possible. The sampling frame need not be very complex or take a lot of time to create.

Random Samples

These are theoretically the most accurate form of sampling. It means that every individual in the area of your survey has an equal chance of being selected. If you could list the entire adult population of your country, and could select names entirely at random, find these people and interview them, this would be a true random sample survey. In practice this is never done, at least not in an entire nation! It would be extremely time-consuming, expensive and pointless.

What happens usually is that we divide the country into sampling areas and draw up a sampling plan for each in accordance with what is known about the population in each. Existing administrative boundaries are useful for this purpose. Usually we will use the population size in each area to determine the number of people to be selected in each. Thus, for example, if we were carrying out a sample survey of adult Tanzanians, our "universe" would consist of about 15 million people. We may decide that a sample of 3,000can represent the whole country's adult (15+)population. We would need to determine from the last census what the distribution of our universe was between the different districts. A sample of 3,000 in a universe of 15 million means a sampling fraction or ratio of one in five thousand.

One in five thousand adult Tanzanians would be selected to represent the population as a whole. In a district of 500,000 people, 100 would be selected to be interviewed. In a district of 100,000, 20 would be selected, and so on. In practice we often over-sample in sparsely populated areas and make adjustments to the data in the analysis stage in a process called "weighting". But how are respondents selected?

A very common method of sampling in a sample survey of the population is to use a *random walk*. In a given geographical area the person selecting the sample for interview may start at one house and select a respondent. After the completion of the interview, the interviewer may be instructed to select the next house after a given interval, then to turn left at the next junction and select another house at a further given interval, and so on.

But who is to be interviewed at each house? Researchers need to be careful not to interview only the first person met. At each house the person contacted will be asked how many people aged 15 years and over live there. One of these is, by random, selected for interview. If the person is not present an appointment should be made and the interviewer will return later to complete the interview with the selected person. It is very important to get this process right and to avoid the risk of interviewers biasing the sample. The best way of doing this is to use what is known as the Kish Grid. When addresses are selected, each is assigned a number from 1 to 12. When the interviewer meets a member of the household he or she then lists all the eligible people (i.e. of the required demographic characteristics -it may be everyone aged 9 and over). All of one sex are listed first, then of the other, from the oldest down to the youngest. Using the grid reproduced here, the interviewer reads along the row corresponding to the household's assigned number until they reach the column giving the total number of eligible people in that household. The number at that point indicates the number to interview.

Addr	C66					
Serial	l	Nu	mber of l	listed pers	sons	
Numl	per 1	2	3	4	5	6+
1	1	2	1	4	3	5
2	1	1	2	1	4	6
3	1	2	3	2	5	1
4	1	1	1	3	1	2
5	1	2	2	4	2	3
6	1	1	3	1	3	4
7	1	2	1	2	4	5
8	1	1	2	3	5	6
9	1	2	3	4	1	1

Thus if we are at address number 7 and there are five eligible people we interview the fourth person on our list.

Random sampling can be complex, time-consuming and expensive. It would be prohibitively expensive to conduct a pure random sample of the population of a country like, for example, India. On the basis of census figures a random selection of enumeration areas and people in them could be made. This would have to be followed by an extremely expensive task of finding each of the people chosen. The simplest way around this difficulty is to stratify the sample.

Stratified Random Samples

The sampling frame at first would be divided up by type of area. We might choose to divide India into its states. Each has a known population. In each, areas could be listed by population density. For example, cities of more than 1.000.000 could be one category. Cities and towns of between 100,000 and 1,000,000 could be another. Towns of between 10,000 and 100,000 could be another. The last category could be towns or villages of less than 10,000 people. Cities, towns and villages or areas could then be selected in each of these categories to be representative. One might choose a selection in each category for subsequent sampling. This is in reality a form of stratified sampling sometimes called cluster or multi-stage sampling. It is used when it is impractical for researchers to go all over a country to carry out research. A selection of villages, towns and cities may be chosen to represent others.

If we return to our earlier Tanzanian example, the point can be illustrated further. Our sampling fraction was one person in five thousand. In an area of five thousand adults, one would be interviewing one person. But that would be time-consuming and probably pointless. What we do is to group similar areas together in our sampling frame and select one to represent the others. Thus in an area of similar sized settlements one would group many together to add up to a larger number. Then one or two places may be selected to represent all. So if together the population adds up to 150,000 one would select one or two sampling points and select 30 respondents there to represent all the adults in the cluster.

There are dangers in this approach of course. One must be especially careful if the population is made up of many distinct ethnic or linguistic minorities. In audience research, such differences can of course be major factors in media behaviour. If such differences exist, the stratification *must* take them into account. Deliberate stratification can ensure people from all significant groups are included. This is one way in which careful stratification of samples can improve on pure random sampling. The latter can exclude or under-represent important minorities.

Stratified sampling, which may or may not be clustered, is thus especially appropriate when the population being studied is very varied or heterogeneous. Random samples are more suitable, especially if the sample is not a large one, when the population is homogeneous - that is, it doesn't vary a great deal socially, racially, ethnically or in other major ways. A random sample may not always be relied upon to provide enough cases reflecting all the major demographic differences in the population. A stratified sample may be a better method to use to ensure full coverage. We gave the case of India to illustrate a stratified sample which would ensure representative sampling of different sizes of communities from the very big to the very small. India would first be stratified by community size. Stratified sampling by ethnicity may also be necessary if we are to ensure that all the different ethnic communities are covered in a sample, simply because ethnic groups tend to live together. We find in many countries that there is a clustering by race, religion, nationality, economic status and even by occupation. For example, charcoal burners tend to live in certain parts of Zambian towns.

No one population cluster is quite like the entire community and consequently no one cluster can represent it accurately. Information must be secured from each cluster to provide a faithful picture of the whole. Experience is a good guide. Within each cluster the methods of random sampling can then be used. If the samples are taken in each case proportionate to the respective population sizes, the results can be combined together. If different sampling ratios are used, the results will have to be "weighted", that is, corrected mathematically to restore the proportions in the overall sample to match the population as a whole.

Quota Sampling

Commercial market research companies often use quota sampling when interviewers will be instructed to look for fixed numbers of respondents of different categories or types. The categories are calculated in quotas and are usually of sex, age, housing type, social class, occupation and similar. The problem with quota sampling is that interviewer bias comes in. With the other methods described, the interviewer is given a strict scheme of selection and does not have any choice of his or her own about whom to interview. Another bias is that quota sampling is often done on the street or elsewhere away from home and people who are rarely out and about have little chance of selection. Also interviewers may be tempted to leave out those who look as if they are in a hurry or select only those who look friendly and approachable.

There are various ways to eliminate this kind of bias, by varying the place of interviewee selection, by doing some interviewing at homes or places of work, or by starting a survey by a random method and then checking what quotas have been filled and what categories are still to be found.

This is the method I employed in Zambia in 1970-72 when conducting mass media audience surveys. The method employed was a hybrid - it had elements of randomisation, stratification, cluster and quota methods! First the country was stratified by geographical area - rural and urban districts. All districts were visited and quotas drawn up for each, based on the 1969 national census. Within each rural district, census enumeration areas were chosen at random and interviews were clustered in each. Urban districts were stratified according to types of housing or settlement - high density "legal" or "legitimate" housing, low density housing, and squatter or shanty areas. Using a random process of selection, houses were visited and quotas were used to select members of each household for interview. The resulting sample

matched the census data by age and sex, which were what the quotas were based on. When the sample was complete we were able to see if it matched in other important details. We checked if it matched the language or ethnic composition of the country and found that it did so within a few percentage points. We achieved a representative sample fairly simply and effectively by reducing, as far as possible, interviewer bias. Quota samples are widely used in commercial market research with careful checks and procedures to reduce or eliminate interviewer bias. The advantage of quota sampling is that time and cost are considerably reduced.

More on Sampling

The intention of this book is mainly to outline methods of audience research. There are more comprehensive and detailed books on the details of sampling which those involved in field work of this sort should study. A list of suggested titles is given in the bibliography.

The Questionnaire: The Art of Asking Questions

Designing a Questionnaire

Even the most carefully selected sample will be to no avail if the questions asked are badly constructed. Questionnaire design is a skill that is not quickly learned. But there is a logic to it that can be used to ensure that the information being sought is provided unambiguously and in a way that can be codified and analysed.

The problem is simply put but only with some difficulty is it solved! Human behaviour is wonderfully varied and complex. No two people are exactly the same, even in their television and radio consumption behaviour! Audience research seeks to aggregate the behaviour of thousands, even millions of people and group them into different categories. The questions are designed to put people into categories that make analysis possible. They also need to guide people to answer. Vagueness helps no one. If you ask the question "What radio station or stations do you listen to?" the respondent may or may not mention all the stations he or she hears. And what is meant by "listen to"? When do we mean? The respondent may assume you mean a period of time not mentioned in the question and not intended.

We need to ask this question in a different way depending on whether we are involved in a one-off survey or something which is going to be a part of continuous research. If the survey is unlikely to be repeated soon, we need to ask questions about *habitual* behaviour. This is not easy. It may be that the interviewee does not recognise habitual behaviour in him or herself. Questions can instead be asked about media behaviour on the previous day. This is a common technique in continuous research when the survey is repeated on a regular basis. A picture of the behaviour

iour of the population as a whole is painstakingly built up by taking a series of "snapshots" of, for example, radio listening behaviour, by asking a large number of people what they listened to on the previous day.

You can ask the same questions in different ways and get different answers from the same person. Here is an extract from a British TV comedy series. It's a conversation between two senior civil servants demonstrating how an opinion poll could give exactly opposite results on the same issue:

Sir Humphrey: 'Mr. Woolley, are you worried about the rise in crime among teenagers?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey: 'Do you think there is a lack of discipline and vigorous training in our Comprehensive Schools?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey: 'Do you think young people welcome some structure and leadership in their lives?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey: 'Do they respond to a challenge?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey: 'Might you be in favour of reintroducing National Service?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey Appleby then poses some different questions. See what happens!

Sir Humphrey: 'Mr. Woolley, are you worried about the danger of war?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey: 'Are you unhappy about the growth of armaments?'

Woolley: 'Yes'.

Sir Humphrey: 'Do you think there's a danger in giving young people guns and teaching them how to kill?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey: 'Do you think it wrong to force people to take up arms against their will?'

Woolley: 'Yes.'

Sir Humphrey: 'Would you oppose the reintroduction of National Service?'

Woolley: 'Yes.' 5

No reputable researcher would ever ask such leading questions, nor would they "funnel" questions in this way, leading the respondent inexorably towards a particular answer.

This is, of course, an extreme example to illustrate the point, but it shows how sentence structure and certain emotive words can affect response. Tone of voice, not reproduced on the printed page, is also a major factor. There are many examples one could give from market and opinion research experience where results are biased by the way questions are asked.

The following questions were used in a recent survey of households in Delhi designed to find out viewers' reactions to newly introduced cable television (CTV):-

1. Some of the CTV feature films contain sex/violence which affect the minds of children. What is your opinion about this aspect of CTV?

2. Do you think that exposure to such a large number of films (through CTV) with excessive sex/violence will affect the moral/ethical values in our society?

1. Yes 2. No 3. DK/Can't say

3. It is generally believed that indiscreet showing of foreign films on CTV without removing objectionable scenes/dialogues (unlike Doodarshan which shows only classical/award winning foreign films and even removes some objectionable scenes) is a direct invasion on our culture. What is your opinion about this?⁶

What is wrong with these questions? Many may agree that films containing sex and violence should not be shown on television. But the purpose here is to discover if viewers watch such films and what their opinions of such films are. The respondent is told what to think! The first two questions are very difficult to ask in a neutral way, but the effort must be made if the results are to reflect true opinions and not be what the respondent feels he or she is expected to say.

The third question is very biased. A better way would be to offer a range of opinions and ask the respondent which he or she agreed with.

The list could be longer. The point here is that the questions can contain a variety of different opinions which the respondent is invited to agree or disagree with. This is a more reliable way of finding people's opinions without the questionnaire influencing them unduly. Here are some possible opinions to put to respondents:

- Films often contain scenes which I find offensive.

- Films containing scenes involving sexual behaviour should be edited out before showing on TV.

- Films containing scenes of violent behaviour should be edited out before showing on TV.

- Films should be shown without any censorship but with due warning of what to expect. The viewer can decide whether to watch or not. - Foreign films provide entertainment and variety and I welcome the freedom to choose myself what to view.

Note that these opinions range from liberal to favouring censorship.

It is very important that thorough attention is given to the design of the questionnaire - its layout, the order and the wording of the questions. It is often the stage in research which is most neglected. Sometimes the faults in a questionnaire are very obvious and would be noticed easily even if the researcher had simply tried it out on someone! And it is usually essential for a questionnaire to be pilot tested before use in the field. Good, logical layout also helps the interviewer.

What goes into the questionnaire is determined by the purpose of the research. If the problem under investigation has been clearly defined, this is a good start. And while at this stage one does not need to question the basic objectives of the research, it is not too late to examine the need for each specific item that may have been called for. The designer of the questionnaire needs to keep a balance between how many questions are required and how many can be safely included. If the questions are too few to cover the requirements of the research, the project will fail. But it will also fail if the questionnaire is so long and complicated it wearies either the interviewer, interviewee or both. There can be a tendency to "play safe", to include everything that *might* be needed. The real skill is to thin questions down to those which are essential to meet the research objectives. Generally speaking, the accuracy of replies declines as questionnaires get longer. Opinions and practices vary; in my view and from my experience I would try to avoid a questionnaire which takes more than 45 minutes to answer, and one should plan for this to be a maximum, rather than an average.

Questions Before Asking Questions

There are four important questions for the designer of any questionnaire:-

1. Will the question be understood by all respondents in the same way and give the meaning intended?

2. Will the respondents know the answer? Can you reasonably expect them to know?

3. Will the respondent tell the truth?

4. Will the question, as put, provide the information intended?

Only if the answer to each of these questions is "yes" should the particular question be used. If you are not sure, pilot testing will provide the answer.

Often in audience research, as in other branches of market research, you need to know respondents' levels of income in order to categorise them according to their level of wealth. Let us consider the question or questions to ask. Remember that the same question needs to be addressed to both the very rich and the very poor and all levels in between.

You might think the question "what is your current income?" would be acceptable. But what will the respondent suppose "income" to mean? Is it household income? Do we mean cash only? In many societies, cash is not the best indicator of real income, especially, for example, among peasant farmers.

The problem is that unless you make it quite clear what you mean, the definition of income will be provided by the respondent and there will be uncontrolled variation in how people answer. A way around this problem can be to ask those in paid employment about cash income and then to ask all respondents about their other means of income in cash or kind. The question or questions used will need to reflect the local situation. This is a good example of the importance of pilot testing and of thinking carefully about the meaning and purpose of each question.

Not All Questions are Answerable!

We should avoid asking questions that should not be asked. It is amazing how often this happens, even in areas where there is a lot of experience in survey research. Most common of all is the question which requires a respondent to remember something in great detail. In Europe it is common practice in audience research to ask detailed questions in surveys about what respondents listened to yesterday. Respondents are taken through the day in clearly defined time "slots", sometimes each as short as five minutes. But will this practice work everywhere? An experienced European research agency tried to use a five minute by five minute aided recall questionnaire to measure radio listening yesterday in a West African city. But there is far less attention to precise clock time in most African cultures than in Europe and the respondents cannot be expected to remember with this degree of precision what they were doing and when, on the previous day. The research produced results, but it must be seriously doubted if these reflected the true picture.

Questions asking people in great detail about something in the past may be a waste of effort. How far back is it reasonable to expect people to remember things with a fair degree of accuracy? And does this vary according to culture and tradition? Generally, accuracy declines with the length of the period of recall. People remember what they did on the previous day better than what they did on the day before that, and so on.

This is an important issue for questionnaire design in radio and television research because it is likely that some recall or memory questions will often be used, probably more than in other forms of opinion and market research. But we must not expect too much of our respondents' memory.

The degree of detail required may determine the length of the recall period. As has been noted, it is a common practice in Europe to build up a picture of *daily* radio listening by asking respondents in a face-toface interview what they listened to on the previous day. With the assistance of the interviewer, most people are usually able to build up quite a detailed account of what they heard on the radio the previous day. It greatly helps if the interviewee has a detached list of times of programmes and programme sequences on the different networks on the previous day. But to ask the interviewee to remember the same degree of detail for the day before vesterday would increase the difficulty. Both the difficulty and inaccuracy increase the further back you attempt to get the respondent to remember.

In audience research we often need to measure media behaviour on different days of the week. We need, in effect, a lot of different "yesterdays". This is a problem in radio audience research met in one of two ways. One way is to carry out interviews with a sample of the population every day. But this is an expensive option. An alternative is to leave self-completion diaries. These are, in reality, self-completion questionnaires, with the respondent asked to note what times he or she listens to the radio over the next few days, to what network, and so on. Listening (and viewing) diaries are in widespread use in countries where there are high levels of literacy. But self-completion questionnaires are hampered by low literacy in many countries and are unusable for this reason. For most of the world we are left with the face-to-face technique and the need to design a questionnaire that will have to suffice. In audience research, it may not be possible to obtain accurate or reliable information about day-to-day listening habits from a one-off survey. But if we consider what it is we really need to know,

we can ask for example, "Have you heard programme X on the radio in the past seven days?".

Types of Question

There are many things that the designer of a questionnaire needs to know. Some are wellknown rules or guidelines. Others will be learned through experience; what works in one culture or society may not work in another. A questionnaire is itself a cultural product; it is very important to make sure it is appropriate to the social and cultural context in which it is used and does not import assumptions and even values and implied opinions from another context.

Broadly speaking, there are seven kinds of question.

Open-Ended or Verbal Questions

The expected response with these questions ranges from a single word or phrase to an extended comment. The advantage of these questions is that they can elicit a wide range of responses and reflect a true diversity of opinion and behaviour. One disadvantage, among many, is that they are then difficult to analyse. When you have all the answers they have to be categorised in order to produce some kind of summary of response.

Another problem is that there is a high risk of interviewer bias creeping in. When the questionnaire allows any answer to be recorded, the interviewer may not have either the time or the space to record all that the respondent says. The interviewer has to summarise the reply. This means interpretation and that inevitably means a bias.

This always used to puzzle me in my early days in research. Surely designing a questionnaire to provide maximum autonomy of response did exactly the opposite! Wouldn't you think that the favoured alternative of providing a list of answers imposed a biased pattern of response?

There is certainly a danger of bias in providing a prearranged list (see the next section) of possible responses. The list is a simplification of the reality which is a multitude of individual views. But with an openended question, the interviewer has either to interpret and summarise what was said or take down a verbatim account. If it is not verbatim, there will be bias from the interviewer's own perceptions and expectations.

Open-ended questions are often used in a pilot test to provide the list of likely responses to be used in the final questionnaire.

However, there is another important use of the open-ended question. It is often important and valuable to give people the chance to express themselves freely on the topic being researched and they may well have something to say which is not covered by the structured part of the questionnaire. An openended question may be a valuable "safetyvalve" for the expression of strong opinions. This technique can be used at the end of a questionnaire when interviewees often welcome the chance to express views freely. It may not be necessary to code these responses for analysis, although they may be of considerable interest.

"List" Questions

Here a list of answer options is offered, any of which may be chosen. Sometimes only one answer can be chosen. For example, a question may ask for the respondents' actual educational level - usually by asking at what level he or she left school or college. To avoid ambiguity the question asked is usually something like "What was the level you reached in education?" The interviewer has a list of all possible levels from no education to university degree and marks the response accordingly.

Some lists can be far less precise. For example, following a pilot questionnaire using

an open-ended question we will have a number of possible responses. The various responses are noted down in as much detail as possible. These will give the questionnaire designer the range of likely opinion. The five or ten most common responses, simplified and summarised, can be listed on the final questionnaire. This removes as far as possible interviewer bias and has the advantage of uniformity of meaning making comparisons possible. There will still be a space for those answers which still do not fit the list. (Some examples are given of these in the Appendices.)

The number of possible answers on the list can be varied. A smaller number of possible answers distorts reality more but makes interpretation easier. As noted elsewhere, we attempt in research to generalise and summarise the infinite variety of human behaviour and opinion in order to understand it better and be able to predict it more accurately. But all forms of quantitative research by questionnaire attract the legitimate criticism that they distort reality. They do, but only to make sense of it! This is the paradox of all quantitative research.

Sometimes in a list question, the respondent may be able to choose more than one answer. This should be clearly indicated on the questionnaire. For example, listeners may be asked to give reasons for not listening to a certain programme, or for liking a new TV series, etc., and not just the most important reason. All respondents may be asked what equipment to hear or view broadcasts they have - portable radio, car radio, television, satellite dish, video recorder etc.

Category Questions

These are a variation on the list questions. Sometimes the variety of possible responses is too great and so the questionnaire is designed to narrow things down in order to simplify analysis. The respondent's answers are fitted into a set of categories. The categories may be read out by the interviewer. Questions about income or age, for example, may invite respondents to chose a category into which they fit. Category questions are usually used for recording income.

Ranking Questions

These are often used when we are measuring views and opinions. The respondent is asked to put possible answers to a question in rank order of importance to him or her. For example, someone might be asked to rank in order of desirability a list of choices for new radio services or programmes. Some detail might have to be given to help people make informed choices but this method is often used to measure opinions and learn about people's priorities.

Another example might be to find out what people thought were, to them, the most important features of radio or television. Usually number one is given to the most important category, number two to the next, and so on. In the analysis it is simply necessary to add the scores and the overall response with the lowest score is the most favoured. One has then a rank order of responses which may reflect no single individual's view but is an average of all of them.

Scale Questions

These are more complex. A common form is what is called an *ordinal scale*. For example, respondents may be read a statement "The television network should play a feature film after the evening news" or "Most locally made television programmes are of poor quality".

He or she might then be asked for an opinion ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree.

A coding frame is provided thus:-

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
0	1	2	3	4
		_		

The order can equally well go the other way. Each point is assigned a number 0 to 4. The overall score will be a measure of opinion. This can, for ease of comprehension, be converted into a percentage. The sum of scores is divided by the number of cases (omitting non responses). The resultant number multiplied by twenty-five gives a score out of one hundred.

There are other forms of scale questions in which respondents are asked to give scores in this way. Five point scales are often used but there is no rule against more or fewer. In my experience, five give the most easily analysed results.

Quantity Questions

The response is a number, exact or approximate, in answer to a question asking for information that can be supplied in numerical form. How many are living in your household? How many radio sets in working order do you have at home? How many television sets do you have? The actual number is recorded.

Grid Questions

Sometimes a table or grid will be provided to record answers to more than one question at the same time. These require practice but in the end they help both interviewer and the person who does the analysis!

For example, you might need to know what audiovisual equipment is available for use and what was out of action needing repair. A typical grid question might be as follows:- Which of the following items does your household have? How many are in working order and how many in need of repair?

	Number in house- hold	Number in working order	Number in need of repair
Car radio			
Portable radio set			
Other radio			
Television (black + white)			
Television (colour)			
Satellite dish			
Video recorder			
Audio cassette recorder			

Making Questions Work

"Ask a silly question and you'll get a silly answer". That is a commonplace saying and it is true for questionnaires, even in audience research! Consider this question:-

"How much time do you spend television?" (Tick box)	watching
A great deal	
A moderate amount	
Not a lot	
No time at all	

The only precise answer would be the last one! The others would have no definite meaning. All you would be measuring would be *subjective* opinions of the amount of time spent listening. For one person, an hour a day would be "a great deal", for another it would be "not a lot"! Never forget that the quality of research results is determined by the questions asked. If the questions are imprecise, no amount of clever statistical analysis will give the results greater precision.

There is another kind of problem. Can you see any difficulty with these questions?

Does your radio have the facility to receive FM? Yes/No				
What kind of radio do you have? (Tick box)				
Portable				
Car radio				
Tuner in a stereo system (with record player etc.)				

How would you deal with the problem(s) you have noticed? (There are at least two!). The key thing to check is: do the questions work equally well for the person with ten radio sets and the person with only one? Are there clear instructions for the interviewer?

The first question would be more precise if it were: "Do you have any radio with FM or VHF?" The only problem then is that often people are not familiar with technical terms, and in our experience it is best to ask to see the person's sets.

The second question gives no idea of the numbers of sets. If you need to know, ask how many of each category the person possesses. But another problem is more tricky but essential to tackle. What do we mean by "you"? Our interest is surely to find out about access at home. The person interviewed may not be the head of the household. He or she may not personally own any media equipment of any kind. In many cases, because of random selection within a household, we will be interviewing a child, another relative of the head of the household or other person normally living there. It is often best to ask about household sets.

We must beware of making assumptions about respondents and of being oblivious of such. Beware of asking questions implying ownership of radios, televisions and other household equipment in large, extended households where such things are shared. Guard against imposing views of family structure or of the respective roles of men and women from your own background. Be ready to notice when your questionnaire, perhaps drawn up against a different background of assumptions and attitudes, does not really fit the situation. Be prepared to change it!

Sometimes questions may presume certain views. What about this question:-

"Does the local radio station provide an adequate service?"

The presumption here is that everyone has an idea of what an *adequate* local radio service would be. This question might work quite well but may need to be followed by more questions for clarity.

Designing neutral questionnaires is difficult, especially about subjects on which there is a wide variety of opinions and where the researcher or interviewer will usually have strong views of his or her own.

The Role of the Interviewer

The design, wording and order of questions asked, the tone of voice, the "body language" of the interviewer and the relationship of interviewer and interviewee are all important. They can completely change the answers given, especially if the questions have to do with attitudes and opinion. Not only can the person being interviewed be influenced. The interviewer can fall into the trap of interpreting answers in a way determined by his or her prior attitudes. Many examples can be given of this. One I particularly like is from a research methods training course. Participants from various African countries were being taught the need to avoid leading respondents towards certain answers. Don't expect any particular response, they were told.

They were divided into three groups for a pilot study in a rural village. A key question they were to administer asked for the three most important reasons why the farmer being interviewed did not expand his or her agricultural activity. Each group was given, separately, identical instructions. Interviewers were told not to suggest answers and not to supply examples. However, before they started, the instructor casually mentioned three likely reasons. These were mentioned separately to each group and a different reason was given to each!

The three likely reasons he suggested were shortage of land, labour and equipment to the first group; lack of money, seed and fertilizer to the second; and the lack of roads and the distance of markets to the third.

The interviewers selected, at random, a number of farmers. The most commonly stated set of constraints in the responses were identical with that mentioned casually by the instructor to each of the three groups! The interviewers who had been given to expect that the problem was the shortage of land and labour, recorded this as the most common reason. Those who had expected lack of money, seed and fertilizer recorded this as the most common reason, and those who had expected transport difficulties recorded that this was the main constraint.

The "casual" remarks of the instructor had influenced the results. It may have been that despite the firm instructions, interviewers confronted by the difficulty of asking an awkward question of a stranger, actually helped the person to answer or interpreted responses in the expected way.⁷

Even if the interviewer scrupulously followed the rules and said nothing apart from reading the questionnaire verbatim, it is still very likely that recorded responses would be nearer to the interviewer's expectations than otherwise. This is because the responses are interpreted by the interviewer in accordance with his or her expectations. But interviewers must avoid making any assumptions about the answers they are going to get. This applies to all questions, but it is especially important to beware of influence when asking questions about attitude and opinion. The wording of the question needs to be as neutral as possible to avoid giving the respondent the impression that certain answers are expected. Depending on the approach of the interviewer, the respondent may well give what he or she considers to be the expected or "correct" answer.

Here the manner and tone of voice, even the "body language" or posture of the interviewer can be a big influence. Let us imagine you are asking questions about plans to change a TV service, or it might be a proposal to open a commercial popular music radio station, or it could be a question about the current government in power. In each case you may have very strong views. It may be hard to ask questions in a tone of voice and manner which does not communicate these views to the respondent. But it must be done, otherwise research is pointless.

The problems don't end there! You may not have any views or may be able to suppress them altogether but you may assume too much of your respondents. For example, you may think it is pointless to ask all questions of everyone, including the very poor. Indeed you may think it is absurd or worse to ask questions about TV viewing, for example, of very poor people. But what of those very poor who do view? Beware of assuming anything; sooner or later your assumptions will be wrong!

Politeness and courtesy are very important. The interviewee is giving his or her time to provide information. It may ultimately be of benefit to him or her or even to the community, but at this stage this may not be at all clear or certain. The interviewer needs to treat the person interviewed with care and respect. One problem that can interfere with this is social class or caste. In many cultures it is difficult to avoid the bias which can be introduced by differences in social status between interviewer and interviewee. It is often the case that the interviewer comes from a higher social class than the person being interviewed. The reverse can also happen. Both can cause serious problems for the reliability of the answers given.

Class difference can produce a range of feelings among interviewees ranging from resentment to deference, with varying degrees of unease and even embarrassment. There are various ways of dealing with this problem. One is to recruit interviewers from all social backgrounds and use them where appropriate. But this is not always a practical solution. There are no rules about this; each circumstance requires different sets of solutions. Research field work supervisors need to be alert to the problem and choose and train their field workers to be sensitive to it. Often one finds that the best team of interviewers is made up of people who seem relatively classless and who may appear so to most people being interviewed. But whatever one writes here will not be of much help in a general sense. Conditions and circumstances vary enormously between cultures and the best guide is experience.

Different ethnic and religious backgrounds can also play an important part in affecting response. In many societies it is not possible for a man to interview a woman at all, or at least the woman's husband or other close relative must be present. Such requirements of social propriety can also bias the response. A woman may say rather different things in response to a strange man, especially if a close male relative is present, than she might say to a woman with no one else present. This even applies in what we might think as the relatively "safe" area of broadcasting. In 1985, the BBC found among Afghans living in refugee camps in Pakistan that some men said they did not like their wives to listen to the radio when they were not present. It was therefore important to be sure to interview women not in the presence of their husbands. For this it was essential to use women interviewers.

There are some useful rules for administering questionnaires that all good interviewers should follow.

- Introduce yourself in a friendly way and explain in simple terms what the research is for.
- Always say how long the interview is likely to last.
- Explain that the information given is confidential and anonymous, and that no information which could be used to identify people shall be revealed to anyone.
- Check back with the interviewee if there are any points of uncertainty or confusion.
- Don't waste the interviewee's time or in any other way abuse the privilege he or she has granted you by agreeing to be interviewed.

Ghana Broadcasting Corporation's audience research department reports some interesting problems when their interviewers go out into the field to select random interviewees. Evidently "gifts" are required for some of them. For example, some old women demand tobacco before being interviewed. Often it is essential (and at least courteous) to secure the help of a village chief, which may require the provision of "the usual customary drink."⁸ Local customs should be respected always.

Pilot Testing

We generally need to test a questionnaire to see if it is going to work in the way intended. In effect what we do is to run a mini-survey. Let us suppose we are carrying out a survey of a group of villages to measure the impact of a radio and TV campaign on infant nutrition. We have decided that the best method to use is a random sample survey of women with children. A questionnaire has been designed and produced. The questions cover all the areas for investigation by the research project. What is to stop us just going ahead?

Nothing need stop you from going ahead! You may well obtain acceptable results along the lines of what was needed and expected. But there is a risk, especially with attitude and opinion questions, that some questions don't work in the way intended, or that sections of the questionnaire are unnecessarily complex. Sometimes we may not realise that some of the questions have made assumptions about attitudes that are not justified. For example. I helped to run an audience survey in Accra and we decided that time pressures made pilot testing impossible. It was a pity because we found that a group of questions about perceptions of bias in domestic radio news did not provide any usable data. The way the question was put simply did not produce useful responses. A pilot survey or "pretest" could have prevented this part of the questionnaire being wasted. Remember that time is as much a research resource as money is. There is no point wasting resources on questions that do not work; it wastes the time and effort of everyone. But it is easy to avoid making this mistake and save time and effort in the long run. It also ensures that the research as a whole is more useful.

To do a pilot survey it is usually not necessary to go to the trouble of selecting a fully random sample. But it is important to select people who will represent a wide range of possible respondents. Will the questionnaire work equally well with old and young, rich and poor, educated and illiterate, people of different ethnic backgrounds or religious affiliations, or people of different occupations and life styles? Here is the chance to find out by trying the questionnaire on as wide a range of interviewees as possible. Pilot testing is also an excellent opportunity for giving interviewers experience of the questionnaire. Mistakes and misunderstandings spotted now can be corrected. When the full survey is under way it is probably too late.

The pilot survey is not only a way of trying out questions and training interviewers. We can also use the exercise to see if the results provide what is needed. Sometimes even well designed questions don't provide useful information. They may just lead to the research equivalent of a dead end! The question works well, but it is a non issue! So everyone's time can be saved by dropping the question.

As we mentioned earlier, pilot testing can use open-ended questions to provide a range of possible answers for a list or category question. The written-in answers need to be grouped into categories and the most common responses or types of responses can be summarised into statements which cover the various likely answers in the final questionnaire.

Checking or Testing

Reliability of Questions

Reliability is a measure of the extent to which a questionnaire produces similar results on different occasions. A tractor that sometimes pulls a heavy load but at other times cannot even be started, is unreliable. A question that produces one answer on one occasion but a different answer (from the same person) on another is unreliable if it is a question which normally should produce the same response. But how can we ever tell? Normally we don't

1.1

ask the same person the same question on different occasions!

There are various ways of testing reliability. One is to test a question on the same person on different occasions. But a better method may be to try questions out on a number of people chosen in a similar manner. A crucial question is, would different interviewers asking the same question of two random samples of people get similar results? Note the use of random samples here. We assume, quite safely, that two random samples of the same universe will possess the same characteristics and that if two interviewers produce different results from two such separate samples of the same universe, then the differences arise from differences between the two interviewers or from a fault in the questionnaire that somehow gives different results in different circumstances. This is an essential point. Unless we can be absolutely sure that the questionnaire will produce the same results when applied to samples of the same population we cannot use the questionnaire to make comparisons between populations. We would say the questionnaire was unreliable. There are various ways of measuring reliability, some of them are rather complex. Usually it is through experience that we establish which questions can be relied on to give consistent results but the validity and reliability of questions can be tested for most purposes on a pilot survey.

Checking Interviewers

During normal survey conditions, one should look out for major differences between the results from different interviewers. If it is obvious that these differences arise from the fact that they have been interviewing people in different locations with people from different lifestyles and backgrounds, then all may be well. But if interviewers are mostly interviewing people drawn at random from the same universe, their results should be broadly similar. If they are not it can be an indication that one or more of the interviewers are biasing the responses. Remember that while the questionnaire is constant, the interviewers and enumerators are not. To what extent do one interviewer's responses differ from another's because of their different ways of administering the questionnaire?

This is why the training of interviewers is so important. They work on their own almost all the time. It is vital that they do everything in the same way and produce results that reflect respondents' realities in the same way. If we are involved in a very large scale survey in which each interviewer is responsible for 50 or more interviews, differences between results can be spotted at the analysis stage. It may be noted that interviewer X has a significantly larger number of responses of a particular kind when in many other respects the people interviewed were similar. One would need to investigate. But matters should not be allowed to get to that In most cases, inconsistency and stage. unreliability can be detected very quickly by appropriate methods of *quality control*. These take place while the survey is going on if we want to avoid additional problems later. Most of all, adequate quality control prevents a survey from being repeated when it is clear at the data processing stage that the results are not reliable.

Interviews can be supervised of course, but it is impossible for supervisors to be present at every interview. The supervisor should be present for some interviews, however, and will be able to notice errors, inconsistencies, inappropriate behaviour etc. It is also common practice for a proportion of interviews to be "back-checked", that is a percentage of interviewees are revisited by the supervisor who checks that the answers given were accurately recorded. The services of an interviewer who was found to be unreliable may be dispensed with, unless, of course the fault can be corrected through further instruction or training. Interviewers have to be trustworthy people. Any evidence of deliberate unreliability should lead to instant dismissal.

Validity

Validity is defined as that quality in a questionnaire which ensures that what is measured or described reflects reality. Consistency of results is not enough. A questionnaire can produce consistent results, i.e. be reliable, but still be invalid; the results may not accurately reflect reality but instead consistently get it wrong! How can we tell?

It can be quite difficult to find out. A good example of a validity problem is experienced in radio audience research. If you ask a large number of respondents, randomly selected from the population, about what they listened to yesterday and you continue to select and ask people the same question over a few weeks, you can calculate various things about radio listening such as, for example, the average daily audience as a percentage of the population, and the average number of hours listened to per person per day. If we also provide a self-completion listening diary to another random sample of the population, we can also calculate the daily audience and the average number of hours of listening. But the two sets of data will unfortunately be different; the diary method is likely to produce higher figures. Which is valid? Do diaries encourage people to overstate their listening? Do people listen more because they are filling in a listening diary? Do people who listen very little to any radio simply not bother to send in their diaries, with the result that those who do are taken erroneously as fully representative? Does an aided recall, face-to-face interview produce an underestimate? No-one is certain; it is probable that both happen. But which is the valid measure? It is doubtful if audience researchers can ever satisfactorily answer this question, but it may not matter too much. provided that we consistently use the same method of measurement. There may be some



distortions in each but these will be consistent over time; each means of measurement will therefore be able to tell us what we do need to know.⁹

Checking and Editing of Questionnaires

The supervisor should check through all questionnaires in the field for inconsistencies, omitted questions and other errors. Sometimes it may be necessary to go back to the interviewee. Certain checks can be, and often are, built into the questionnaire so that most inconsistencies can be spotted by the supervisor and corrected by checking with the interviewee.

It is a good practice to specify a certain percentage of interviews which will be back-checked. It may be decided that 5% of all interviewees will be recontacted by the supervisor to check on the reliability and accuracy of the data recorded by the interviewer. The drawbacks here are first, the time factor and second, interviewee fatigue. The person interviewed in the first place may not take too kindly to being bothered again, especially with questions he or she has only recently answered!

Translation into Different Languages

In most countries in the world, questionnaires, on a nation-wide survey at least, need to be administered in more than one language. For example, in a recent national audience survey in Zambia the questionnaire was produced in English. But to many respondents it was preferable to administer the questionnaire in their own language. At least seven other Zambian languages were used. Sometimes questionnaires can be translated and printed in different languages. Sometimes two or three languages can be printed on the same questionnaire; it is, for example, normal to print Moroccan questionnaires in both Arabic and

26

French. But very often it is too cumbersome to have to carry round large numbers of questionnaires in different languages. What happens usually is that interviewers have their own copies of the questionnaire in the appropriate languages and can read from these as appropriate, filling in the answers as usual in the normal way on the basic questionnaire form.

But how can we be sure that a translation is accurate or reliable? This is not an Different languages do not easy matter. always have directly translatable words. Sometimes it is very difficult to convey the same meaning in different languages. This is less of a problem with the question "Did you listen to the radio yesterday?" than with a question asking for opinions, feelings and attitudes. All you can do is to make sure that the words and phrases used in questions are as near as possible in meaning when translated. This can be checked in the following manner. Let us suppose the original questionnaire is in Spanish and it needs to be translated into Ouechua for use among indigenous people in Peru. After translation the questionnaire in Ouechua should be given to someone who has not seen the original questionnaire in Spanish and has not been involved at all in any part of the research. This person is asked to translate into Spanish. This back-translation can then be checked against the original. It should be very near or identical in meaning, if not in the precise words used, to the original.

Continuous Audience Research: Methods in Use Today

Radio and television audience research is something that is needed fairly constantly. Programmes and schedules change, there are seasonal variations caused by changes in weather and in the human behaviour associated with it. Many radio and television stations therefore need regular or continuous research. Whereas a sample survey may tell you everything you need to know about listening and viewing, it remains true only for the period when the research was done. You can make broad generalisations about TV and radio consumption habits and behaviour from a single survey and these generalisations may hold reasonably well for a year or more. But broadcasters need up-to-date information and more regularly. Advertisers also need to have data which are up-to-date on which to base decisions on the allocation and placing of their commercial "spots". Various methods are in current use.

Diaries

A sample is selected to represent the population, over a certain age, as a whole. Those selected are invited to keep a diary of listening on a weekly basis. A precoded diary is provided listing stations and times of day. Two examples of diaries (TV and Radio) are given in the Appendices.

Each diarist is provided with instructions. The normal practice is for the diary to be handed over personally by a research field worker who can explain what needs to be done. The selected individual is asked to enter his or her listening activity. Most diaries are kept for seven days but can be for longer or shorter periods. Diary keepers can be recruited by mail or telephone, but personal contact by a fieldworker is usually favoured.

There are many recognised weaknesses of the diary method. People can forget to record all their listening or they may complete the task at the end of the week just before it is to be sent by post to the audience research headquarters or research agency. By this time the respondent may not have an accurate recall. Respondents can make mistakes in time, programme, channel or some other aspect of their listening or viewing activity. There are not only errors of omission. The respondent may record what he or she *intended* to do, not what actually happened. The respondent may fill in what usually happens rather than what did actually happen. Diary keepers also can try to please or impress by their listening or viewing behaviour as recorded, a conditioning element that is less common in most other methods.

Another major problem is one that is unique to the diary. People who listen to little radio or watch little TV may be reluctant to keep a diary about something they do not often do. And yet, if our survey using a diary is to be representative of the whole population, the diary keeping sample needs to be representative of all levels of radio and TV consumption, even of those who listen or watch very little, and of those who may watch or listen to nothing during the period they are asked to record.

What about the person who never listens to radio or watches television? These will be encountered when first contacts are made with prospective diary keepers. Α record is kept by the field worker placing the When someone is contacted who diaries. never listens to the radio the fact is recorded. To find 1,000 television diary keepers it may be that one encounters 100 for whom keeping a diary would be a pointless exercise because they never watch television. In this case one could "return" the diary immediately and enter the data as a nil viewing response, or when projecting the results to the adult population as a whole make the necessary allowance for the fact that for every 1,000 viewers who see any TV there are 100 more (in this hypothetical case) who watch none. Thus if 20% of the diary keepers had seen a particular programme we could not say 20% of the population had seen it. We know that those who never watch need to be accounted for. In this case we could say that for every 200 people who watched it 900 did not. The audience in the population as a whole would be 200 / 1,100 x 100 = 18.2%.

This is an obvious and easy adjustment to make. Other distortions occur with diaries and are more difficult to cope with. The problem of illiteracy means that there will always be a proportion excluded altogether from the sample, even in the most well-educated countries. We cannot assume they are non-listeners or non-viewers. If the percentage of illiterates in the population is small (less than 5%) it may not matter much to exclude them. But if they are a much larger proportion this means the diary method is not suitable as a measurement instrument or it may need to be supplemented by another method to cover illiterates. The media behaviour of illiterates may be significantly different from that of literate people.

Another recurrent problem is that it is difficult to recruit a representative number of people from lower income socio-economic And those who are groups or classes. recruited are less likely to complete the diary and send it in. This can introduce serious distortions in the results unless allowance is made for their under-representation. This can be done at the analysis stage. For example, if 35% of the population are in a lower socioeconomic class but only 25% of the diarists and only 15% of the responses sent in come from people in this group, one would "weight" or increase the value of the results of these 15% to be 35% of the sample and thus to reflect the appropriate proportion in the population as a whole. At the same time and by the same process the responses from overrepresented socio-economic groups would be weighted down to appropriate proportions.

The diary method has the great advantage of being cheap! And it can be made to work. It also has the enormous advantage of being able to plot listener and viewer behaviour from day to day. This is virtually impossible with single face-to-face interviews. Another great advantage over face-to-face interviews is that diaries can be filled in by people who are difficult to contact in normal face-to-face interviews. For example, people who spend a lot of time away from home, driving motor vehicles for example, are unlikely to be contacted in a face-to-face survey. People who work long hours are also hard to contact. But they may be persuaded to keep a listening or viewing diary.

The diary method is in use in many European countries to measure radio listening. As noted earlier it is likely consistently to record higher levels of listening than the faceto-face aided recall method. However, allowance can be made for this and it has been established that, provided allowance is made for under-represented groups and for nonlisteners or non-viewers, it can give a fairly accurate picture of media behaviour.

How do we deal with a person who may listen to the radio or watch television on only a couple of occasions in the week? His or her viewing or listening behaviour is of equal interest if one is seeking to build up a truly representative picture of the behaviour of everyone. Response, even from low users of radio or television, can be improved by the way the diary system is administered. All postage costs for sending in the diary must, of course, be paid by the organisers of the research. A small gift to show appreciation after receipt of the completed diaries can boost response. The fieldworker should emphasise the fact that the diary of an occasional listener or viewer is of equal interest and importance.

The usual practice is to use the same people to fill in diaries for a number of weeks. Experience has shown that for the first week or two there is a "diary effect". People either listen or view more or they exaggerate this behaviour. Normally results from the first diary or diaries will not be used in compiling reports on listening or viewing. Diarists are given time to "settle down".

Meters

We can use electronic technology to record very accurately just what the radio or TV is tuned to and exactly when it is switched on or off. A meter can be attached to the set or sets and can be so designed as to keep an accurate record of what happens to the TV or radio over a period of time.

The use of meters is not new. Radio began what many have called the electronic age. It was appropriate that, at a very early stage, someone should have suggested an electronic means of measuring the audience. Only a year after the first radio audience survey using face-to-face interviews in March 1928 in the United States, the invention of a meter device was announced. But commercial use for audience research did not happen until 1935. This was before the invention of successful magnetic tape recording apparatus. The information that needed to be recorded dates, time and radio channel or network - had to be scratched onto a moving paper tape. There were many problems with it, not least of which were power failures, blown fuses and disconnections, not uncommon occurrences in these early days. The patent for these Audimeters was acquired by the market research company AC Nielsen. The system was gradually improved and developed until in 1942 there were 1,300 meters in 1,100 homes in the United States. The system went into decline when, in the 1950s, car radios and portable radios came into common use and listening on these sets increased to the point when meter data became unreliable. At that time, Audimeters had to run on mains electricity and could not therefore be used on sets As this book is being outside the home. written, new meters for radio are being developed that can record time and programme information on most kinds of radio sets.

But it is in television audience research that meters are of major importance today. In most countries in Europe, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, the United States, Canada and a few countries in the developing world, meters on TV sets in selected homes are used to provide data on programmes.

The drawbacks of the meter are obvious. They require the willing acceptance of the presence of the equipment in the selected household. At first they measured only time and the network to which the set was tuned. They did not record whether anyone was actually watching what was on the television, nor did they record how many people were in the room watching the set, nor anything about those people. More recently, various companies in Europe and America have produced "peoplemeters" which require people in the room to press a button on the meter to record their presence in the room. A different button or number can be assigned to different members of the household. There are even buttons or numbers to record the presence of visitors to the household who may be watching! In this way, theoretically at least, the peoplemeter can record not only the time of viewing and the programmes being viewed, but also who was watching and their demographic characteristics - age, sex, occupation etc. There has been, and still is, some scepticism about whether the meter records real viewing behaviour. The respondents have to remember to record their presence in the room and their departure from it. And being present in a room with a television set switched on is no guarantee that the programmes are being watched!

One may ask at this point how all this relates to what has been said about the principles of sampling and representativeness. Obviously a meter is not like a questionnaire. But the selection of households for the placement of meters follows the principle of sampling outlined earlier. The aim is to find a sample of television households which will accurately represent the population of television households, in the country or region being researched as a whole. What happens is that the research agency administering the system first needs to do an establishment survey to determine the nature and composition of television households and of households with no television. Data are collected on size of households, number of television sets, income, class, age and sex distribution and, where relevant, ethnic and other demographic data. A model of the television owning population is built up. From this model, a quota sample is constructed in which all the significant population groups are represented from single person households to large family households, from poor households perhaps with only one monochrome set, to wealthy households with many sets. The agency then selects households which socially, geographically, ethnically, and in such matters as household size, number of sets, wealth, age and sexual composition, represent the population as a whole.

In fact the model is never perfect. It cannot be, for the peoplemeter cannot yet, for obvious practical reasons, be used in institutions like hospitals, schools, hostels and prisons where a large number of people may be watching. Peoplemeters cannot be used in hotels, public bars, community centres or cafes where, in some countries, a lot of television viewing takes place. Peoplemeters exclusively record viewing in households. In countries where a lot of viewing takes place outside the home, they do not record the whole situation very well. Moreover, the factors that led to the demise of the radio meter have begun to raise questions about the efficacy of television meters. I sat next to a man on a commuter train recently watching television on a 10 cm screen portable set. Television is now potentially as portable as radio has been for the past forty years. Meters are being developed which can record out-of-home viewing. Presently meters in use are connected to the telephone system. At fixed times they automatically "call" by telephone a central computer which takes down all the information. This usually takes place on a daily basis. For obvious reasons, portable sets taken outside the home, in cars, in caravans, even on trains, cannot be used in this way. If out-of-home television viewing is as significant as out-ofhome radio listening, a new kind of meter system needs to be developed. At present the meter system ignores all viewing outside the home as well as all viewing in large groups, in hotels, shops etc.

The latest development, both for television and radio, may be a meter which will be worn on the person which may be no larger than a wrist watch; which will record on a silicon chip an inaudible signal within the sound being emitted by the set which would indicate the network or channel of any set being viewed or listened to at any time and in any place. This development would mean a shift away from the set household as the unit of measurement to the individual. This makes it, potentially, the most accurate means of measuring the actual viewing or listening of an individual.

Meters are mostly used in western industrialised countries and Japan. However they are not unknown in less developed countries. TV meters for audience measurement are used in Hong Kong, the Philippines, South Africa and various Latin American countries. There are moves to introduce meters in countries as diverse as India and China.

Personal Interviews

There are two basic methods. Either the interview takes place face-to-face or it is conducted over the telephone. There are many variations in approach with each.

Telephone Interviews

The use of the telephone in audience research is found mainly in the richer countries. Telephone interviewing is widely used there in opinion and market research where there is a high level of ownership of telephones. In some places it is now virtually essential to use telephones; security systems on apartment buildings and other restrictions on access to peoples' front doors make personal calls hazardous or impossible.
The advantages and disadvantages are clear enough. Interviewers stay in one place and no time is taken travelling or looking for the next respondent. Normally many more interviews can be conducted in the same time.

Randomness of the sample is achieved by the use of Random Digit Dialling or RDD. This is a system which selects any domestic subscriber's phone number at random and dials it automatically. The person who answers will then be invited to answer a few questions for research purposes. Confidentiality is assured. The respondent will be told how long the conversation will last; telephone interviews need to be very much shorter than face-to-face interviews. Even half an hour could be regarded as too long on the telephone. Refusal at this stage should be avoided if possible. In some cases the same selection procedure described earlier may be used to select a member of the household.

The last factor requires elaboration. The telephone interview can be used to sample households, in which case the listening behaviour of all occupants can be recorded by recall. But of course one person cannot necessarily speak accurately for everyone. Alternatively the interviewers can, using a random procedure, select just one person from the household for interview. This is not a very easy thing to explain over the phone, but it does not have to be the practice always used. One can use the Kish Grid method described earlier. In Australia the practice is to ask for whoever last had a birthday or next will have one. This method, like the Kish Grid, provides a randomly sampled individual from the household and is much quicker than the Kish Grid. If the person selected is not willing to talk then, an arrangement can be made to call later.

There are some important disadvantages. Even in the wealthy United States, about 5% of television owners have no telephone. In most countries the method would be even less suitable. It is not a very suitable means for asking for a lot of information for the reason that there is resistance to long telephone conversations. Respondents sometimes resent and reject an unexpected phone call from a complete stranger. If one is enjoying listening to a radio programme or watching the television one may especially resent being interrupted to answer questions about it!

Ironically, it was this factor which was, for some users of research, the most attractive feature of the method. Telephone interviewing could be used to determine what people were actually listening to or viewing at the moment the telephone rang. It was an exact measure of real behaviour.

Various techniques have been used a good deal in the United States for audience research. One method is known as "telephone coincidental". A very short questionnaire is used.

" What were you listening to on the radio when the telephone rang?"

(If the respondent named a programme a second question was then asked:-)

"What station was that programme broadcast over?"

(If however the respondent named a station at first this second question was asked:-)

"What programme is that station broadcasting?"

(A further question was added later:-)

"Please tell me how many men, women and children, including yourself, were listening when the telephone rang." 10

This was used by the famous researcher C.E. Hooper from 1934. It is fairly easy to find fault with the questions! They assume not only that the person who answers the phone has a radio but that he or she was listening. These two facts could bias replies. But the procedure seemed to work reasonably well. A similar technique was also used later for television.

"Do you have a television set? "Were you or anyone in your home watching TV just now?"

"What programme or channel?" "How many men, women or children under eighteen were viewing?"

"Who selected the programme?"¹¹

Telephone interviews are used in Europe for some audience research but not usually for coincidental measurement. The method in far more common use is known as "telephone recall".

Basically these involve a conventional interview using a questionnaire which asks respondents to recall either what they listened to yesterday, or for the 24 hours preceding the call. Many variations can be used, but typically telephone recall interviews ask about:-

• The time the radio (or any household radio) was in use the previous day.

• The programmes heard during those hours.

• The station or stations from which these programmes came.

There is a lot more that could be written about the use of telephone in audience research. Its use is growing in market research in the industrialised countries. It provides data rapidly and cheaply. An unbiased sample of telephone households is relatively easy to obtain. The sample can be tailored to cover a particular area.

There are two very great advantages in personal interviews by telephone; they cost far less than face-to-face surveys, which consume a lot of money in travel and accommodation costs, and they take the least time to administer. A whole working day or its equivalent can be spent interviewing on the telephone whereas with face-to-face surveys a large proportion of time can be spent in travel and in the process of selecting and finding respondents.

Telephone surveys are especially suitable in large countries where distances to travel are very large. They are also very suitable in countries where it is difficult or impossible to gain access to people via their front doors. For example, it is nowadays extremely time-consuming and, in some places, positively dangerous to attempt doorto-door surveys in the United States. The telephone survey is very widely in use. Obviously telephone penetration has to be very high.

In most developed countries, telephone penetration is now over 90% of households. But can telephone surveys be of value and use in countries where telephone penetration is very low? I believe they can. For example, in the more prosperous areas of some cities in some poorer countries, security is such that access to interviewers arriving on foot is virtually impossible. Telephone surveys may have to be used to gain access to people in this class.

When telephone penetration is very low it may still be possible to use it. For example, there are often telephones in villages or in poorer areas of cities and towns. These phones may be in cafes or hotels, community centres or the houses of local officials. It may well be possible to devise ways of using these 'phones and calling selected people to the phone for interview. I haven't worked out a procedure for selection that would remove bias but I am sure it would be possible. The advantage of speed, cheapness and the fact that literacy is not required, make the telephone method very attractive where resources are limited. Using telephones for research in poorer countries is a challenge for ingenuity!

These can, like telephone interviews, be coincidental or recall. The sample to be contacted and interviewed has to be chosen by one of the methods outlined in a previous section.

As far as I am aware, there is currently no audience research by personal interview using questions like those outlined above for telephone coincidentals. But many audience research departments, especially in non-commercial public service broadcasting use a faceto-face interview in which people are asked about listening yesterday. (It is also used by a few for television research although meters have largely taken over in industrialised countries).

Face-to-face interviews are probably the most practical method for use in most developed countries. The method is not the least expensive. But diaries and telephones have to be excluded if we are interested in the media behaviour of illiterates and those without telephones, unless my suggestion in the previous section can be made to work! Meters have to be excluded from consideration in many countries because of the high costs involved and the need to use telephones for data collection. ¹²

The question of which method to use can be answered by a process of elimination, and then by seeing how a sample survey employing a face-to-face interview with a questionnaire can best be adapted to the circumstances and research requirements in the country concerned.

It is helpful before considering the matter further to look at the experience of face-to face interviews using the recall method in Britain. The BBC Daily Survey of radio listening (and for some years, of television viewing also) began as the Continuous Survey in 1939. At one time as many as 4,000 people were selected every day of the year and interviewed about what they had listened to on the radio and watched on television the previous day. ¹³

Before it started, a different method had been tried in order to measure audiences and it is worth describing briefly here since the method has been used elsewhere, most notably in India.

At that time, as now, the BBC was funded by income from licences. In those days, every wireless set owner had to buy an annual licence. The money was collected by the government, but most of it went to the BBC. (The wireless licence in Britain has been abolished; revenue now comes from television licences). The fact that every set owner was required to have a licence meant that a ready-made national sampling frame was available. A number of postal districts was selected at random. Then samples of individual homes with a licence were drawn from within each of these selected districts.

Robert Silvey, the pioneer of audience research in the BBC, wanted to cover everyone in the licence paying household. Having selected 3,000 addresses, four questionnaires were sent to each with an invitation to ask for more if required. A reply-paid envelope was provided.

The response rate was somewhat disappointing - 44% of sampled households which had been sent the questionnaires completed and returned them. What pleased Silvey however was that he received an average of 2.4 responses from all replying households, not far short of the average household size (excluding young children) of 2.7. The demographic and geographic composition of those who had replied matched the population as a whole very well. The problem was the same one that bedevils research through any self-completion questionnaire or diary. It under-represented working class people and had a middle class bias.

But what brought about the high (56%) non-response. Was it lack of interest, motivation or desire to cooperate? As Silvey wrote later, "the crucial issue was the extent to which refraining from cooperating was related to the issues about which questions had been asked."¹⁴

The short questionnaire was on only one sheet of paper and had limited intentions, but it provided, for the first time in Britain, information about the times at which people listened. But it was not in a diary form. Actual behaviour was not recorded. Respondents were asked about their *usual* times of listening, the kinds of programmes they liked to hear and when they usually stopped listening in the evening. There were questions about how often people listened to specific news bulletins and some other regular programmes.

The results were something of an eyeopener to the middle and upper-class hierarchy at the BBC. They had believed that "nobody dines before 8" but were "staggered to learn that most people had finished their evening meal by 7.00 pm".¹⁵

The experiment was repeated six months later with a similar level of response. This questionnaire attempted both to measure audiences for different time periods and programmes, and to find out what were listeners' likes and dislikes.

These two questionnaires had not been able to measure much actual behaviour. They told the BBC what people said they usually did, what programmes they usually listened to, how often and so on. But the questionnaire did not give any precision to the picture. One could not, as a result of these questionnaires, say that at 6 pm a certain proportion of the population would be likely to be listening to the news. All that could be pointed to with some certainty was the periods of peak audience. In the United States the advertisers clamoured for day-by-day, hour-by-hour ratings. They even wanted to know how many people were listening to commercial announcements between programmes. But in Britain and almost all other European countries there was a monopoly of broadcasting allocated by the state either to a state-run broadcasting service

or to one run on the public's behalf by a public body like the BBC. There was no radio advertising in most countries. In Britain the BBC existed to provide broadcasting as a public service. No one demanded to know how many middle class housewives were listening at precisely 2.10 pm on a Wednesday! Advertisers then and now do want to know, if the radio station in question is commercial and is carrying advertising at that time.

However, public service broadcasters did want to know quite a lot about the public's behaviour. Programme planners - the people who decided to place a light entertainment programme after the evening news, or light music in the early evening or more serious talks and features in the early afternoon wanted to know in quite a lot of detail about public listening habits. BBC planners had, over the early years, 1922 to 1938, gradually devised a daily pattern of programmes. Did it suit the listeners? Were any groups seriously disadvantaged? We noted earlier how wrong they had been about the time the majority of people ate their evening meal. While this was an extreme case of the myopia produced at that time by the British class system, were there other examples of false assumptions about listener behaviour?

Quite a lot of useful information was obtained from listeners by on-air appeals for volunteers to answer postal questionnaires, a subject that is discussed later. But such selfselected samples cannot be used to reflect with any accuracy the audience as a whole - even for a particular programme.

Interestingly the stimulus to providing more systematic and reliable data on listening was the Second World War. There was a major disruption of social and economic life. As Silvey put it, "programme planners found themselves very much at sea". It was decided that a fully representative sample survey should be conducted to find out facts about the population in respect of its use of the radio. After this initial survey took place in October 1939 it was decided that similar research would be needed on a continuous basis and the Continuous Survey, later to be known as the Daily Survey, was born. Its objective was to estimate the actual audience for each programme. It began in December 1939 and continued until August 1992 when it was replaced by a self-completion diary system. Between 1949 and 1981, it was also the vehicle by which television viewing was measured. This is now done by a peoplemeter system in cooperation with commercial television. It was the emergence of national commercial radio which eventually led to the Daily Survey's demise. Commercial broadcasters' requirements could not be fully met by aided recall of listening yesterday employed by a continuous survey of this kind. The diary method is the one now used by both BBC and commercial radio for radio audience measurement.

The Daily Survey was based on the assumption that people could give an accurate account of their listening or viewing behaviour on the previous day, especially if the interviewer reminded them of what the programmes had been and at what times. The questions were limited to a single day, the previous day. A day has, for most people, a natural beginning and end. People can be taken through the day from when they woke up to when they went to bed and to sleep.

A major task, as with all interviews, is to try to ensure honest and accurate answers. A lot of attention was given to training interviewers. She (most interviewers are women) would need to be in full control of the conversation. Everything said to the interviewee, from the introduction and explanation at the beginning to the thanks at the end, was prescribed and was the same for all interviewees. Silvey's account sets the scene and approach very well.

"I am working for the BBC, finding out what people listened to yesterday. Will you tell me what you listened to yesterday, please?" The interviewer followed this question immediately with another:-

"For instance, did you happen to switch on when you got up yesterday morning?

This was followed by another question if the respondent was unsure:-

"Well what time was that, do you remember?"

Having found out what time it was, the interviewer would consult the details with which she is supplied and follow with:-

"That was when ... (programme title) ... was on. Did you hear that?"

The interview would then continue quite rapidly with the respondent being taken through the day.¹⁶

Silvey had some important observations to make about the process which are worth noting. They are still valid today.

"This rapid approach was calculated to convey the impression to the informant that the interviewer was businesslike and that the interview would not take long and also to encourage him to regard the encounter as a friendly challenge to him to see if he *could* remember something as recent as yesterday's listening. If he took it in this spirit, the focus of his attention might be diverted away from a possible preoccupation with the impression his replies were making on the interviewer. He would have told her all she wanted to know almost before he had realised he had done so."¹⁷

It should be pointed out here that later on, the interviewers stopped the habit of identifying themselves as being from the BBC. Silvey claims it made no difference, but most market researchers believe it to be bad practice for interviewers to identify themselves in this way. It was later calculated that the sentence "I am from the BBC" increased the overall BBC listening figure by 3%. Originally the Daily Survey excluded children under 16 but later included children down to age 4. At one time the sample was selected in the street. Interviewers were instructed to select by quota a given number of people of each sex in four age groups. More recently, interviews were conducted at peoples' homes. No one was omitted if it turned out that they had not listened at all on the previous day. The idea was to get the whole picture, and not listening at all was a part of the whole daily situation that was being measured.

The survey throughout its 53-year history has usually included extra questions at the end designed to answer contemporary issues for the broadcasters and planners. For example, at the beginning of the war, there was much controversy about how bad news of the war was being reported and about the continuation of entertainment. In 1940 the news was regularly about disaster for the Allied powers as one country after another fell to the Axis powers and British forces had to retreat. Some said that in view of the situation it was inappropriate to have light entertainment programmes. The question was asked:-

"When the news is grave do you think the BBC should cut down on variety programmes?"¹⁸

A clear majority (over 60%) said 'No' and only 20% said 'Yes'. Moreover, further analysis showed that most of those who had said 'Yes' did not listen to entertainment or variety programmes anyway. Another recurring issue was "vulgar" jokes in comedy sketches on variety programmes. Many letters were received complaining of poor taste, a theme which has continued in listener mail to this day. Questions on the Daily Survey have been used to find out what the listening public as a whole thought. As has often been the case, the letter writers have been shown to be unrepresentative of the general opinion.

Research among specific target groups

Often one may not want to obtain data from the general population. For example, specific broadcasts may be aimed at certain groups. Farmers, schoolteachers or pupils, people in the medical profession, rural development workers, children, members of ethnic, linguistic or religious minorities, people with disabilities and many other groups form targets for special programmes or broadcast services. They can be researched in such a way as to provide data just about them. For example, one could organise a survey among children to find out specifically about their listening or viewing habits. If they are included in a general population survey, there may be enough children in the sample to provide the data that you need. But there may not be enough, and in any case the normal coverage by survey may not include people younger than teenagers. Also, you may have some special questions just for children. In these cases a specially designed survey among children may be called for.

The general survey may provide information on other subgroups, like professionals, farmers, members of minorities, housewives or students. But very often the subgroup in which there is interest will not be represented sufficiently in a general survey. For example, many public service broadcasters in Europe seek to provide services for members of ethnic and linguistic minorities. These will be selected in the normal way during surveys of the general population. They will be found among households with TV meters and they will be among those who are asked to complete diaries. But normally their numbers in such samples will more or less reflect their proportions in the population as a whole, and there may be too few for analysis. Specially designed surveys of these minorities may be carried out.

Survey Research for Small Stations

Can small radio stations with limited funds do their own surveys? Yes, provided they follow certain basic guidelines and rules. Remember, poor research can be worse than no research at all! It can give spurious validity to data that can be quite wrong.

The main disadvantage of a station doing its own survey research is that there is a loss of independence; when an outside body does the research the results may have greater credibility.

The experience of Australia seems to have a wider relevance. Although there is a regular system of radio audience measurement through a commercial company, McNair Anderson, this is mainly confined to the large cities. Australia is a vast country and there are many local and regional stations not covered by this research "omnibus". But many of these stations are non-commerical and could not afford to commission research in their area from a research agency.

Some have decided to do surveys themselves and the national broadcaster, the ABC, has provided them with guidelines on how to go about it. These guidelines mainly advise the use of telephone surveys.¹⁹

What kinds of issues are likely to be of interest to a radio station? A typical example might be that a station director thinks of a new programme idea. The potential of this idea can be researched. The research will be used to refine and modify the idea which is translated into a new series of new programmes. The results of the programme, especially the reaction of the audience can then be studied to see if the idea has been translated into a successful reality. These "before" and "after" research phases are sometimes referred to as *formative* and *summative* research.

Other Methods of Audience Measurement Research

There is no reason whatsoever why new methods should not be invented and developed for the special circumstances of less developed areas. One good example of an innovative search for an appropriate method is found in India. There, a high priority has been put on getting television to the villages. But existing television audience research is conducted mainly in the cities. It would be very expensive to send interviewers out every day to the villages. Moreover, the TV panel diary used for TV audience measurement in India would be unsuitable for illiterates. Another important factor is that while most television viewing in the towns is household based, village viewing is often to community sets. A different approach was needed.

The main need was to find the relevance of the programmes in terms of their utility, clarity and comprehensibility. In addition to analysis of normal feedback from listeners' letters, research assistants were appointed in some of the villages and provided with self-completion questionnaires.

Problems were encountered in the long time it took between initiating each wave of research and the producers receiving the results. They decided for this and other reasons to concentrate on speeding up reaction in order to provide continuous feedback to profrom their village ducers audiences. Doordashan (Indian Television) has now developed a more rapid system built around television viewing clubs and has the maximum involvement of rural viewers. The contact person in each club or viewing group provides information on a pre-coded questionnaire about the composition and size of the audience watching the community set. The research is continuous and therefore provides data on viewing behaviour over time. It also provides qualitative information on viewing behaviour, reaction, comprehension and interest.

Wherever a community set has been placed, there is one person who is given responsibility for looking after it, the set custodian. In most cases it is the custodian who fills in the questionnaire and posts it in a reply-paid envelope to the respective audience research centre. In the voluntary teleclubs an educated person is invited to perform a similar task. Well organised and well briefed, there is no reason why such a system or a modification of it should not be useful in many rural situations where other forms of research are not suitable.²⁰

Some Common Problems Encountered in Field Research and Some Solutions

At the end of any research project in the field it is very important to find out about the experiences of the field researchers. The interviewers and their supervisors will have a good deal of important information about the project itself, problems with fieldwork, sampling difficulties, and the like. They will be able to provide information that will help in the analysis and interpretation of the results. "Debriefing" the field force will also provide valuable information to assist in the better design of future projects.

Few things ever operate perfectly. This is very true of field research when so much can be unpredictable. The weather, political upheavals and crises, civil disturbances and unrest and other events, usually unforeseen, can interrupt or influence the research in unpredictable ways. Those in charge of the research have to decide what influence or effect the event may have and if this can be avoided. If the research is affected you have to decide also what to do about it. When reporting any research project one needs to relate results to prevailing circumstances.

In a recent radio audience survey in the capital city of a less developed country, the

following problems were reported. They are problems encountered in many countries, both industrialised and less developed, but tend to be encountered more often in the latter.

It was sometimes impossible to use a Kish grid because the household member first contacted was suspicious that it had to do with security or taxation.

Some interviewers said it was difficult to find men over 24 years of age at home. 2 or even 3 visits at arranged times had to be made. Then the person selected would often not turn up because of a general distrust of strangers in a city beset by both terrorism and an arbitrary police force.

In the areas of higher income it was often a household employee who opened the door. Sometimes, despite a careful explanation of the purpose of the research, no one would readily be interviewed. Sometimes the interview would be conducted through the intercom without the front door even being opened.

There was not the same problem in contacting people at the lower socio-economic level of this city. It was relatively easy to get selected respondents to answer. However. there was another problem familiar to anyone who has commissioned research in less developed areas. Other people in the household tried to influence the answers of the persons selected, even answering for the respondent at times. One interviewer reported that this was a persistent problem, even when she made it clear that personal answers were sought. In about half the cases she reported that interviews had to be abandoned. The problem was said to be most acute with women aged 40 and over with low levels of education.

Some interviewers reported that questions about one of the radio stations seemed to create in some respondents certain expectations that they would receive some present if they said they listened. Evidently the radio station in question had engaged in some promotional activity recently, rewarding people identified as listeners. Consequently there was probably some overclaiming of listening by some people.

Educational levels were sometimes difficult to establish reliably. Young respondents, both male and female, sometimes claimed university education when this was obviously not so. Interviewers established whether the claim was accurate by adding a question asking the name of the university.

Addresses of some respondents were difficult to establish in some shanty areas. Dwellings were not numbered and were not in named streets. This made it difficult or impossible to trace the person interviewed for back-checking.

I like the solution invented by the interviewer in the above example to the problem of overclaiming education. Asking a supplementary question to ascertain the reliability of a reply is acceptable provided that the interviewer does not make the respondent feel inadequate or foolish. This obviously requires experience and sensitivity. The interviewer needs to consult the supervisor about any such problem and to agree on a solution. This should be recorded in the field notes.

How can we answer the problem of identifying dwellings in shanty areas? It is really the same problem as in most rural areas. The solution is to ask at the dwelling how it could be found again. Usually people locally have a way of identifying dwellings, very often by the name of the owner or head of household.

Once again there are few absolute rules. The skill of good field research, in audience research or in other fields, is to find appropriate and effective answers to problems as they come up. Then, having found a solution, one should keep a record of it. Supervisors, and very often interviewers too, need to keep a fieldwork diary to record anything out of the ordinary, problems encountered and how they were dealt with, and so on.

There may be various ways of mitigating or removing some of these problems. These will depend largely on local circumstances. Here are some suggestions. Suspicions of the reasons for research are enormously difficult to overcome. Sometimes it may be necessary to give a careful account of the purpose of the research and to make a very big effort to build confidence. It may be necessary to do this at each selected household.

This is, of course, very time-consuming. There are sometimes short-cuts that can help. People may be very suspicious of the police, government officials and the like, but there may be a local person who is trusted by everyone. It may be a priest, an elder of a village or a respected local figure. If the purpose of the research is carefully explained to that person, his or her word of reassurance may help remove suspicion. This is more difficult to achieve in cities where there is less social cohesion, more anonymity and less prominent or widely accepted opinion leadership.

The presence of other people at the face-to-face interview is more problematic. In western societies where individualism is seen as of some importance, most opinion and market research interviews are conducted away from the presence of other people. It is simply not possible to ensure this in most parts of the world. Does it matter? The textbook response is to assert that it does matter because people will not always give their own personal views or be completely frank and honest when neighbours and relatives are listening. But if we accept that it is usually impossible to interview people as isolated individuals because they do not live in that way then to attempt to insist on one-to-one interviews may be unrealistic and pointless.

If the reality is that people's individual behaviour is always influenced by others then we should not seek to create a false and unfamiliar situation in an interview. On the other hand, when one is seeking the views and researching the behaviour of women in some societies where they take a subservient role it is important to ensure that interviews take place without the presence of a man. One has to make a sensible and practical judgement. What is important is to explain patiently and carefully to as many people as necessary that the interview is not a test. There are no correct or wrong answers. It should also be made clear that it doesn't matter in the least if the person being interviewed does not have an answer to a question.

A common mistake in radio and television organisations is to assume, usually unconsciously, that listeners and viewers think of radio and television within a similar framework. Sometimes it is an effort for producers to see what they produce as other than a set of discrete productions broadcast on distinctly separate radio or television networks. There is a tendency for producers, managers and directors to assume that the audience shares the same construction. In fact they very often do not. Some viewers and listeners may genuinely not know what programmes they listen to or watch nor on what network or channel. Sometimes they can get similarly named channels or networks confused. Sometimes just as the trade-name "Thermos" is often applied to all vacuum flasks, and "Hoover" to all vacuum cleaners, so also may "BBC", or the name of some other prominent broadcaster be attached in the minds of a viewer or listener to another station.

When we ask what programmes a respondent listened to or watched on the previous day, we may need to use "prompts" that is titles or phrases likely to help respondents recall and identify exactly what they listened to or watched. It is much easier when radio or television channels have clear and unambiguous names or call signs which are used frequently on the air. When channels, networks and programmes have weaker identities it is more difficult in an interview to establish if listening or viewing has taken place. Sometimes the interviewer can carry a small cassette recorder to play taped stimuli, which can be, for example, the station's announcements, opening signature tunes of programmes, familiar voices and so on. It is

possible to establish if a respondent has heard any of a number of radio stations or programmes by playing a series of recorded excerpts. This is obviously more difficult with television although it is possible to do something similar combining taped extracts with show cards or pictures taken from the programmes in question. Sometimes a respondent will more easily recognise a familiar programme in this way than from its name read out from a questionnaire.

Only experience will tell an audience researcher what methods to use to overcome the difficulties and problems that are always encountered. All forms of opinion and market research, of which audience research is but one division, need to adapt to different cultural and environmental circumstances.

Audience Opinion and Reaction

The measurement surveys described can also be used to provide some reactions to programmes, but these will usually be limited. Surveys may not be suitable for obtaining detailed reaction. The best way to assess audience reaction and opinion is to design specific research vehicles for the purpose.

Panels

Panels are one of the earliest methods of research into audience opinion. Listeners or viewers are selected and invited to help by being members of a panel. The panel never meets; the word denotes merely a group of people chosen to carry out a specific function over a given period of time. One of the main advantages is that it enables behaviour and opinion to be measured or assessed for various programmes over time among the same people.

One of the first uses of the panel approach in audience research was in the BBC when listeners to "variety" (light entertainment) programmes were invited to volunteer. A series of appeals in the press and on-air explained that they would have only fairly simple tasks to perform and that it would help the BBC to give a better service.

The response was an astonishing 47,000 volunteers. It was decided to enroll only 2,000. But how should they be selected? Nowadays, the panel would be selected to match what we know about the demographics of those who listen to (in this case) light entertainment programmes. But at that time (1937) audience measurement had not begun and they had no data on which to base any selection. Instead they sought to match the panel with the general population whose demographics were known. The volunteers were biased towards men, were younger than the population as a whole and they had a slight middle class bias. The South-East was overrepresented. The important point to note here is that they were not selected to represent listeners to light entertainment programmes, but the population as a whole.

Imbalances were consciously removed in the selection of 2,000 who were enrolled for a twelve-week period. Each week they were sent a log, listing the forthcoming week's light entertainment programmes - usually about 35 of them. Panel members were asked to record which of them they listened to, and whether they had listened to all or part of the programme.

The main purpose of this exercise was, before the establishment of regular audience measurement, to find out what they could about what was listened to, for how long and by what kinds of people. Later all this could be better supplied by a fully representative survey. As was soon discovered, the nature of volunteers makes them not typical of the audience as a whole, and a volunteer panel like this was an unsatisfactory basis for "inferring the *absolute* quantity of the general public's listening programme by programme". However, it can be a reasonably reliable guide to the relative popularity of different programmes.²¹

I have mentioned this early experiment to show that inexpensive and simple methods can be used for research when representative surveys are impractical or cannot be carried out very regularly. They can be used between surveys to plot the relative popularity of different programmes and the demographic nature of the different audiences for them. If selected in a purposive way to be representative of the whole population and invited to take part in research over a period of time, panels can be used for quantitative measurement. Polish radio and television audience research has been done in this way for some years. Consumer panels are sometimes used in market research to measure other things - consumption of consumer goods, use of various services and so on.

Panels are more usually used nowadays for the assessment of opinions and reactions in audience research. To obtain the most representative results it is best to select a panel according to criteria set by the nature of what is being sought, and to be fully in control of the selection. However, volunteer panels may still be used because they do have certain advantages.

It is best to illustrate how panels may be selected by an example. Let us suppose we need a panel to provide us with regular feedback and reaction to a network which specialises in cultural and arts programmes. We want to obtain a representative panel of the audience. But what constitutes the audience? Someone who normally listens or watches the channel in question everyday is obviously a member. But what of the person who watches or listens very occasionally? He or she is a part of the audience and will have views that you will want to take into account. It is not a good idea to encourage panel members to do any duty listening or viewing; you want them to behave normally and you ask them to report on or react to the programmes they encounter in their normal viewing or listening behaviour. You may find that such a panel member has nothing to report in the period of his or her membership of the panel. That has to be accepted as a reflection of the reality we are attempting to measure. However, we may decide to eliminate the occasional audience.

Practically speaking, your panel may have to consist of those who listen or view programmes on a fairly regular basis. One method of selection is through face-to-face interviews during the course of quantitative research. The respondent who, from his or her answers, fits the description required for the panel can be invited to become a member.

One disadvantage of this approach is that it can take a long time to find a panel for minority programmes. Another is that having selected one you may find that the viewing or listening habits of the selected provide insufficient data for analysis. For example, you may invite 1,000 people to be panel members and send them all the weekly or fortnightly questionnaires asking for reactions to programmes listed. But response to any one of these programmes may be only ten or twenty people too few cases for analysis.

You can, of course, guard against this by greatly increasing the size of the panel so as to ensure that even for minority programmes you would probably get a sufficient response. But this can be very expensive in postage and labour.

For more than forty years, listener reactions to programmes on the BBC were collected via a volunteer general listening panel. 3,000 panel members aged 12 and over were recruited by broadcast appeals for volunteers on the three, later four national radio networks. People who wrote in to offer their services were asked to give certain information about themselves. The panel was then selected to be representative of the network's audience in terms of age, social class, sex and geographical region. The panel members, who served for two years, each received a weekly booklet with questions about programmes in the radio network they listened to most. It worked very well in supplying regular information on reactions to programmes from a sizeable number of responses. But how representative was it? Were volunteers different in some way from those who didn't volunteer?

Inevitably, what was really a selfselected sample was different in being more articulate and biased towards the middle class. despite all attempts to correct this. The panel was dominated by listeners to the more serious kinds of programmes. It was replaced in 1984 by panels based on a controlled recruitment method. The Daily Survey provided an excellent source for this. Light listeners - those who listened to less than 10 hours radio in a week - were excluded. It meant excluding one in three of all listeners to the BBC but it was the only practical way to proceed. Infrequent listeners would hardly maintain interest in the task if they found themselves regularly returning blank questionnaires. Excluding them undoubtedly reduced the representative nature of the panel, but it was noted that the infrequent listeners accounted for only 10% of listening to the networks in question.

The panel was selected to represent the radio audience as a whole, structured by class, sex, age, social class and geographical distribution. It was grouped into nine categories according to the listening habits of the individuals. In general, the groups represented listeners to any of the four national BBC networks or combinations of networks. However, there was a problem about the arts and culture network, Radio 3, which brings us back to our example. In the sample recruited for the panel, few had listened to any Radio 3 programmes in the previous week and it was known that many were infrequent users. With Radio 3 and other networks like it, it is necessary to overrepresent in order to secure enough data for analysis. And so it was that the Radio 3 panel

was boosted by appeals in the traditional manner for volunteers whose replies are used only just for the analysis of response to Radio 3 programmes.²²

In countries where illiteracy is high, panels can nonetheless be used effectively. If what is needed is informed, considered feedback from literate listeners and viewers, panels can be very useful, provided that it is remembered that they do not represent the opinions of the unrepresented illiterates.

It is a good idea to give a modest incentive to members of a listening or viewing panel. Members of GBC's listening panels in Ghana used to have a free subscription to the now defunct *Radio and TV Times*. They now get a free TV licence and, if they have rediffusion radio (an early form of cable or wired radio still in use), they pay no hire fee.²³

Postal Questionnaires

Questionnaires can be sent by post to listeners or viewers with an explanation and instructions on how to fill them in. There are many drawbacks, not the least of which is the fact that they are usable solely among literates. They must also leave nothing to chance. They must be well presented and constructed, with the minimum of ambiguity. There is no one to answer questions or explain anything about the questions!

Reply postage has to be paid and often it helps to send reminders! Although mail surveys are cheap, they are not as widespread in use as they might be. The problem is that the response rate can be only 40% or less. It requires a lot of skill and determination to obtain a high response rate.

Some say that mail surveys are slow and that they should not be used when survey data are required urgently. I do not share this view entirely. If the survey is well-planned, it is possible to complete all stages within four weeks. It is hard work but possible. My department has done this internationally, and it is possible within a month within one country. The main problem is one of representativeness. Listeners' addresses are needed. If you use listener's letters you are using a selfselected sample. People who write letters to radio or television stations are not typical of the audience as a whole. There is no easy solution to this problem unless a representative address list can be obtained for use as a sampling frame.

If people who write letters are untypical and unrepresentative can they ever be used for postal questionnaire research? With caution and within limitations they can. Postal research may be the only method possible. Sometimes the information one needs is not required to be provided with great precision. An example from BBC World Service experience can illustrate. Senior managers had decided to switch a new transmitter covering Area A in order to cover Area B. Both areas had other transmitters giving some service. But Area B was an area which was felt to be badly served. But one senior manager was unhappy. What of listeners in Area A? The decision was postponed for just over a month. If it could be shown that Area A would be seriously affected the decision might be reconsidered.

There was no time for an on-theground face-to-face survey in Area A. Telephone penetration was low. Listenership to the service affected was probably loyal and keen but relatively small and scattered. The only way to discover how much reliance was placed on the transmitter in question was to send a simple questionnaire to recent correspondents in Area A to the affected service asking them which of the radio frequencies available they used to listen. The results from the returned postcard questionnaires showed a very high level of reliance on the service provided by the transmitter in question rather than to the other signals available. The decision was rescinded and alternative arrangements were made to serve Area B. The exact

numbers and percentages did not matter. All that was needed was an answer to the question "if we move the transmitter from Area A will a lot of existing listeners be affected?" The answer was "yes".

On-air Questionnaires

These are employed usually only for radio audience research. Listeners are asked to write in with some answers to some simple questions. Only four or five questions can be asked. Prizes can be offered from a draw as an incentive. These can be used quite effectively, especially when other methods are not possible. The main weakness is that you obtain an entirely self-selected sample which cannot be said to be representative of the audience as a whole. However, there are two ways in which I believe the use of questions on the air is effective. Research in the BBC World Service's audience research department shows that self-selected respondents' replies on technical and reception matters are fairly reliable in that those who do not write in response to on-air questions would not give information that was very different. In 1990 the BBC World Service asked on-air questions about the radio frequency being used by the listener at that moment. More than 100,000 answers were received and the analysis provided a very valuable comparative global picture of the way in which the BBC's various frequencies from different transmitters were being used. It enabled some major savings to be made on transmitter costs.

The other circumstance in which the method can be used is when areas are closed to field research for political or other reasons. International radio stations sometimes use this method to learn something about their listeners in such areas. One good example I have seen was carried out by the Christian radio station FEBC in the Philippines. They obtained useful and encouraging feedback from and information about their listeners in Burma. Listeners were asked to write in with a few simple answers to questions about themselves. The station was able, for the first time, to gain an idea of who listeners were.²⁴

Appreciation Indices

Producers, programme makers and planners need to know not only who listens or watches and how many, but also what they think of the programme. We have seen various ways in which opinions can be measured. Appreciation Indices or AIs are a commonly used method in some countries. They have strengths and weaknesses.

Audience *size* is a useful guide to overall performance of a particular network or programme on that network. But it cannot be the whole story. We do need to take account of audience appreciation as a measure of a programme's achievement. People may listen or view a programme merely because it was on at a time when they usually listen or view. What did they think of it?

A programme may attract a low audience but be appreciated very much by those who did watch or listen. That might well be thought as a satisfactory and worthwhile achievement, especially within public service rather than commercial broadcasting. Sometimes a programme with a small audience and a high AI may attract new listeners or viewers. The programme is talked about by the enthusiastic minority and others try it out, like what they see or hear and become regulars. Sometimes high AIs can be predictors of audience growth for the programme in question.

This is how AIs are achieved. They are usually used on diaries. Listeners or viewers are asked for their reaction to named programmes. Often only a selection of programmes will be asked about; sometimes the viewer or listener is asked to give a view on all programmes encountered.

On the BBC Daily Survey which was used to measure radio audiences, all respon-

dents aged 12 and over were asked to complete a booklet called *What You Think of What You Watch.* In it were listed various TV programmes over the next five days. They are asked not to do any special viewing but to answer questions only about their normal viewing.

Most of the questionnaire concerned AIs. Each respondent was asked to rate each programme they watched themselves on a six point scale form "extremely interesting and/or enjoyable" to "not at all interesting and/or enjoyable".

For every television programme the percentage of viewers who recorded each level of appreciation is calculated. From these is then calculated the AI as a percentage.

Extremely interesting and/or enjoyable	<u>6</u> 28%	<u>5</u> 29%	4_ 26%	<u>3</u> 8%	2 6%	<u>1</u> 3%	Not at all interesting and/or enjoyable
---	-----------------	-----------------	-----------	----------------	---------	----------------	--

The AI is the mean of these calculated as a percentage. The score of 1 is eliminated. We are left with 5 scores of appreciation of different levels. The calculation is made by assigning scores to each from 5 to $1.^{25}$

These AIs are not absolute measures. Their value is in *comparability* between programmes of a similar type, or of the same programmes in a series. Experience shows what AIs a drama programme will normally get. One can then see if a particular programme achieves a higher or lower than normal AI.



This is another way of scoring scale questions.

For radio a similar method can be used. In Britain a five-point scale ranging from "Very well worth hearing" down to "Not worth hearing" is used. The number of points in the scale can be higher or lower but experience shows that 5 or 6 point scales work well.

Indices can also be provided on specific opinions about a programme. For example, a radio service may have featured an interview with a leading politician, perhaps the prime minister. A specific question or set of questions can be asked.

Individual scores and overall indices for each aspect can be given. The decision on how to report results must depend on how the results emerge. The issue with all research reporting is how to make complexity simple. Instead of a set of figures it may be sufficient to report in words what the average of opinions in each category was - most listeners found it interesting, most found X a good interviewer, although a substantial minority thought he was too deferential, etc.

	Agree	Agree Somewhat	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	Disagree	Disagree Strongly
X was a good interviewer	5	4	3	2	1
X was too deferential - he did not ask really searching questions	5	4	3	2	1
The Prime Minister dealt with questions well.	5	4	3	2	1
I learned a lot from this interview	5	4	3	2	1
I found this interview interesting	5	4	3	2	1

Qualitative Research

The reason for doing qualitative research is to add depth and understanding to the "dry" data and figures from quantitative research and from the mainly statistical data obtained from panels, and the various uses of questionnaires described in the last section. In both the main kinds of research described so far. "qualitative" data are obtained and are essential. But numbers cannot explain everything. Nor can they always provide insights into the complexities of audience attitude and behaviour Other forms of research are often used that provide no numbers or percentages, but give interpretive information. Often this kind of research is done in conjunction with quantitative research and it can help in the understanding of the latter. It can also be used as a prelude to quantitative research by exploring the issues and motivations which are most relevant in the choices people make when using radio and television. The two main methods of qualitative research are focus groups or group discussions and in-depth interviews.

Methods and Uses of Qualitative Research

The techniques of qualitative research are not at all easy to describe. Whereas questionnaire design and sampling both have procedures to be followed which are relatively straightforward and can be itemised, the same is not so true for qualitative research.

The main difference is implied in the word itself. *Qualitative* denotes interpretative and exploratory activities, rather than factually descriptive. We are not usually involved here in precisely defined terms nor in accurate measures of human behaviour or attitude.

In qualitative research we normally use only relatively small numbers of people. Structured questionnaires are not used and the results are not normally open to any kind of statistical analysis. Qualitative research cannot prove or disprove anything in the way that quantitative research may be able to. But used effectively and appropriately, qualitative research may be the only way we can really *understand* peoples motivations, attitudes and behaviour.

Despite the impression one might form of the imprecision of qualitative research, there are good research practices that should be followed and which enhance the value and reliability of what is discovered from the research.

The most common form of qualitative research is the group discussion. People are selected and/or invited to meet together with a trained moderator to discuss some aspect of, in this case, television or radio broadcasting. The same techniques are used in product and advertising research. It is usually agreed beforehand what kinds of people are to be involved. Normally groups need to be matched quite deliberately and carefully. It is unusual for people of different sex to be included in the same group. It is also usually inappropriate for people of widely different ages to be included in the same group. Class, wealth and education are also important factors; it is not wise in many societies, to mix privileged and under-privileged, or very educated and uneducated. Knowledge and experience of the subject being researched is also important. It is not a good idea to mix experience with inexperience, for the latter will be swamped by the former.

It can be readily seen already that to cover all possible combinations of demographic characteristics one would need many groups. If, for example, we divided people into the two sexes and, let us say, three age groups, we would have six groups:

Then if we divided by class, education and wealth (usually inter-related) and made three categories of these, one would have 18 groups. Further three way categorisation, by

	15-24	25-40	41 and over
Male	0	O	0
Female	0	0	0

experience or knowledge of the matter being researched for example, would give us 36, and so on. In practice this degree of subdivision of groups is not necessary. The choice of groups and their categories is determined by the subject matter. This point is returned to in some examples later.

The moderator is trained to lead the discussion. He or she usually begins general discussion which will then move to the particular. It is important to involve everyone present. The moderator will have a discussion guide which may include a series of questions. This is not a rigid framework but is designed to keep the discussion going along the desired lines and is a reminder to the moderator of the purpose of the research.

Qualitative research is often used in conjunction with quantitative survey research. It often precedes it, especially when the need is for some ideas about a situation which may be very unclear. In quantitative research one often designs questionnaires with a fairly clear picture about expected behaviour. But that is not always so. Often we have no idea about how people behave or what their attitudes are in some areas of audience activity. Qualitative research can give us the clues we need for quantitative research to be set in context.

But qualitative research can also be used after a piece of quantitative research. A survey may find that a particular programme for farmers enjoys a high audience among its intended listeners, and that it receives a high appreciation figure. But how do the farmers listen and what, if anything, happens as the results of their listening? This would be a suitable case for qualitative research which would probe first the way farmers used the media in general, the general way in which they listen to the radio, where they got other kinds of information about farming and what they thought of all this. Then the discussion would narrow down to the particular programme in question. What programme do they remember in particular? What was memorable and why? The discussion might find out much that is unlikely to be uncovered by any usual radio listening questionnaire or diary. One way of describing qualitative research I like is that it puts colour into a black and white picture.

Oualitative research often uncovers things that no face-to-face structured questionnaire would. A good moderator can shift the discussion in any direction and this can lead to the discovery of information that can be wholly unpredicted and unexpected. Questionnaires, by their very nature, measure ranges of expected behaviour and attitude. They cannot deal with the more subtle and hidden meanings in human response and behaviour which can be very important in audience research. Very often people don't know their own attitudes and motivations, or they know them only superficially. Or a person may express a mild opinion in favour of something in response to a question, while in conversation in a group he or she may make it clear that the views held are very strong ones.

Qualitative research is most commonly used in audience research to:-

Discover behaviour and attitudes ranges that can be tested quantitatively.

Define areas for research on a larger scale.

Eliminate irrelevant areas from larger scale quantitative research which follows.

Illustrate or expand what has been discovered in a quantitative survey.

Provide insights into the way existing services and programmes are used.

To provide a richer range of responses to particular programmes than is provided by the questionnaire methods so far described.

Provide ideas for programme makers and planners.

Group discussions usually involve between 6 and 10 people. Too large a group can lead to some members losing interest or to the development of sub-groups within the group. 8 seems to be the ideal in most current practice. The discussion usually takes place between one and a half and three hours. The same group can be reconvened to carry on a discussion or, more often in audience research, to listen to or watch a programme or pro-Reconvened groups can gauge grammes. perceptions and attitudes and how these change over time. In audience research they can be very useful for considering new programmes or services and then plotting attitudes when these are developed and introduced.

Sometimes group discussions can last longer than two hours if the subject matter really does require some in-depth discussion. The point to make about groups is that all the "rules" are only guidelines and can be modified according to requirements.

The other main form of qualitative research often used is the in-depth individual interview. These are used in various cases. For example, there are some people who, because of the nature of their job will never take part in group discussions. Very senior civil servants, managing directors of large companies and other senior executives, politicians and other high status people may be of interest in audience research. Specialists in various fields, relevant to the research, may also be dealt with more effectively by in-depth interviews. In-depth interviews are also used when the subject being researched is sensitive or emotive or otherwise not suitable for discussion in a group. When the subject is very complex it may also be better dealt with in an in-depth interview.

Various techniques can be used in qualitative research to stimulate better response. There are many of these and many ways of leading discussions and conducting indepth interviews. The bibliography points to further reading in the field.

Qualitative research is used quite extensively in audience research in the process of developing new programme ideas and services or of modifying or transforming existing ones. An example will help illustrate this.

In 1982 a new science series, QED, was launched on BBC television. The target was a mass audience, not a well-informed, technically educated one. It presented a series of programmes, each one of which was on a different scientific or technical subject. The aim was to do this in an appealing and easily understood way.

Research was needed to find out. among other things, how well the programmes were understood, how viewers had categorised the programmes and their satisfaction with, interest in and enjoyment of the programmes. If the researchers had provided the programme makers with numerical figures or percentages showing that most had enjoyed and understood the programmes, no doubt the producers would have been pleased, but their understanding of audience response would have been little improved. Instead it was decided that in order to really understand audience values. qualitative research would be used. Producers wanted detailed in-depth reactions from viewers. So it was decided to convene six groups each of eight viewers of QED. The groups were to discuss programmes about science in general and QED in particular. At each group a recent edition of the programme was played about halfway through the session.

The groups were kept fairly informal. They were conducted in the homes of the moderators. Respondents were allowed, indeed encouraged to talk freely and among themselves about the subject of TV programmes on science. None of those involved knew beforehand what the subject of discussion would be.

The discussions showed that the issues identified as important by the viewers were broadly similar to those of the producers.²⁶ Viewers did categorise the programme in the area of "science for the layman" intended by the programme makers. The research underlined the importance of presentation in helping the understanding of otherwise complex sub-Respondents were quite enthusiastic iects. about an informative series which was nonetheless entertaining and not heavy-handed or dull. Some criticisms emerged however, and they did so sufficiently across the groups to convince one that this was probably a reliable reflection of more widely held views. Most of the criticisms grew from the series' own success and popularity. Its viewers expected more than the programmes were able to provide. For example, there was some criticism of the structure, some viewers complaining about the lack of logical flow of subject matter.

Although most could understand the programmes they did not always feel they had always learned very much. They wanted simplicity, but this should not mean a lack of content. Interestingly, when viewers felt they were able to learn something, enjoyment was greatly increased.

What did the producers do with the research? They were pleased to discover that the audience welcomed and appreciated the programme idea, that the level of content was about right and that the variety in style in the programme was not an obstacle.

As a result of the criticisms however, certain changes were made. The narrative structure was improved. Producers tried to avoid inconclusive or muddling subjects and they tried to ensure that programmes contained more "nuggets" of information. The series, which had little identity of its own for the viewers to remember, was, after the research, given a stronger identity with its own presenter, more use of programme logos and use of the title, Q.E.D.²⁷ How are participants for qualitative research selected? Much depends on what you want to achieve. If you want in-depth opinions of viewers or listeners to a particular programme or type of programme, it is possible to identify such people in a quantitative audience survey. For example, in an audience measurement questionnaire, questions can be inserted designed to select the kind of respondent you are looking for. It may be farmers who listen to farming programmes on the radio, or teachers who use television at school, or women with young children who are interested in health and nutrition, and so on.

Desk Research

What can be learned about the audience from existing data? Too often broadcasting stations make insufficient use of data already available, from the census, from departments of agriculture, health, housing etc. Other research "vehicles" may already exist which will provide useful data on a regular or occasional basis.

Is information available about broadcasting competitors? In multilingual countries there is usually a good deal of very valuable data on language use, comprehension and ability, of enormous value to broadcasters. Are production and/or import figures for TV and radio sets available? Has other research been done into leisure, education, daily life or any other aspect of life that would be useful when planning broadcasts? Many audience research departments have responsibilities for this kind of research and maintain libraries of information of value in strategic planning, programme making, scheduling and much more besides.

Universities can be a very useful source of research and I believe it is a great pity that there is not more cooperation between the academic and broadcasting research communities. Audience researchers tend to look askance at the academics, accusing them of far too much theory with little empirical evidence, whilst the academics scorn the audience researchers' apparent lack of theoretical base and their apparent attachment to numbers and the banal pursuit of ratings. In fact each has a lot to offer the other. There is a wealth of important data in broadcasting organisations that is often not fully analysed because full use for broadcasting planning purposes has been made of the significant parts. For broadcasters, vesterday's data are history. As a result a lot of information is never fully analysed. At the same time we see a lot of academic work which uses little or no field research in reaching conclusions about radio and television viewing. The freedom academic researchers have from the day-to-day constraints and demands of a broadcasting organisation could give them the ability to discern trends and other information from the data collected by audience research departments. They could also provide the much needed critical element in the process of audience research. If there was as much cooperation in broadcasting research as there is in most other areas of research - in medicine, the chemical industry or engineering for example - both the academic and broadcasting organisation research communities would benefit greatly.

Sometimes audience research departments become quite closely involved in research for programmes. For example, Indian television Doordashan's audience research department did a study of a medical and social research institute at Karigiri on which an award-winning programme was made. The project gave birth to a new concept and philosophy for audience research, i.e. to provide direct support and input and become an integral part of programme development. The orientation changed from merely evaluating (or crudely speaking, auditing) the programmes as an outsider, to a more active role of a constituent in the production team.²⁸

Listeners' and Viewers' Letters

How reliable are letters or word-of-mouth communications to broadcasters? What do they represent? Why is over-reliance on letters dangerous? How can they be misleading? What should they be used for and when can they be reasonably reliable? Can a systematic study of the mail be a useful guide to programme makers and planners? As we have shown already, listeners' letters provide addresses which can be used for the despatch of postal questionnaires. But are the letters themselves and statistics compiled from them of value to audience research?

Letters take on an added importance when research is not very regular, or where there is little or none at all. In these cases letters can be highly misleading. Sometimes they are used as if they were a barometer of listener opinion, even a meter of audience size. But letters can tell you very little, if anything, about listener opinion or the number of listeners.

I lose count of the arguments I have had with producers about this! Many research projects in Britain and elsewhere have shown conclusively and consistently that those who write do not represent the generality of opinion. A letter represents the person who wrote the letter and no one else. The opinion expressed may be the opinion of many others. It may be a minority view. You have no way of telling without research. You may get thousands of letters of complaint about something and only a few letters of praise or contentment about the same thing. The latter may represent the majority opinion!

Reliance on letters can be very misleading. This makes reliable audience research so important - to show producers what their audience is really like - because there is always a tendency to take too much notice of opinions in letters. None of this is to suggest that letters are unimportant and should be dismissed. My department in the BBC World Service employs more in handling listener's letters than in research. This is not because letters are more important but because handling letters in more than thirty languages is a labour-intensive activity. Letters are valuable for their individuality. Broadcasting is about addressing large numbers of individuals and the spontaneous responses of those people are of great value, not least to the creative broadcaster. But they should not be used for purposes for which they are not suitable.

The most absurd use of letters is when a station attempts a spurious estimate of its audience size by multiplying every letter received by 100 or 200 and claiming this as a true audience estimate! I know of at least two international radio stations which have used this nonsensical method!

This leads to another rule to remember. There is no relationship between numbers of letters and numbers of listeners or viewers. The BBC Arabic Service audience grew in 1990-91 during the war in the Gulf. The number of letters fell. The BBC Hindi language service has about 20 times as many listeners as the Tamil language service. It receives about the same number of letters. However, letters can stimulate research. When producers receive letters which tend to reflect one dominant view, research in the field among a representative cross-section of listeners or viewers can reveal the true state of opinion on the matter.

Data Analysis

The rapid advances of computer technology have opened up enormous opportunities for audience research. The work of data analysis used to be very complex and time-consuming. Computers speed and simplify the work. They have made possible the development of databases for audience information. Research was reported in long and comprehensive papers and documents. This is still done but it is not always necessary or desirable. Data can be stored and information provided on request as it is needed. For example, surveys almost always provide far more information than can be digested in a single report. What do the users need at any time? If a comprehensive database on audiences is maintained and kept up-to-date, it can be used to answer questions as they occur.

Interpretation and Terminology

Most audience research activity is quantitative. A lot of figures are produced. What do they mean and what do we do with them? The answer depends a good deal on the purpose of providing the figures.

We measure audiences for programmes but what do we want to measure? What measure of the audience interests us? This is not a silly question. If we say that the evening news on television's main national channel had a 20% audience, what does this mean?

Coverage

The first point to be clear about is the coverage - what is the *universe*? 20% of what? It could be the population aged 4 and over, 12 and over, 14 and over, depending on the age covered by the research method.

Is it 20% of everyone over that age, or 20% of people in TV households? Usually figures are given for whole populations not only TV households, but one needs to make it clear. We discover that we mean that 20% of the population aged 12 and over watched this particular news bulletin. Is that clear now? Are there any further questions?

What do we Mean by "Listen" or "Watch"?

If someone watched for only one minute a news programme lasting half an hour, did he or she "watch" the programme? What if he or she watched for ten minutes? What about fifteen minutes? At what stage do we admit the person to membership of the audience to the programme? There is no correct answer to this question. Different measures are used for different purposes but it is important to be clear, when we use figures, exactly what they mean.

Try another way of measuring audiences. One might ask the question "How many people in Zambia listen to Radio Four?" What is meant by this question? What would it mean if we said that half the adult population listen to Radio Four? We might mean that on average, each day, half the population listen to at least one programme on Radio Four. We might mean that on average, each week half the population listen. Or we could mean that of all the radio listening that occurs, half of it is to Radio Four. Or we could mean that on average, at any time, about half the radio listening is to Radio Four.

All these measures, and there are more, mean different things. They are all used at various times and they have different uses. They are very different. You can easily have a TV station which is heard by at least half the population in a week which reaches only 20% of them on a single day and which has less than 5% of the TV audience at any time and even less of a share overall. Note the uses of these words "reach" and "share". They are used a lot in audience research. There follows an explanation of some commonly used terminology. The list is neither exclusive nor complete. Other measures exist. No doubt specially designed measures could still be devised for different circumstances, especially in underdeveloped regions where special audience research needs may emerge.

Some Audience Research Terms

Reach

The percentage of the population (usually over a certain age) who listened to or watched at least some of a programme, or part of a network, during a day or week. Thus we have three common uses:

Programme reach: The percentage who watched or listened to at least some of the programme (A minimum period needs to be defined. It could be a minute, or it could be at least five minutes. Practice varies.)

Daily Reach: The percentage of the population who watch or listen at least once to the network in question in a day.

Weekly Reach: The percentage who watch or listen at least once in a week.

Reach is a useful figure for public service broadcasters who need to know if their services are reaching the majority of the population who pay for them. It may be that no single programme or a public service network enjoys the largest audience figures. But if the network is appealing to many different tastes and interests it can, across a day or, even more so, a week, have an impressive reach. Thus, if we take Radio Four in the United Kingdom, we find that at no time does its audience exceed 4%, but it has a weekly reach of 14% of the population. No BBC Radio programme reaches an audience higher than about 5% but the weekly reach of any BBC radio in 1989 was 59%. Commercial radio reached 33% in an average week. 29

The television figures are also interesting. BBC2, the second channel, tends to carry more minority interest programmes than BBC1. Its largest audiences are about 5% or 6%. Yet its weekly reach is an impressive 77%.³⁰

In the USA, Canada, Australia and some other countries, the term "cumulative audience" or "cume" is used. It means the same as "reach" but is often used for very short time periods. For example, one reads of quarter-hour "cumes" meaning the number or percentage of people reached or accumulated in one quarter of an hour.

Amount of Listening or Viewing

Reach obviously tells us nothing about the *quantity* of listening or viewing. How much time do people spend watching television or listening to the radio?

For an example, we can use television audience figures for France for the week June 3rd to 9th 1991. The average amount of viewing per individual aged 6 and over is given as an average for one day.

Channel	<u>Hours and Miautes</u> <u>per Day</u> %
TF 1	1.14
Antenne 2	0.40
FR 3	0.24
Canal Plus	0.09
La Cinq	0.20
M 6	0.15
All Others	0.02
Any TV	3.04

It is important to note what these figures mean. It is rather unlikely that they represent any individual's viewing behaviour! The figures are obtained by adding up all the viewing to each channel and dividing the total by the number of individuals.

Share

The amount of viewing or listening translates very easily into *share*. The term is derived from market research. In the washing powder market, for example, we might say that Surf had a 20% share. This would mean that of all the sales of washing powder, 20% of the sales (usually by volume, not price) was of the Surf brand.

In the above list, the total amount of viewing is three hours and four minutes. Share is calculated as a percentage of that daily average.

<u>Channel</u>	<u>Share</u> %
TFI	40.1
Antenne 2	21.6
FR 3	13.0
Canal Plus	4.7
La Cinq	10.6
М б	8.1
All Others	1.9
Any TV	100.0 %

How Research is Used

Research is not done for its own sake. It must have a purpose. Public service broadcasters throughout the developed world have faced the problem in recent years of intense competition from commercially funded broadcasters. They have used research to meet this challenge by seeking to understand viewer and listener behaviour better so as to maintain audience loyalty. Research has also been an essential element in seeking to demonstrate publicly the value of continued support from public funds (licences, taxes or other) for public service broadcasting. Research can determine the use made by the public of various services which may not have high levels of overall popularity but which serve separate minority interests and tastes. For example, commercial broadcasters usually target large audiences with considerable spending power in order to attract advertisers wishing to sell their goods and services. Public service broadcasters may do the same for part of the time; many raise funds through advertising in precisely the same way. Both need audience research data to demonstrate to advertisers what kinds of people and how many are "delivered" by different programmes and at different times. But public service broadcasters have a wider mandate. They derive their existence from the claim to serve all the people of a country or region. They may seek to raise levels of cultural awareness and to produce programmes which are challenging and worthwhile in quality and content. Many public service broadcasters are major sponsors of the arts, employing orchestras and drama units, commissioning new examples of creative writing and new music. Few of these things attract sufficient advertiser interest and usually need public funding, often through public service broadcasting. Audience research can be used to determine levels of public support for this which is not simply attached to the numbers in the audience.

We find here that the concept of separate and distinct minority interests is important. Public service broadcasters can, through surveys and qualitative research, demonstrate support from those who appreciate very highly the cultural fare on offer, even though quantitatively the audiences may not be large. Similarly, they may seek to serve other minority interests through specially targeted programmes. The BBC in Britain, the CBC in Canada and many other public service broadcasting corporations have programmes for ethnic minorities, for farmers, for school leavers, for people interested in photography, antiques, philosophy or history. Sometimes such programmes can and do have a wider, even mass appeal. But support for such programming can come from those with strong attachments to these subjects. Specially targeted research can be designed to discover if the intended audiences of farmers, teachers or

subject enthusiasts are being reached and, if so, what they think of the programmes. There is a tendency now in many public service broadcasting stations towards more emphasis on this kind of programme and the research needed to support it.

But public service broadcasting stations also wish to attract general audiences through making popular programmes of wide appeal. Audience research is an essential part of any strategy to do this. New Zealand's National Radio, reorganised and renamed recently to meet the intense competition of private stations, has made substantial use of audience research in this process. Research provided detailed information about the times of day different age groups listened and the different interests and preferences of these groups. For example, older listeners who were prominent among the afternoon audience, preferred European light classical music and wanted more of it. The network carried a lot already but this was not the perception of the listeners who like this kind of music. It was decided to devote an hour to classical music between 3 and 4 p.m. After the change, research showed a favourable reaction. There was an increase in listening.

National Radio broadcast a lot of news and current affairs, especially during the morning peak when a news programme "Good Morning New Zealand" runs from 6 am to 9 am. Audience measurement, which in New Zealand is done by the diary method, showed a declining audience. Further investigation showed the audience loss was to a commercial competitor at 7 am. Some qualitative research through focus groups (group discussions) was commissioned. Some of these were conducted among existing listeners. while others researched were from among those who had stopped listening to the programme. The research focused on four issues:

-The morning routines of both listeners and lapsed listeners and how these influenced listening habits. -The characteristics of those who listen to National Radio and those who have lapsed.

-The characteristics of occasional and potential listeners.

-Reaction to the content and format of "Good Morning New Zealand" and competitor stations' breakfast programmes, especially at 7 a.m.³²

When the groups met, extracts from both the National Radio and the competitor in the period 7 to 7.14 am were played. The results showed that National Radio's presentation at 7 am made it sound to listeners like the beginning of an hour long programme of indepth interviews. In contrast the competitor provided a news summary with a roundup of local, national, international, sports, financial and weather news. National Radio's offering was not perceived as a news bulletin at all. It started with a bulletin at 7 a.m. but it was not clearly differentiated in the listeners' mind from what followed. As a result of this research, New Zealand's National Radio made changes to its "Good Morning New Zealand" running order.

Similar research in other industrialised or urbanised parts of the world into radio listening before work in the morning shows that listeners appreciate fairly rapid and concise summaries of the main news items, weather, traffic news and so on, interspersed with related reports and interviews. Usually, few people listen at this time to more than 30 minutes and the programme or sequence structure needs to take account of this. Most listeners will join and leave the programme at various points between its beginning and end. If programme producers don't structure their programme accordingly, listeners may be lost, especially in an intensely competitive environment.

In RAI, the national public service broadcasting network in Italy, audience research took on a considerably enhanced role when, in the 1980s, the Italian broadcasting environment was transformed by competition. Hundreds of private TV and radio stations appeared during the period. Most were small and lacked financial power to challenge RAI's dominance. However, there soon developed a large commercial radio and TV company, now one of the largest anywhere in Europe, Berlusconi's company Finninvest, which had the financial power to make inroads into RAI's audiences. RAI has used audience research to meet this challenge.

RAI's audience research department, Servizio Opinioni, has used TV meter data to look in the minutest detail at the channel switching behaviour of viewers. When they switch from RAI1 or RAI2, where do they switch to? What is on the other channel and what are they switching away from? The audience research department was able to answer these questions and the programme schedules were able to make changes accordingly. As a result, and unlike many other public service channels in Europe, RAI has retained a majority share of the audience. Critics argue that it has done so at the expense of quality in programmes. They point to the absence of documentaries on Italian TV and the higher level of what is seen as rather trivial light entertain-However, RAI has used audience ment. research also to segment its audience, that is to identify different tastes and interests and, most importantly, different life styles and times of viewing. It is this sort of research, using the now very detailed data available from electronic meters, which can help public service or commercial broadcasters achieve their objectives better - of targeting different interests or groups with the material in which they are interested.

In Italy new programmes are often pre-tested. Going back a stage, sometimes even before a pilot programme is made, a new concept or idea will be submitted for research. What do potential viewers or listeners think of the idea? RAI has re-introduced the technique used in the United States in the 1930s and 1940s, of coincidental telephone interview, but not for audience measurement. Viewers or listeners have been asked for their opinions of what they have just heard or watched. One of the consequences of this research has been a strengthening of those aspects about which respondents have been positive.

As one of RAI's researchers explains, "RAI presents live broadcasting as its hallmark - both in news reporting and in light entertainment shows hosted by well-known personalities - and thereby creates an image of being constantly in touch with the real world..... This is the result of a precise strategy." ³³

The Ghana Broadcasting Corporation has a small audience research department which is there to "determine whether GBC is achieving the stated aims of broadcasting, namely to inform, educate, entertain and activate". It points out that Ghana has a particular need for audience research. The people who make the programmes "are usually people who have had a Western-oriented education. They live in urban areas and their cultural values and outlook may in some ways have alienated them from the relevant environments in which they operate. [Thev] cannot claim to have sufficient knowledge of their audience's habits, tastes, needs and aspirations"34.

The attitude of both management and production staff is not always positive and helpful. Often audience research departments are bearers of bad tidings or report things that contradict or question existing assumptions. GBC's Audience Research Department warns new staff not to expect to be popular. There is an important task to be done to help production staff understand audience research and help them produce better programmes.

Audience research can help broadcasters improve their capacity to raise revenue. Even in relatively poor countries it is necessary to obtain accurate audience data so as to determine appropriate prices for advertising at different times of the day on TV and radio. This has been one important function of the Ghana Broadcasting Corporation's small research unit since it was established in the mid 1950s.

Despite its modest facilities and budget, GBC's audience research has been able to show that a morning transmission on TV would be viable and that there was popular demand for football commentaries in indigenous Ghanian languages. When research showed that schools were not using educational broadcasts intended for them these broadcasts were stopped and the problem was investigated before they were restarted. It was found that school time-tables did not fit in well with the broadcast schedules. The subjects did not harmonise with what the schools were doing. Many schools did not have listening facilities; others had problems getting sets repaired and so tried to use them as little as possible! Some schools were not served by electricity and could not afford to buy dry cell batteries. Some of these problems have been overcome and, since the transmissions restarted, take-up has improved.

Many TV stations pre-test films and imported programmes to find out beforehand what viewer reaction is likely to be. It may be that unanticipated reactions will be discovered. For example, it may be found that a particular series is appreciated more by older people but less by the generality of viewers. Such a programme might be placed at a time especially suitable for older people.

Many radio and television stations have meetings to review programmes. These programme review boards, as they are often called, usually include someone from the audience research department. He or she can do a number of important and useful things. Programme makers need advice on interpretation of whatever audience research data are available for the programmes being reviewed. Or it may be that the timing of the programme is being discussed. The researcher can come with evidence about audiences at the time of day when the programme is broadcast. Producers are often fond of quoting from listeners' and viewers' letters or phone-calls. "This programme series has been immensely popular; I have had a sack-load of mail" is a not uncommon boast. Or alternatively another person present may say of a programme, "it's not very popular and we do seem to have had a lot of complaints". Producers engaged in creative work pay a good deal of attention to the views of colleagues. The representative from the audience research department has the important and heavy responsibility of speaking for the listener and viewer. What validity do the letters have? Is the programme as popular as the producers boast? Do the complaints reflect a general view?

The research expert won't always have answers to all the questions. Almost always there will be some things unknown or only partially covered by research. Programme reviews can have the vitally important role of linking research to the production process and of making a systematic and on-going study of the audience an integral part of the creative process in broadcasting and of the planning that goes into the commissioning and scheduling of programmes.

But the research department's members need to use great sensitivity. The head of research at Czech Radio recently put it this way. "Radio employees consider themselves to be creative personalities and therefore they do not like to confess any outside influence at all."35. He went on to point out that audience research is only one of many influences on broadcasting decisions and it is not easy to separate one from another. Audience researchers need to have the humility and common sense to accept that programmes should never be entirely led by audience But what is to be done when it research. appears that no notice is taken of their efforts? It is unprofessional for audience researchers to attempt to interfere; the task is to go on with the work of providing accurate, reliable and useful information, even when it appears that little use is being made of it.

A senior person in the BBC once told me he took no notice of the audience measurements we provided for him. I later discovered that he wasn't telling the truth, for when I asked him about some schedule changes he had made and some revisions to programmes, he admitted, rather sheepishly, it was because of what he knew about audiences from our research! This story might be dismissed as a case of awkwardness on his part. I don't think that this was so. Audience research data are noticed by everyone who sees them. Often what happens is that people absorb the information and then forget where they got it!

Interestingly, I find producers often much more interested in qualitative research than audience measurements. They are often fascinated by watching video recordings or hearing audio cassettes made of group discussions about their programmes. It is the kind of feedback they get from no other source. Conversations they have with listeners or viewers tend to be coloured by politeness. Listeners' and viewers' letters are useful, even stimulating or infuriating. But nothing is the same as comments of members of the audience obtained in a neutral situation.

Some producers, not surprisingly, like to boast about millions of viewers or listeners There can be an to their programmes. unhealthy obsession with numbers. Audience researchers know that a change in audience from one week to the next of one percentage point is probably not statistically significant and may be within the margin of error inherent in all sample surveys. This is a dilemma for the researcher. He or she has to speak up and explain that the increase may not be real. But this would seem to be casting doubt on the value of the exercise among people who have a secret belief, perhaps, that surveys are a bit doubtful anyway! Sensitivity, a thick skin and persistence are all qualities needed in our profession!

Research by itself neither achieves nor improves anything. It is the intelligent use of data from research, combined with other relevant information and the creativity of the programme makers which have impact. Research doesn't make decisions or changes, although sometimes the results of research point firmly in a certain direction. Usually, information about audience behaviour or response will enable programme makers, schedulers, planners, announcers and many others in the industry, make more informed choices and decisions in their work.

It is difficult to prove a link between improved broadcasting performance and audience research. One audience research executive wrote to me, "Over the past few years our management has paid increasing attention to research. Our audience sizes have increased and audiences are a little more satisfied than previously but we couldn't prove that these outcomes are due to the research."

What matters most are high standards in research and a commitment by management to the activity and to the use of the results. Research, supported by management, will address the concerns of the organisation and, if professionally and thoroughly carried out, research can only enhance the ability of the organisation to meet objectives, to grow, to improve and to change when change is necessary. Any business enterprise or public service requires accurate and relevant information. In a broadcasting organisation, audience research supplies an essential area of information about broadcasting activity.

Audience research can have a very important role in the development of broadcasting. In India, research has been used to provide information to guide decisions about new television and radio services. In the last few years a number of new local radio services have been started. In each case, surveys of radio listening habits in the locality were conducted at the planning stage.

Television development in India has also been guided to some extent by audience research since 1982 when national television began in India. It has gradually been extended to all main urban centres. Audience research was used to plan this development in a very mixed and large country. Research provided information on timing, content and language for the new programmes. Research showed, for example, that television in India would succeed more if it made full use of the visual aspect of the medium and less reliance on the spoken word. Research also enabled the planning and development of successful new programme series.³⁶

One thing however needs to be remembered at all times by anyone involved in using audience research. It is never the whole story and can never provide all the answers. It does not substitute for imagination and creativity. Audience research cannot tell if a new idea will translate successfully into a programme or series. It can only, with considerable difficulty, tell if a new series or programme type is likely to be popular. What it can do is to provide the kind of information, both of a quantitative and qualitative kind which will enable creative programme makers decide, and to help give those decisions a better likelihood of success.

The death in 1991 of radio producer and writer Andrew Boyle reminded me of one such case. Before 1965 at 1.00 p.m. there was a news bulletin on the BBC's Home Service (later renamed Radio Four), followed by various programmes, not of current affairs. Audiences were small. Andrew Boyle was convinced that a large audience could be built for an extended news magazine programme. Another idea he had was to employ a Fleet Street journalist as a presenter, instead of using a trained BBC newsreader (and one whose spoken style made most BBC voice specialists wince!) The programme "The World at One" was very successful, both in gaining audience and in enhancing the BBC's public service position. The successful programme team put together by Boyle went on to add two other programmes with similar degrees of success. Audience research can supply some information to help decisions of this kind. It can show low audiences at a time

when they could be higher. It can research what people might be interested in hearing. It can even try our new programme ideas by using test or pilot programme material in discussion groups. But all this effort works best in harness with the creative energy and ideas of talented and imaginative programme makers.

Notes and References

1. BBC, World Radio and Television Receivers, London: World Service, International Broadcasting and Audience Research, 1991.

2. Matthew Chappell, Radio Audience Measurement, New York: Stephen Daye, 1944, p.2.

3. Quoted in Peter Menneer, "Broadcasting Research: Necessity or Nicety? "Intermedia: May 1984, Vol 12, No.3.

4. Robert Silvey, Who's Listening?, London: George Allen and Unwin, 1974., p.14.

5. Jonathan Lynn and Antony Jay, The Complete Yes Prime Minister, London: BBC Books, 1989, pp 106-107.

6. Rajeshwar Dyal Cable Television: Glitter or Doom, New Delhi, Indian Institute of Mass Communication, 1992.

7. D.J. Casley and D.A. Lury, Data Collection in Developing Countries, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1981, p.95.

8. Ghana Broadcasting Corporation, Audience Research Department, internal memorandum.

9. For a fuller examination of the audience measurement problem see Peter Menneer, "Towards a Radio 'BARB' - Some Issues of Measurement", ADMAP, February 1989, pp 42-5.

10. Hugh Malcolm Beville Jr., Audience Ratings, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum, 1988, p.88.

11. Ibid, pp 98-98.

12. There are ways of overcoming the absence of telephones with a meter system. Meters can produce an electronic record which can be collected from the household.

13. Robert Silvey, op. cit., p.64.

14. Ibid

15. Ibid, p.65

16. Silvey, op.cit. p.92.

17. Ibid.

18. Ibid, p.97.

19. Dennis List, Radio Survey Cookbook, Adelaide: Australian Broadcasting Corporation, Audience Research Department, 1990.

20. B.K. Khurana, "Mechanism of Feedback for Rural Television", Communicator, April 1984, pp.26-40.

21. Robert Silvey, Op. Cit., p.83.

22. Peter Jenkins and Richard Windle, "The New Listening Panel", in Annual Review of BBC, Broadcasting Research Findings, No.11 1985, pp 37-44.

23. Ghana Broadcasting Corporation, internal memorandum.

24. Eila Romo, "A Burmese Research Study - Over the Air", *Ricefields Journal*, Vol.III No.1, March 1990, pp. 5-7.

25. Pamela Reiss, "Continuous Research for Television and Radio: The 1980s Approach", Annual Review of BBC Broadcasting Research Findings, Number 8, 1981/2, pp. 13-26.

26. Quite often, qualitative research through group discussions can show that audience and producer definitions of what a programme is about can differ considerably! This may not matter but it can be an eye-opener to a producer!

27. Anne Laking and Mick Rhodes, "Q.E.D: Research for a Second Series", Annual Review of BBC Broadcasting Research Findings, Number 9, 1983, pp. 118-120.

28. B.K. Khurana "Research in Doordashan", Communicator, January 1987, pp. 6-17.

29. Ian Paynter "Radio Trends in the 1980s", Annual Review of BBC Broadcasting Research Findings, Number 17, 1991, pp.13-25. Rosemary Newell "Trends in Television Viewing", Ibid, pp.1-11

30. Ibid.

31. Mediamat, Mediametrie, Semaine du 3 juin au 9 juin 1991.

- 32. Rosemary Whewell, Research Director, National Radio, Wellington
- 33. Nora Rizza, "Television Images", RAI n.d.
- 34. GBC Audience Research Department: Internal Memorandum.
- 35. Jaroslav Kostal, Audience Research Director, Czech Radio.
- 36. B.K. Khurana, Director of Audience Research, Doordashan, New Delhi.

Appendix 1

INTERVIEWER'S MANUAL Ghana Broadcasting Corporation

The Importance of Your Role in the Research

As an interviewer you will be playing an important role in the exercise. You are one of a team of about 70 interviewers with common goal of obtaining accurate and complete information about certain programmes of the GBC.

The quality of the Research will depend to a large extent on the effort you will make and the thoroughness with which you, and your fellow interviewers, will carry out your tasks. The information you collect becomes the foundation upon which all research reports will be based. The research reports cannot be better than the data you obtain.

2. You should not abandon your work: You are expected to work conscientiously and complete the area assigned to you in good time. You are not supposed to sit in your house and answer the questions yourself. You will not be permitted to resign from your work once you have started except for a very good reason.

3. You are not to engage in any other activity during the interviewing period.

Always remember that you are strictly forbidden to engage in any other activity such as petty trading, political or religious propaganda during the period of interviewing.

4. No unauthorised person should help in your work.

You should not permit anybody, not even members of your family to help in your work. Only trained interviewers or persons who are acceptable to the respondent are allowed to help you.

Your Behaviour as an Interviewer

1. Your behaviour is important - The success of the whole exercise depends to a large extent on how well the people you interview co-operate in giving you the information you ask for. Your success depends greatly upon your manner of approach.

2. How to approach the people - Whenever you are about to enter a house for the interview, remember that you are a stranger to the house and you must therefore observe all the rules and customs governing visits to other people's houses.

- a) Knock before you enter
- b) Greet the people in the customary way
- c) Look cheerful
- d) Ask for an elder of the house and explain to him briefly the object of your visit.

Example:Good Evening Sir/Madam, I am a research assistant from the GBC and my work is to interview some people in this area about some of our programmes.

The information you give me will be treated as strictly confidential and will not be disclosed to anybody. This information will help the GBC to produce programmes to the taste of the public.

e) Immediately after your brief explanation you should proceed to obtain the information required. Do not spend more time than necessary with any person.

3. Language of the Interview - You should as far as possible conduct your interview in a language which is understood by the person who is answering your questions.

4. The dress you put on matters - Do not do anything to frighten the people whose cooperation you are seeking. Therefore do not dress like a policeman, a soldier, a tax-collector, a sanitary inspector or a scout. Put on a simple dress which will not arouse suspicion.

5. Patience and tact are needed - Remember that you should be very patient however provocative a respondent may be. This is very necessary in order to obtain the co-operation of all kinds of people. You must not under any circumstances lose your temper because this can disrupt the entire exercise and make it difficult for you to proceed further. You should also be courteous and friendly.

6. Things you must do:

a) As far as possible, only adults should be interviewed. Information should be obtained from children only where it is specifically stated.

b) You must always carry your Identity Card.

c) You must study the questionnaire thoroughly in order to do your work efficiently.

d) You must discuss all your problems and uncertainties with the field supervisor (H.A.R.).

e) You must be patient, tolerant, and courteous at all times when dealing with respondents.

f) You must always conduct the interview in such a way that the respondents get the feeling of 'confidentiality'.

7. Things you must not do:

a) You must not permit any unauthorised person to accompany you on your visits.

b) You must never discuss politics or religion, nor should you allow yourself to be involved in any controversial arguments while engaged on the research exercise.

c) You must not argue with your respondents.

d) You must not disclose to anyone, except to Research Officials, any information you receive in the course of your duties as an interviewer.

e) You must not permit any unauthorised person, not even a member of your family to see the completed questionnaires.

f) You must not delegate your work as an interviewer to another person.

8. The success of the Research depends on how well you carry out your tasks as an interviewer. Among other things, you must be conscientious and honest. Do not hesitate to bring to the notice of the Head of Audience Research anything which strikes you as being doubtful. Note that your entries will be scrupulously checked after interviewing and you will be asked to go back to the field and correct all your mistakes. Appendix 2

Some Examples of Questionnaires and Diaries in Recent or Current Use.

I NEW ZEALAND

Radio Diary produced in a booklet form. This is part of a diary used in Auckland to measure listening by day, time and network. Each day runs for a week. Only one day is included here as an example, but all the instructions are reproduced.
PERSONAL DIARY OF RADIO LISTENING

DIARY ISSUED TO:

For week commencing Saturday:

To be collected on:

Your interviewer is:

Interviewer phone number:

OTR SPECTRUM Research



A PERSONAL NOTE

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this important study. It is designed to accurately measure the audiences to different radio programmes and stations. Your participation and diary completion is extremely important as it helps make sure that radio stations provide the type of programmes and music that people like to hear.

Please complete this diary of radio listening even if you do not listen to radio at all, or only infrequently - you are as important as those who listen for much of the day or night. Also don't let your normal radio listening patterns change just because you are completing this diary.

All information obtained from you, including your answers to the questions at the back of this diary, remain strictly confidential. Only aggregated statistical information is given in our reports.

This survey is an official audience measurement survey. The reports and information are widely used by the radio industry. Your participation and that of others in your household, ten years of age and over, will make the results a more genuine reflection of the radio listening patterns and preferences of all New Zealanders.

Once again thank you for your help with this survey.

Regards,

Chris Sutcliffe MANAGING DIRECTOR.

HOW TO COMPLETE THIS DIARY

There are basically two sections to be completed by you. At some time during the week that you hold this diary, please turn to the inside back cover and complete the questions listed. When our interviewer initially called on you, or your household, he/she also obtained classification details such as age grouping, sex etc and these are partly in code form on the outside back cover. (We use this information to make sure we have the right number of people of different age and sex groups in the survey).

The main section to be completed by you is the diary itself.

THE DIARY

To achieve the greatest accuracy, please record your listening when you listen, or as soon as possible thereafter.

Record all your radio listening. This includes:

AT HOME •either inside your home or in the garden.

IN THE CAR •either in your own car or in another car.

AT WORK •at your normal place of employment.

ELSEWHERE

•anytime you are away from home while shopping, at the beach, on a picnic, at a friend's place etc.

Tick the appropriate station square for every 15 minutes of listening, when you have listened for eight minutes or more.

Check what you have recorded at the end of each day for accuracy, including the correct Radio Station or Stations. Please remind other members of the household to also check their diaries.

If you listen to any station(s) not actually listed by name in this diary, write the call sign or name of the station(s) in the column headed "OTHER".

May we take this opportunity of saying in advance, on behalf of all Radio Stations and others-

Thank you most sincerely for your co-operation.

OTR SPECTRUM RESEARCH

RADIO STATION IDENTIFICATION

Radio Stations are listed in this diary by their call sign or permanent name, and their frequency or frequencies,

Sometimes stations use other names or slogans to identify themselves on air.

Their current names and slogans are listed here to help make sure you record your listening in the correct radio station columns in the diary.

89FM	=	The All New 89FM Always A Better Music Mix
91FM	=	The New Rock Of The 90's, Auckland's 91FM
CONCERT	=	Concert Programme (FM)
BFM	=	Louder Than A Bomb
97FM	=	Classic Hits 97FM
RADIO i 98FM	=	Easy Listening Radio VEasy Listening i 98FM
HAURAKI 99FM	=	Auckland's Original Rock Station
AOTEAROA	=	Real Kiwi Radio
PACIFIC	=	Radio Pacific, The Talk Of Auckland
NATIONAL RADIO	=	National Radio 1YA
AM NETWORK	=	The AM Network (Including Access Radio)
1ZB	=	Entertaining And Informing Auckland

OTR SPECTRUM Research

3/91

SATURDAY

	<u> </u>												
······	12	∢ر 			STAT	IONS		ENE	о то				
ATION ATION	SOFW	91 FM	68¥ 17830	BFM	97FM	RACIO I SOFM	HALL- RAXI SHFL	AOTE-	PAC- IFIC	HAT- ICNAL RADIO	AM NET- WORK	128	OTHE: (write (n)
3 hr	89,4	91.0	92.5	95. 0	97 A	98.2 MHz 1332	99 1475 1475	603	702	755	8872	1080	
			HH2 7	MHz	MHz 5	10Hz 6	121-12	KHZ R	kHz G		11	12	- 12
5 AM - 5.15	<u> </u>						-					12	13
5,15-5,30					×7							<u> </u>	
5.30 - 5.45					1								
5.45 - 6.00	T												
6 AM - 6.15	$\Box \mathbf{\nabla}$												
6.15-6.30	$\overline{}$												
6.30 - 6.45													
6.45 - 7.00													
7 15 - 7 10	<u>├</u> ───							· · · ·	~				<u> </u>
7 30 - 7 45	┝──-												
7.45 - 8.00									~~				
8 AM - 8.15													
8.15-8.30					~	116Y	mil	a	-				
8.30 - 8.45													
8.45 - 9.00									i				i
9 AM - 9.15													-
9.15-9.30						$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$				1			
9.30 - 9.45						\checkmark							
9.45 - 10.00	 						~						
10 AM - 10.15							<u></u>			F			L
10.15 - 10.30													
10.45 - 11.00													
11 AM - 11.15								Ž					
11.15 - 11.30			~										
11.30 - 11.45						i							
11.45 - 12.00													
12 PM - 12.15				\sim									
12.15 - 12.30													
12.30 - 12.45				~									
12.45 • 1.00	ļ												
1 15 1.15		L X,											
1.15 - 1.30	!												
1.45-2.00	<u> </u>												
2 PM - 2.15	i									-5		<u> </u>	
2.15 - 2.30											7		
2.30 - 2.45											- v		
2.45-3.00											- ``		Kini
3 PM - 3.15							i						FM
3.15-3.30					1								15
3.30 - 3.45													5
													×
3.45 - 4.00							.	المعا	nal				
3.45-4.00 4 PM-4.15						NO	115	1011	-01				
3.45-4.00 4 PM - 4.15 4.15-4.30					•	1 - 2							
3.45-4.00 4 PM-4.15 4.15-4.30 4.30-4.45						1.5							
	PM - 4.15	PM - 4.15 4.15 - 4.30	PM-4.15 4.15-4.30	PM-4.15 4.15-4.30	PM-4.15 4.15-4.30	PM-4.15 4.15-4.30	PM-4.15 4.15-4.30	PM-4.15 4.15-4.30	PM-4.15 4.15-4.30				

Have you recorded all your listening, both at home and away from home and in the car?

SATURDAY



SATURDAY



Have you recorded all your listening, both at home and away from home and in the car?

Have you recorded all your listening, both at home and away from home and in the car?

II SOUTH AFRICA

A Television Viewers Panel Questionnaire in booklet form, distributed to panel members throughout South Africa. This is one of the shortest and simplest I have seen.

TELEVISION VIEWERS PANEL

100 91066 AUCKLANDPARK 2006 # (011)714-3700

H٧	∕d₩	//ep
----	-----	------

05.11.90

TELEVISION 1

BESTE PROFESSOR

Broadcust at 22:00 on Monday 5 November (Simulcast: The Paper Chase)

1. How much of this programme did yo	ou see?
--------------------------------------	---------

Watched the entire programme	1
Watched part of the programme	2
Watched another TV channel	3
None - I could not watch - mark appropriate Item: (Broadcast time not suitable)	40
(Olher reason)	4b
None - I chose not to watch talevision	

IF YOU DID NOT WATCH THIS PROGRAMME (Ie on 5 November) PLEASE CONTINUE WITH QUES-TION 6.

 Did you watch this programme with the Afrikauns soundtrack or the English simulcast on radio?

1

2

Afrikaans soundtrack

English simulcast

BESTE PROFESSOR (Contd.)

3. If you chose answer number 1 in the previous question - what did you think of the voice used for Professor Kingsley?

VERY			NOT AT ALL		
APPROPRIATE			APPROPRIATE		
1	2	3	4	5	

4. What do you think of the time of broadcast of this programme?

Too	La

Just right Too early

e

L	1	J
[2]
[3]

2

3

5

 $\overline{}$

- Please rate this programme by choosing one of the following.
 - Extremely Interesting and/or enjoyable
- Very Interesting and/or enjoyable
- Fairly interesting and/or enjoyable
- Not very interesting and/or enjoyable

Not at all interesting and/or enjoyable

Dear Panel Member.

In this questionnaire we would like to hear your opinion on programmes that were broadcast in the week 5 November to 11 November 1990.

It is important to keep in mind that you must not make a special effort to watch television because you are on the viewer's panet. We are only interested in your ordinary viewing habits. Therefore, we want you to watch only those programmes that you would have watched in the normal course of events. We are just as interested to know which programmes you did not watch as those you did.

Please return the whole questionnaire to us after completion. Use the enclosed brown envelope for this purpose, and post your answers on MONDAY 12 NOVEMBER 1990, or as soon as you can after this date.

Your name and opinion will remain completaly confidential. Only a report based on the combined response from all panel members is supplied to the appropriate programme departments.

Thank you once again for your assistance with this research.

Your sincerely

HELEN VAN DER WALT (MISS) RESEARCHER : DIRECTORATE BROADCASTING RESEARCH

ORKNEY SNORK NIE

Broadcast at 19:00 on Tuesdays

6. How regularly do you watch ORKNEY SNORK NIE?

Every week	1
Two to three times a month	2
Once a month	З
Less often than once a month	4
Never	5

IF YOU CHOSE ANSWER NUMBER 5 IN THE PRE-VIOUS QUESTION PLEASE CONTINUE WITH QUESTION 17.

7. When you watch ORKNEY SNORK NIE how much of an episode do you usually watch?

The whole episode (le 30 minutes)	1
20 - 29 minutes	2
10 - 19 minutes	3
Less than 10 minutes	4

8. Do you think this programme is?

VERY			NOT AT ALL		
FUNNY			FUNNY		
1	2	3	4	5	

ORKNEY SNORK NIE (Contd.)

HOW CONVINCINGLY DO YOU THINK THE FOL-LOWING ARTISTS PORTRAY THEIR ROLES?

.

9. Anette Engelbrecht as "Maggie ".

VERY	VERY CON-		NOT AT ALL		
VINC	VINCINGLY		CONVINCINGLY		
1	2	3	4	5	

10. Zack du Plassis as "Hendrik ".

VENY VINC	CON-		NOT AT ALL CONVINCINGLY		
1 2		3	4	5	

11. Jacquas Loois as "Oupa ".

VERY	CON-		NOT A	T ALL	
VINC	NGLY		CONVINCINGLY		
1	2	3	4	5	

12. Frank Opperman as " Ouboet ".

VERY CON-			NOT AT ALL		
VINCINGLY			CONVINCINGLY		
1	2	3	4	5	

III BELGIUM (FRANCOPHONE)

RTBF distributed this questionnaire to panel members asking them to record both their viewing by time, channel and programme and then to record their opinion. This is an example of television audience measurement which has almost entirely been replaced by meters in developed countries.

The completed questionnaire - covering two days - is constructed in such a way as to fold easily into a post-paid envelope (see the first page).

PORT PAYE PAR LE DESTINATAIRE

Cité de la Radio et de la Télévision

(local 10M35) Boulevard Reyers

1040 Bruxelles

Cher(e) correspondant(e),

Nous vous remercions de votre collaboration qui permettra aux responsables des diverses stations de télévision de mieux adapter leurs programmes aux goûts du public.

Veuillez remplir ce questionnaire du

au

Votre collaboration sera efficace si :

- vous remplissez ce formulaire chaque jour (et non en une fois à la fin de la semaine);
- vous indiquez toutes les émissions que vous avez regardées (même celles que vous n'avez pas regardées en entier);
- vous le remplissez vous-même.

Ne regardez la télévision ni plus ni moins que d'habitude.

Voulez-vous inscrire :

- le titre de l'émission ;
- la station (l'émetteur) où vous l'avez regardée : RTBF 1, Télé 21, BRT 1, BRT 2, TF 1, A 2, FR 3, RTL, etc...;
- à quelle heure vous avez commencé à la regarder, à quelle heure vous avez cessé de la regarder;
- votre avis sur l'émission, de la façon suivante :

Si vous jugez	l'émission	EXCELLENTE vous	is inscrivez		
,, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	**	TRES BONNE	11	Т	
39 32	"	BONNE	**	В	
** **		QUELCONQUE	Þ	Q	
22 SS	**	MAUVAISE	**	М	
33 33	> 1	TRES MAUVAISE, NULLE	<u> </u>	Ν	

(A la page suivante, il y a un exemple.)

* NOTEZ AUSSI l'heure à laquelle vous regardez une émission télévisée enregistrée précédemment en vidéo et donnez lui une cote.

Veuillez avoir l'obligeance de renvoyer ce bulletin lundi. D'avance, nous vous remercions de votre collaboration.

EXEMPLE

Supposons que durant une journée, vous ayez regardé la 1.V. de la manière suivante :

De 12h.15 à 12h.25, vous avez suivi "La Cuisine" à RTL que vous avez trouvée bonne (*).

De quelle à quelle heure 7	A quelles Stations 7	Titre des émissions que vous avez vues ce jour	Votre opinion sur cette émission	
1)				
de 12.15 à 12.25	RTL	La cuisine	B	
De 19h.30 a 20h. Iournal TV que vo	00, vous av ous avez tro	rez pris la R.T.B.F. uvė très bon (*).	1 pour le	
2)			[
de 19.30 à 20.00	R.T.B.F. 1	J.T. 1	Т	

A 20h.00, vous êtes passé jusqu'à 20h.30 à FR3 où il y avait des variétés que vous avez trouvées excellentes (*).

3)			
de 20.00 à 20.30	FR3	La classe	Е

De 12h.00 à 13h.30, vous avez suivi "Bon Jour" à RTL que vous avez trouvée bonne (*).

De 22h.00 à 22h.45, vous ne regardez rien (*).

4)			
de 20.30 à 22.00	T.F.1	Titre du lilm	М
5)			
de 22.00 à 22.45	P	as regardé	

Puis vous reprenez la RTBF 1 à 22h.45 pour regarder le dernier journal T.V. qui vous a paru quelconque (*).

6)			[
de 22.45 à 23.00	R.T.B.F. 1	J.T. 2	Q
7)			
de 23.00 à	Ferme		

(*) Voici comment vous auriez du ce jour-là remplir votre bulletin.

LUNDI		Si vous jugez l'émission EXCELLENTE vous inscrivez E TRES BONNE » T BONNE » B QUELCONQUE » Q MAUVAISE » M TRES MAUVAISE, NULLE » N		MARDI	Si v EXCELLE TRES BO BONNE QUELCO MAUVAIS TRES MA	Si vous jugez l'émission EXCELLENTE vous inscrivez E TRES BONNE » T BONNE » B QUELCONQUE » Q MAUVAISE » M TRES MAUVAISE, NULLE » N				
•	De a quelt	quell s he	e ure ?	A quelles Stations 7	Titre des émissions que vous avez vues ce LUNDI	Vatre opinion sur celle émission	De quelle à quella heure ?	A quelles Stations 7	Tilre des émissions quo vous avez vues ce MARDI	Votre opinion sur celle émission
1)							1)			
de 2)	••••	à				,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	deà 2)			
de 3)	•••••	à			,		de à 3)			
de 4)	• • • • • • • • • •	à			,		de à 4)			
de 5)	•••••	à				••••	de à 5)			
de 6)		à		1	····· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ··		deà 6)			·····
de 7)		à	.,				deà 7)		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
de 8)		à	·····				de à			
de 9)		à	•		 		deà 9)			
de 10)		à					deà 10)			
de 11)		à					deà			
de 12}		à					de à 12)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
de	····	à					de àl	<u>.</u> l.		

IV FIJI

This questionnaire was used in an *ad hoc* survey commissioned by the BBC World Service in 1992, principally to measure listenership to international radio broadcasting. But it also measures audiences for domestic radio and TV as well as domestic media equipment.

It shows examples of most of the different kinds of questions outlined on pages 17 to 19.

List Questions: 3, 16, 17b, 19, 20a, 20b, 20d, 23a, 23b, 27.

Category Questions: 1a, 1b, 4, 13, 14, 15b, 20e.

Questions 5 and 8 are special kinds of category questions in which block and time are recorded.

Scale Questions: 18, 20g.

Quantity Questions: 22.

Open-Ended Questions: 26b.

Grid Questions: 1c, 1d, 2a, 2b, 5b, 6, 9, 10, 11, 12a to 12c.

Note the other common category of question. 5a, 7b, 15a, 17a, 20c, 20f, 24 and 25 require a simple yes/no answer.

Note also the "routing" instructions. For example, if in reply to Question 4 the respondent never watches TV, the interviewer goes straight to Question 7a. If, in answer to that question the respondent never listens to radio, the interviewer goes to the demographic questions at the end.

Routing instructions are very important. They must be carefully worked out and be clear to the interviewer when working under pressure in the field.

Ask All Respondents

Q. 3	Which of the following equipment	t in working Radio receiver	1		
	order do you have in your home?	Television receiver Video recorder Telephone Satellite dish	2 3 4 5		
Q. 4	How often if at all, do you watch Television? Would you say it is most days, at least once a week, or less often than once a week?	Most days [6 or 7 days a week] At least once a week Less often than once a week Absolutely never [Go to Q. 7a]	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\$	Ask Q. 5 Go to Q. 7a	
Q. 5a	Did you watch television yesterday?	Yes No	1 2	[Ask Q. 5b] [Go to <u>Q</u> . 6]	

Q. 5b What time or times of the day did you watch television yesterday? Please try to give specific times for all the times that you started and stopped watching. Code Every Listening Time In The Grid Below.

TV	List	ening	Times	Grid
----	------	-------	-------	------

<u>Mor</u>	<u>ning</u>		<u>After</u>	<u>noon</u>			Ever	ning/Nig	<u>zht</u>	
5.00	-5.29 a	m 1	12.00	-12.29	pm 1	15	7.00	- 7.29	рт	29
5.30	-5.59 a	m 2	12.30	-12.59	pm 1	6	7.30	- 7.59	, pm	30
6.00	-6.29 a	m 3	1.00	-1.29	pm 1	17	8.00	- 8.29	pm	31
6.30	-6.59 a	m 4	1.30	-1.59	pm 1	18	8.30	- 8.59	pm	32
7.00	-7.29 a	m 5	2.00	-2.29	pm l	19	9.00	- 9.29	рт	33
7.30	-7.59 a	m 6	2.30	-2.59	рт 2	20	9.30	- 9.59	pm	34
8.00	-8.29 a	m 7	3.00	-3.29	рт 2	21	10.00	-10.29	pm	35
8.30	-8.59 a	m 8	3.30	-3.59	pm 2	22	10.30	-10.59	pm	36
9.00	-9.29 a	m 9	4.00	-4.29	pm 💈	23	11.00	-11.29	рт	37
9.30	-9.59 a	m 10	4.30	-4.59	pm = 2	24	11.30	-11.59	pm	38
10.00	-10.29 a	m 11	5.00	-5.29	pm 2	25	12.00	-12.29	am	39
10.30	-10.59 a	m 12	5.30	-5.59	pm	?6	12.30	-12.59	am	40
11.00	-11.29 a	m 13	6.00	-6.29	pm 2	?7	1.00	- 4.59	am	41
11.30	-11.59 a	m 14	6.30	-6.59	рт 2	28	9.00	- 9.29	рт	33

Q.6 I am going to read the names of some television stations, including some which come from outside Fiji. For each one, can you tell me how often, if ever, you watch it: most days, at least once a week, or less often than once a week?

Read Out Each Station Name

	Most days	Once a week	Less often	Never
Fiji 1		2	3	
TV NZ		2	3	
ABC		2	3	
Cable News Network/CNN		2	3	
<i>ITN</i>	<i>I</i>	2		
NBC		2	3	
World Service Tel/BBC		2	3	

- Q.8 What time or times of the day did you listen to the radio yesterday? Please try to give specific times for all the times that you started and stopped listening. Code every Listening Time in the Grid below.

<u>Mon</u>	<u>ning</u>			After	<u>noon</u>			<u>Ever</u>	ing/Nig	<u>ht</u>	
5.00	- 5.29	am	1	12.00	-12.29	рт	15	7.00	- 7.29	pm	29
5.30	- 5.59	am	2	12.30	-12.59	рт	16	7.30	- 7.59	рт	30
6.00	- 6.29	am	3	1.00	-1.29	рт	17	8.00	- 8.29	pm	31
6.30	- 6.59	am	4	1.30	-1.59	рт	18	8.30	- 8.59	рт	32
7.00	- 7.29	am	5	2.00	-2.29	рт	19	9.00	- 9.29	рт	33
7.30	- 7.59	am	6	2.30	-2.59	рт	20	9.30	- 9.59	рт	- 34
8.00	- 8.29	am	7	3.00	-3.29	рт	21	10.00	-10.29	рт	35
8.30	- 8.59	am	8	3.30	-3.59	рт	22	10.30	-10.59	pm	36
9.00	-9.29	am	9	4.00	-4.29	рт	23	11.00	-11.29	рт	37
9.30	-9.59	am	10	4.30	-4.59	pm	24	11.30	-11.59	pm	- 38
10.00	-10.29	am	11	5.00	-5.29	pm	25	12.00	-12.29	am	39
10.30	-10.59	am	12	5.30	-5.59	рт	26	12.30	-12.59	am	40
11.00	-11.29	am	13	6.00	-6.29 -	рт	27	1.00	- 4.59	am	41
11.30	-11.59	am	14	6.30	-6.59	рт	28				

Ask All Respondents

Q.9 As you may know, it is possible to listen in Fiji to foreign radio stations which broadcast on shortwave from countries outside Fiji. Do you know any radio stations which broadcast programmes to Fiji from other countries? Code In Grid Below Under Unaided Awareness.

In Q. 10, you must ask about each station from the list below which has not already been named by the respondent in Q. 9.

Q. 10 Do you know of Read Out Each Station In Rotated Order Starting Withbroadcasting to Fiji? Code in Grid as Aided Awareness.

Stations	Q. 9 Unaided Awareness	Q.10 Aided Awareness	Not aware
Radio Australia		1	<i>1</i>
BBC London	2		2
Voice of America			3
Radio Netherlands			4
Deutsche Welle/Voice of Germany	5	5	5
Radio Japan NHK	6	6	6
Radio New Zealand			7
Radio Moscow		8	8
Radio Beijing		9	9
All India Radio			
Sri Lanka B.C.			11
Radio France International			12
FEBC Radio International			13
Adventist World Radio - Voice of Hope			14
Radio Veritas Asia			15
Trans World Radio			16

If Respondent is not aware of any Foreign Stations, Go to Q. 19

Ask Q. 11 for each foreign station which respondent is aware of, from either Q. 9 or Q. 10

Q. 11 Now I am going to read the names of the foreign stations that you know of again. For each of them, car you tell me if you have listened to that station at least once in the past 12 months, Code in Grid below i first column.

Q. 12a & 12b: For each station heard at least once in the past 12 months, ask about listening in the languages included in the grid.

- Q. 12a In what language do you listen? Probe for all languages listed: What about? Code in Grid, the for each station and language heard, ask Q 12b and 12 c.
- Q. 12c And have you listened to it in the last seven days?

Q. 11 Station Heard Yes No			Q.120 Lang	a uage		Q.12B Regulariı	у	Q.12 7	c
12			Yes	No	Most days	weekly	Less often	Lası 7 day Yes	s N
12	Radio Australia	English Hindi	1 1	2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	BBC World Service	English Hindi	1 1	2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
1 2	Voice of America	English Hindi		2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	Radio Netherlands	English	1	2	1	2	3	1	2
12	Deutsche Welle	English Hindi	1 1	2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	Radio Japan NHK	English Hindi Japanese	1 1 1	2 2 2	1 1 1	2 2 2	3 3 3	 	2 2 2
12	Radio New Zealand	English	1	2	1	2	3	1	2
12	Radio Moscow	English Hindi	1 1	2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	Radio Beijing	English Hindi	1 1	2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	All India Radio	English Hindi		2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	Sri Lanka B.C.	English Hindi		2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	FEBC Radio International	English	1	2	1	2	3	1	2
12	AWR, Voice of Hope	English Hindi	$\begin{vmatrix} 1\\1 \end{vmatrix}$	2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2
12	Radio Veritas Asia	English Hindi	1 1	2 2	1 1	2 2	3 3	1 1	2 2

Qs 13 to 18 are for BBC LISTENERS IN ENGLISH (any regularity): Others to Q.19

Q. 13	You have told me that you listen to the BBC? in English. What are the main reasons why you listen to the BBC in English? Would you say it is to hear? Read Out	Pop music News Bulletins Analysis of news stories To improve your English Or for some other reason	1 2 3 4 5	Write in
Q. 14	When did you first, listen to the BBC?	In the past year or so Within the past five years Before then	1 2 3	(1991/92) (Since 1987)
Q. 15 ₃	When you listen to the BBC do you ever listen English language lessons on the BBC?	Yes No DK/Can't say	1 2 3	Ask Q. 15b Go to Q. 16
	If Yes: Q. 15 b How often would you sa that you listen to these English languag lessons on the BBC? Would you say it most days, at least once a week, or less often than once a week?	y Most days e Once a week is Less often	1 2 3	
Q. 16	When you listen to the BBC which wav You use to receive the BBC? Do not re but prompt if necessary: I mean do you on AM, FM, long wave (LW) or short w	eband do FM/VHF ead list, MW/AM i listen LW vave (SW) SW	1 2 3 4	Go to Q. 18 Go to Q. 17
Q. 17a	a You say you listen to the BBC on Short In the last couple of months, have you any difference in the reception quality BBC between 11.00 pm and 11.30 pm a	t Wave. Yes noticed No of the DK/Can't say at night?	1 2 3	Ask Q. 17b Go to Q. 18
	All who answered 'yes' to Q.17a			
Q. 17t	Would you say that in general receptio has got better, stayed the same, or got	n quality Better worse? Same Worse DK/Can't say	1 2 3 4	

Q. 18 I'd like you to think about the quality of the programmes you hear on the radio. Now, thinking about all the BBC programmes you hear, how would you describe the usual quality of these programmes? If you have a scale of 1 to 5 and a score of 5 means very good, and a score of 1 means very poor, what score would you give to the BBC's programmes on average? [Interviewer prompt only if necessary: by quality, I mean whether it is a well-made, interesting, professional sort of programme]

Very Poor		Ver	y Good		
1 2	3	4 5	i	Don't know / can't say	6

Q.19	Which Fijian radio station or	Radio Fiji 1 (in Fijian) Padio Fiji 2 (in Hindustani)		Ank () 20 -
	least once a week? Mark all	Radio Fiji 3 (in English)	······································	лык <u>(</u> . 20 а
	that apply: Do not prompt.	Magic 104 (in English)	4	
		FM 96 (in English/Fijian)	5	
		Radio Rajdhani FM 98 (in Hindi)	6	
Navtarang RM 97.4/98.8/101.6 (in Hindi)			7	
		Other (Write in)	8	

Ask All Radio Fiji Listeners [identified above] Others to Q. 21

Q. 20a As you may know, Radio Fiji broadcasts some programmes produced by foreign radio stations. Do you know where any of these programmes originate from? Mark All That Apply. Do Not Read Lis

Radio Australia	I	Ask Q. 20b
BBC/BBC World Service/BBC London/London	2	
Radio New Zealand	3 (Go to Q. 20c
Other	4 (-
Don't Know/Can't say	5 ⁷	

All Who Say 'Radio Australia' only: Others to Q. 20c

Q.20b Can you name any of the programmes	News	1	
on Radio Fiji that come from Radio	Sports World	2	
Australia? Do Not Read List	Rugby League	3	
	Horse Racing	4	
	Other	5	Write In

Ask All Radio Fiji Listeners

Q.20c	Have you in the last twelve	Yes	 1	Ask Q. 20d
	months listened to any programmes	No	 2	Go to Q. 21
	on Radio Fiji that come from the			
	BBC in London?			

Ask All Who Listen to BBC World Service on Radio Fiji

Q. 20d Which BBC programmes do you listen to on Radio Fiji? Can you name them for me? [Probe if necessary. What about? For each programme not mentioned. Record unprompted answers in 1st column, prompted answers in 2nd column

	<u>Unprompted</u>	<u>Prompted</u>	Does not <u>listen</u>
Can't name any/Don't know			
BBC News at 8.00 am local			
BBC News at 10.00 pm local			
Your World	<i>I</i>		
International Money Programme			
Top of the Pops			
In Concert (Pop Programme)			
Jarokha (in Hindi or R.Fiji 2)			
Other (Write down details)			-

Q.20e	And about how often do you listen to any BBC programmes on Radio Would you say it is most days, at least once a week, or less often than once a week	Most days Fiji? At least once a week Less often than once a week	 1 2 3
Q.20f	And have you listened to any of these BBC programmes on Radio Fiji in the last seven days?	Yes No	 1 2

Q. 20g I'd like you to think about the quality of the programmes you hear on the radio. Now, thinking about a the BBC programmes you hear on Radio Fiji, how would you describe the usual quality of these programmes? If you have a scale of 1 to 5 and a score of 5 means very good, and a score of 1 means ve poor, what score would you give to the BBC's programmes on average? [Interviewer prompt only if necessary: By quality, I mean whether it is a well-made, interesting, professional sort of programme]

1 2 3 4 5 Don't know / can't say 6

All Radio Listeners

Q.21	I'd like you to think	Radio Fiji 1 (Fijian)	<i>1</i>		
	about how much you trust	Radio Fiji 2 (Hindustani)	2		
	the news that you hear	Radio Fiji 3 (English)	3		
	on the radio. Thinking	Magic 104 (English)	4		
	about all the radio	FM 96 English/Fijian)	5		
	stations that you listen	Radio Rajdhani FM 98 (Hindi)	б		
	to, including those /	Navtarang RM 97.4/98.8/101.6 (Hindi)	7		
	from inside and outside Fij	i, Radio Australia	8		
	which station's news would	BBC World Service			
	you say that you really trus	t Radio New Zealand	10		
	most of all?	Other	11	Write in	

Ask All With a Radio Set in Household (From Q.3)

- Q. 22 How many radio sets in working order do you have at home (including car radios)?
- Q. 23a I would like to find out what wavebands you have on your radio. May I please look at your best radio set to see what wavebands it can receive? **Do Not Check Car Radios.**
- Q. 23b Which short wave bands do you receive?
- - SW 4 Ask Q. 23b

1

Metres Megahertz

Write in [

1 1	20 1
13	212
16	173
19	154
25	115
31	96
41	77
49	68
60	59
75	4 10
90	311
None iden	tified 12

If inspection of set is not permitted or it is impossible to identify bands on set, ask questions 24 and 25

If inspection of set is not permitted or it is Q. 24 I would like to know whether you have at a that can pick up short wave broadcasting. know, most of what you hear nowadays fro in this part of the world is on FM or AM, b broadcasting from abroad, especially from long way away, can only be heard on short you tell me whether you have a radio set ca receiving short wave broadcasts?	s impossible to identify bands on set, ask questions 24 and 2. least one set Yes 1 As you may No 2 om stations but much a stations a wave. Can apable of
Q. 25 Do you have a radio set with digital reading	g? Yes 1 No 2
Demographics	
Q. 26a Do you work full time or part time?	Full time1Ask Q. 26bPart time2 5 Student 3 $60 to Q. 27$ Housewife 4 5
Q. 26b If full time/part time work: What is your job? Write in.	
	CONSTRUCTION OF OUTER WALLS
Q. 27 Record Type of Housing TYPE OF LIVING QUARTERS Does this household live in	Is the building constructed with walls of concrete, brick or cement
an independent dwellinga building housing two or more households a hotel or lodging house other, specify	1permanent walls of tin or corrugated iron32walls of traditional bure materials43walls of makeshift or improvised materials54walls of other materials, specify6
Respondent Name	
Address	
Time	Date
Time Interviewer Name	Date

Suva	 1
Lautoka	 2
Small Town	 3
Village	 4
Settlement	 5

Fiji Radio Survey

Record Respondent Details

Fijian	1	Male	••••••	1
Indian	2	remaie	•••••	2
Other	3			

Q.1a Firstly, about how old are you? 30 - 44 2 45 - 59 3 60 +4

Q.1b	What level of schooling did you go to (or are you at now)?	No School Primary/Elementary Secondary/Junior High College University	 	1 2 3 4 5	
------	---	---	------	-----------------------	--

Q. 1c What is the main language you normally speak at home? (Circle in column 1 below)

Q. 1d What other language or languages spoken in Fiji do you understand? (Circle in column 2 below)

	Q. 1c <u>Main Language</u>	Q. Id <u>Other languages understood</u>	
Fijian	1	1	
Hindustani	2	2	
English	3	3	
Other	4	4	

Ask All Respondents Who Understand English (From Q. 1d): Others Go To Q.3

- Q. 2a How well do you understand spoken English? Would you say you understand English very well, a reasonable amount, or a little?
- Q. 2b And how well do you speak English? Would you say you speak English very well, a reasonable amount, or a little?

	Q. 2a <u>Understands</u>	Q. 2b <u>Speaks</u>
Very well	1	1
Reasonably well	2	2
A listle	3	3

V POSTAL QUESTIONNAIRE

This example was used in 1991 by the BBC World Service to send to listeners in all parts of the world who had been identified an a previous listening diary as listeners to science programmes.

Note the wording of the letter, the attractive layout and the clear instructions to the respondent - especially important in any self-completion questionnaire.

Note also the use of open-ended questions, especially the last one, included here so that the respondent is free to say whatever he or she may be burning to say but which may not have been covered!

BBC WORLD SERVICE SCIENCE QUESTIONNAIRE

August 1991,

Dear Listener,

Thank you for your interest in BBC World Service science programmes. We were very interested in hearing from you.

We are currently carrying out research to find out what listeners think about science programmes on the BBC World Service. As you have shown an interest in our programmes recently, we thought that you might like to be included in this project.

We would be very grateful if you could fill in the following questionnaire and return it to us as soon as possible. Of course anything you tell us will be treated in the strictest confidence. Simply answer all the questions and place the completed quetsionnaire in the envelope provided: you do not even have to pay for the postage.

As well as helping us in our research, by sending us the completed questionnaire you will have a chance to win a special BBC prize. All the forms we receive will be entered in a prize draw. The first ten entries selected at random will each win a copy of John Hamilton's book, *They Made Our World*, based on the BBC World Service series.

Thank you again for your help in our efforts in improving the quality of Science programmes on the BBC. We hope you will continue to listen to and enjoy BBC World Service programmes, and good luck in the prize draw!

Yours,

John Neuen

John Newell, Editor, BBC Science, Industry and Exports Unit.

[1]

tick	the appropriate box () in the often do you usually watch tele Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month	following qu evision?	estions:			
How	often do you usually watch tele Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month	evision?				
	Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month	g,				
	Never					
How	often do you usually listen to t	he radio?				
	Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never					
How	often do you ususally listen to	BBC radio ir	n a languag	e other than	English?	
	Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never					
How	often do you usually listen to t	the BBC Wor	ld Service	in English?		
	Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never					
How World	often you listen to each of the 1 Service in English?	following ty	pes of prog	rammes bro	adcast by t	he BBC
		Every day or almost every day	At least Once a week	At least Once a month	Less Often	Never
	Drama & Cultural English Lessons Features, Talks & Documentaries Music (classical, light and pop) News & Current Affairs Religion Science, Technology & Medicine Sports Trade, Industry & Finance	s 0, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				
	How How World	At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often do you ususally listen to Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often do you usually listen to the Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Less than once a month Never How often you listen to each of the World Service in English? Drama & Cultural English Lessons Features, Talks & Documentarie: Music (classical, light and pop) News & Current Affairs Religion Science, Technology & Medicine Sports Trade, Industry & Finance	At least once a month 2 At least once a month 3 Less than once a month 4 Never 5 How often do you usually listen to BBC radio in Every day or almost every day 1 At least once a week 2 At least once a week 2 At least once a month 3 Less than once a month 3 Less than once a month 3 Never 5 How often do you usually listen to the BBC Wor Every day or almost every day 1 At least once a month 3 Less than once a month 4 Never 5 How often you listen to each of the following type World Service in English? Every day Orama & Cultural 1 English Lessons 1 Features, Talks & Documentaries	At least once a month Less than once a month Less than once a month Never 	At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often do you usually listen to BBC radio in a language other than Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often do you usually listen to the BBC World Service in English? Every day or almost every day At least once a month Never How often do you usually listen to the BBC World Service in English? Every day or almost every day At least once a month Less than once a month Less than once a month Never How often you listen to each of the following types of programmes brow World Service in English? Every day At least or almost Once a every day week Music (classical, light and pop) News & Current Affairs Features, Talks & Documentaries Music (classical, light and pop) News & Current Affairs Religion Science, Technology & Medicine Sports Trade, Industry & Finance	At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often do you ususally listen to BBC radio in a language other than English? Every day or almost every day At least once a week At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often do you usually listen to the BBC World Service in English? Every day or almost every day At least once a month Never How often do you usually listen to the BBC World Service in English? Every day or almost every day At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often do you usually listen to the BBC World Service in English? Every day or almost every day At least once a month Less than once a month Never How often you listen to each of the following types of programmes broadcast by t World Service in English? Every day At least or almost Once a Once a Newek Drama & Cultural English Lessons Features, Talks & Documentaries Music (classical, light and pop) News & Current Affairs Religion Science, Technology & Medicine Sports Trade, Industry & Finance



9. Are there any topics not currently covered by BBC science programmes that you would like to hear on the World Service?

Yes No (Please	go to question 10) \Box_2
IF YES:	Please tell us which other scientific topics you would like the BBC to offer.

52

53-55

56 57 58

10. Do you find the following aspects of science programmes too difficult, about right, or too simple for you?

	Too	About	Too
	Difficult	Right	Simple
Level of English Presenters' explanations Subjects covered			

[4]

11. The following is a list of statements people have made about science programmes on the BBC World Service. Please tell us whether you tend to agree or disagree with each of them.

		Agree	Disagree	Don't Know	
	The presenters on BBC science programmes use complicated words I sometimes do not understand.	Ω,		۵,	59
-	The subjects on BBC science programme are too technical for non-specialists to understand.	D,	۵	□,	60
	Presenters make complicated subjects seem easy.	D,	_ 2	0,	61
-	BBC science programmes should be more lively: it is sometimes a little boring just hearing people talking.	ū,	۵,	0,	62
	BBC science programmes are too short: often there is not enough time to go into the details I would like.	D,	_ 2	Ο,	63
-	BBC science programmes are too elementary. I would like science programmes that assume a higher level of education.	Q,	۵	۵,	64

Yes No (Plea	se go to question 13) \Box_2^1					
IF YES:	Which programmes' fa	actsheets have	you receiv	ed?		
	Health Matters New Ideas Seeing Stars Other (Please spe	cify)			-	
	Do you think each of t fair or poor?	he following a	spects of t	he factsl	neets are	good,
			Good	Fair	Poor	Don' Knov
	Clarity of presents				_	_
Would you lil	Relevance of info Time taken for the (Please state how	rmation e factsheet to ar many weeks)				
Would you lik Yes No (Plea	Relevance of info Time taken for the (Please state how te any other BBC science se go to question 14)	programmes to lease write in)	o offer fac	ssheets to	o listener	rs?
Would you lik Yes No (Plea IF YES	Relevance of info Time taken for the (Please state how are any other BBC science se go to question 14)	programmes to lease write in)	o offer fac		o listener	-s?
Would you lik Yes No (Plea IF YES	Relevance of infor Time taken for the (Please state how te any other BBC science se go to question 14)	programmes to	o offer fac	csheets to	o listener	
Would you lik Yes No (Plea IF YES Do you subsc Yes No (plea	Relevance of infor Time taken for the (Please state how te any other BBC science se go to question 14) Which programmes? (P 	Programmes to		sheets to	o listener	
Would you lik Yes No (Plea IF YES Do you subsc Yes No (plea IF YES	ribe to London Calling? se go to question 15)	calling gives of	rive	ails about	o listener ut scienc	



	Which of the following magazines do you read	regular	rly or once in a while?	
	Re	gularly	Once in a while	
	BBC Nature Magazine BBC World Magazine National Geographic Nature New Scientist New York Times Technology Supplement Science Science News Scientific American Other (please specify)			
. T.	he following is a list of reasons people have given to ogrammes. Please tell us which statement best app	for liste lies to y	ning to BBC science you.	
			Applies	
	 I listen to science programmes on the BBC to her all the latest research developments in my work. 	ar about	Ω,	
	 I know nothing about science but I like to I programmes which explain things in a way understand. 	isten to I can		
	 Listening to BBC programmes is a good way of about science. 	learning	Ο,	
	 I am not particularly interested in science progra only listen to them when there is nothing else to 	mmes. I do.	Ω.	
	 I listen to BBC science programmes to get advic health and other scientific issues. 	e about	Ο,	
•	Are there any comments or suggestions you would programmes on the BBC World Service?	like to	make about science	
				-
				-
			····	-
				-
				-

19.	Name:		.				
20.	Address: _						
21.	Sex: Male), Fema	le 🗋 2				
22.	Age: (Please w	rite in years)					
23.	Nationality: _						
24.	What is the his Primary Secondan Further ec but no University	ghest level of o ducation t degree level	education yo	u have co	ompleted?		
25.	How well do y A little Fairly well Very well	ou understand	spoken Eng	lish?			
26.	Are you learni Yes No (Pleas	ng English at t	the moment?				
	IF YES:	How are yo	u learning E	nglish?			
		Secor Eveni Radio Books Family	ndary School ng classes s y/Friends		University Private Tutor Television Audio cassettes/Recor Time spent abroad	rds	
27.	Occupation: (P	lease write in))		······		
Than our s	nk you for taking science unit to pr	g part in our s oduce the sort	urvey. Your of programm	help in c les you w the BBC	ompleting this question ould like to hear. We have World Service in Eng	nnaire will as ope that you v lish Rememi	sist will

VI CANADA

Not a questionnaire, but a warning about using research results.

The Bureau of Broadcast Measurement (BBM) in Canada produces this amusing poster to send to customers for its audience measurement service throughout the country.

These results should be adhered to strictly in any country's audience measurement system. They must indeed be treated as if "written in stone" like the Ten Commandments brought down the mountain by Moses!

Thou shalt not mess with the survey.

HERE ARE THE NEW BBM RADIO RULES TO FOLLOW TO ENSURE A TRUE, AND HONEST SURVEY. CONSIDER THEM WRITTEN IN STONE.

<u>Rule "1:</u>

RATING DISTORTION.

Diaries and their recipients are strictly off-limits to staff members. Any solicitation by a station publicly or privately is a violation of BBM's rules and regulations.

Rule *2: RATING BIAS

This includes initiating contact with diary-keepers, on-air attempts to influence them, or any on-air references to an ongoing or upcoming survey. Rule *3: IMPROPER USE OF BBM PROPERTY.

BBM frowns upon any misrepresentation of audience data in promotional material by not completely or accurately identifying the data.

Rule '4: COOPERATION.

In order to assist BBM in coming to a fair judgement, your full assistance and disclosure is required in any investigation of a possible breach.

*Refer to booklet of Ratio Rules and Regulations for further details.





BBM BUREAU OF MEASUREMENT. RADIO RULES AND REGULATIONS.

Bibliography of Broadcasting and Audience Research Books and Articles

1. Books on Social and Market Research and Statistics

- Belson, William A. Validity in Survey Research. Aldershot, Hants: Gower Publishing Company Limited, 1986.
- Birn, Robin; and Hague, Paul; and Vangelder, Phyllis. A Handbook of Market Research Techniques. London: Kogan Page Limited, 1990.
- Bulmer, Martin; and Warwick, Donald P. Social Research in Developing Countries: Surveys and Censuses in the Third World. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 1983.
- Casley, D.J.; and Lury, D.A. Data Collection in Developing Countries. Oxford:Clarendon Press, 1981.
- de Groot, Gerald. "Deep, Dangerous or just plain Dotty?". European Research (ESOMAR) 14:3 (1986).
- de Vaus, D.A.. Surveys in Social Research (Second Edition). London: Unwin Hyman Ltd, 1990.
- Epstein, T. Scarlett; Gruber, Janet; and Mytton, Graham. A Training Manual for Development Market Research Investigators. London: BBC World Service, International Broadcasting Audience Research, 1991.

ESOMAR. (European Society for Opinion and Marketing Research),

Seminar and Conference Papers:

Qualitative Methods of Research - A Matter of Interpretation. Amsterdam, Netherlands, 1986.

International Marketing Research: New Tasks, New Methods, New Scenarios. Ljubljana, Yugoslavia, 1991.

International Marketing Research. Englefield Green, UK, 1988.

Research in Arab Countries: Problems and Solutions. Cairo, Egypt, 1987.

Methodological Advances in Marketing Research in Theory and Practice. Copenhagen, Denmark, 1984.

- Feldwick, Paul, and Winstanley, Lorna. "Qualitative Recruitment: Policy & Practice," Market Research Society Conference Papers, London: Market Research Society, March 1986.
- Fitz-Gibbon, Carol Taylor; and Morris, Lynn Lyons. How to Analyze Data. California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.
- Frey, James H. Survey Research by Telephone. London: Sage Publications, Inc., 1989.
- Gordon, Wendy; and Langmaid, Roy. Qualitative Market Research. Aldershot: Gower, 1988.

- Henerson, Marlene E; and Morris, Lynn Lyons; and Fitz-Gibbon, Carol Taylor. How to Measure Attitudes. California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.
- Herman, Joan L.; and Morris, Lynn Lyons; and Fitz-Gibbon, Carol Taylor. Evaluator's Handbook. California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.
- Hoinville, Gerald, and Jowell, Roger; and Associates. Survey Research Practice. Aldershot:Gower, 1977.
- Kalton, Graham. Introduction to Survey Sampling. London:Sage, Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences Series 35, 1983.
- King, Jean A.; and Morris, Lynn Lyons; and Fitz-Gibbon, Carol Taylor. How to Assess Program Implementation. California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.
- Langley, Russell. Practical Statistics For Non-Mathematical People. Newton Abbot, Devon: Pan Books Ltd, 1968.
- Marshall, Catherine, and Rossman, G. Designing Qualitative Research. London:Sage, 1989.
- Macfarlane Smith, Joan. Interviewing in Market and Social Research. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul Ltd., 1972.
- McCracken, Grant. *The Long Interview*. London: Sage, Qualitative Research Methods Series 13, 1988.
- Morgan, David L. Focus Groups as Qualitative Research. London:Sage, Qualitative Research Methods Series 16, 1988.
- Moroney, M.J. Facts From Figures. Harmondsworth, Middlesex, England: Penguin Books Ltd., 1951.

Morris, Lynn Lyons; and Fitz-Gibbon, Carol Taylor; and Lindheim, Elaine. *How to Measure Performance and Use Tests.* California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.

- Morris, Lynn Lyons; and Fitz-Gibbon, Carol Taylor; and Freeman, Marie E. How to Communicate Evaluation Findings. California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.
- Moser, C.A.; and Kalton, G. Survey Methods in Social Investigation. London: Heinemann Educational Books Ltd., Second Edition 1971.
- Narula, Uma; and Pearce, W. Barnett. Cultures, Politics, and Research Programs. New Jersey:Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc., 1990.
- Patton, Michael Quinn. How to Use Qualitative Methods in Evaluation. California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.
- Payne, Stanley L. The Art of Asking Questions. New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 1951.
- Peil, Margaret; Mitchell, Peter K., and Rimmer, Douglas. Social Science Research Methods: An African Handbook. London: Hodder & Stoughton, 1982.
- Pfaffenberger, Bryan. Microcomputer Applications in Qualitative Research. London:Sage, Qualitative Research Methods Series 14, 1988.
- Use and Abuse of Statistics. Harmondsworth, Middlesex, England: Penguin Books Ltd., 1964.
- Stecher, Brian M.; and Davis, W. Alan. How to Focus an Evaluation. California: Sage Publications, Inc., 1987.
- Stewart, David W., and Shamdasani, Prem N. Focus Groups - Theory and Practice. London:Sage, Applied Social Research Methods Series 20, 1990.
- Sudman, Seymour; and Bradburn, Norman M. Asking Questions: A Practical Guide to Questionnaire Design. London: Jossey-Bass Limited, 1982.
- Twumasi, P.A. Social Research in Rural Communities. Accra: Ghana Universities Press, 1986.

- Van Maanen, John,; Dabbs, James M. Jr., and Faulkner, Robert R. Varieties of Qualitative Research. London:Sage, Studying Organizations:Innovations in Methodology 5, 1982.
- Walker, Robert, (ed.). Applied Qualitative Research. Aldershot: Gower, 1985.
- Wolcott, Harry F. Writing up Qualitative Research. London:Sage, Qualitative Research Methods Series 20, 1990.

2. Media Research

- A Broadcast Research Primer. New York: National Association of Broadcasters, 1966, 1969.
- Agrawal, B.C.; and Chaudhary, S.V.S. Need Assessment Study of Educational TV Programmes: Rural Areas of Jaipur Upagraha.New Delhi: Doordashan, 1984.
- Ang, Ien. Desperately Seeking the Audience. London: Routledge, 1991.
- Barwise, Patrick; and Ehrenberg, Andrew. Television and its Audience, London: Sage, 1988.
- Becker, Lee B.; and Schoenbach, Klaus. Audience Responses To Media Diversification. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc., 1989.
- Beville, Hugh M. Jr. Audience Ratings: Radio, Television, Cable. New Jersey:Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc., 1988.
- Blankson-Mills, Maud. "Audience Research in West Africa." Combroad no.54 (January-March 1982):27 - 29.
- Boyd, Douglas A. "A Questionnaire Analysis of Mass Media Usage by Egyptian Elite Groups". Journalism Quarterly 55:3 (Autumn 1978):501 - 507.
- British Broadcasting Corporation. Annual Review of BBC Broadcasting Research, annually since 1973.

- Broadcaster/Researcher Co-operation in Mass Communication Research (Report on an International Seminar at Leicester University) 17-21st December 1970.
- Broadcasting Research Unit. Quality Television: Programmes, Programme-makers, Systems. London: John Libbey and Company Ltd., 1988.

CBC Audience Research, CBC Research Reports:

"Canadian-produced programming for Canadian TV Audiences: How are we doing?" 1990.

"CBC & CTV National News Ratings In Various Central Markets Across Canada." 1990.

"Les Attentes Et La Satisfaction A L'Egard De La Radio Et Plus Particulierement A L'Egard De La Radio Am De R-C: Etude D'Exploration Qualitative En Regions Quebecoises." 1990.

"Knowledge and Enjoyment of Television Personalities: Opinions of CBC English Network Panel Members." 1990.

"Some Facts About Cable Television in Canada: September 1989." 1990.

"Interest in Selected Topics for Information Programs: Annual Media Survey Results." 1990.

"The Importance of the CBC to Canadian Identity." 1990.

"Comparaison Des Donnees Par Audimetres Nielsen Vs. Les Cahiers D'Ecoute BBM Pour La Television Au Que. Et Au Canada: Saison Reguliere 1989-90 Du 18 Sept. 1989 Au 25 Mars 1990." 1990.

"1990 Qualitative Radio Study: Preliminary Report." 1990.

"CBC Audiences: How Are We Doing? / L'Auditoire SRC: Comment Ca Va? (Graphs)." 1990.
"1988-89 Annual Media Study: Attitudes Towards Advertising." 1990.

"University Students' Perceptions of the CBC." 1990.

"New Revelations: The National's Audience, Minute By Minute." 1990.

"1990 Qualitative Radio Study: CBC-Radio and CBC-Stereo Programs." 1990.

"How People Use Radio: An Updated Review Of Radio Listening Habits." 1990.

"Culture Vs. Commercials - Prediction Of The Costs and Service Effects of a More "Public" CBC: A Preliminary Report." 1990.

"1990 Qualitative Radio Study -Report V: Program Elements of World Report." 1990.

"1990 Qualitative Radio Study - Report VI: Program Elements of Stereo Morning." 1990.

"Trends in Cable TV Subscriptions, Revenues and Audiences." 1990.

"Usage of Various Radio Formats Among CBC Radio Listeners." 1990.

"Parliamentary Channels of the CBC National Satellite Network: An Update Of Availability, Programming And Audience - To Sept. 1990." 1990.

"Historical Audiences to CBC Radio/Stereo Programs: Fall 1984 - Fall 1990." 1990.

- Chappell, Matthew.; and Hooper, C.E. Radio Audience Measurement. New York: Stephen Daye, 1944.
- Drummond, Phillip; and Patterson, Richard (editors). Television and its Audience: International Research Perspectives. London: British Film Institute, 1986.
- Durand, Jacques. "Measuring Audiences Throughout Europe: Methods, Definitions & Variations". TV Symposium,

Tarrytown, N.Y. - 15th-19th October 1989.

EBU (European Broadcasting Union). Towards Development and Harmonisation of Television Audience Measurement Systems in Europe. Genera: EBU, 1991.

ESOMAR. (European Society for Opinion and Marketing Research),

Seminar and Conference Papers:

Acceptance Refusal and Return Rates in French Panels Dealing with Radio and Television Audience Research.Oslo, Norway, 1977.

The Expansion of Broadcast Media: Does Research Meetthe Challenges? Madrid, Spain, 1991.

The Quality of Media Information: How to Make Better Use of Media in a Time of Rapid Change. Copenhagen, Denmark, 1990.

Broadcasting Research: Experiences and Strategies. Paris, France, 1989.

Media and Media Research: How Far Can We Go? Madrid, Spain, 1988.

New Developments in Media Research. Helsinki, Finland, 2nd - 12th April 1986.

The Application of Research to Broadcasting Decisions. Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1987.

New Developments in Media Research. Helsinki-Espoo, Finland, 1986.

Broadcasting and Research. Englefield Green, UK, 1985.

Media Research: Does it Really Affect Media Planning? Lisbon, Portugal, 1984.

Improving Media Research. Stockholm, Sweden, 1982.

Frank, Ronald E.; and Greenberg, Marshall G. Audiences for Public Television. London:Sage, 1982.

- Giovannoni, David. "An Anthology of Essays on the Meaning, Design, Management, and Use of Public Radio's Audience and Programming Research. Radio Intelligence 1988 -1990. Washington D.C.:Corporation for Public Broadcasting, 1991.
- Goonasekera, Anura; and Kuo, Eddie C.Y. Affluence and Mass Media Behaviours among Youth in China, Japan, Korea and Taiwan. By Bradley S. Greenberg, Hairong Li, Linlin Ku and Hiroshi Tokinoya. Asian Journal of Communication. Republic of Singapore: Asian Mass Communication, Volume Two, Number One 1991.
- Goodhardt, G.J.; Ehrenberg, A.S.C.; and Collins, M.A. The Audience : Patterns of Viewing. Farnborough: Saxon House, 1975.
- Grenfell, Newell. Switch On Switch Off: Mass Media Audiences in Malaysia. Malaysia: Oxford University Press, 1979.
- Gupta, V.S. "Audience Research in Developing Countries." Media Asia. II:2 (1984): 76 - 78.
- Hart, Henry O. "The Method of Comparative & Continual Sampling." International Journal of Communication Research No.4 (1978).
- Hirsch, Paul M.; Miller, Peter V.; and Kline, F. Gerald. Strategies for Communication Research. London: Sage (Annual Reviews of Communication Research 6), 1977.
- Hoijer, Birgitta. "Studying Viewers' Reception of Television Programmes: Theoretical and MethodologicalConsiderations". European Journal of Communication (Sage: London, Newbury Park and New Delhi) Vol. 5: 1990.
- Ishikawa, Sakae. "The Assessment of Quality in Broadcasting: Research in Japan". Studies of Broadcasting, March 1991: No. 27.

- Ishikawa, Sakae; and Yasuko Muramatsu. "Quality Assessment of Broadcast Programming: Research Subjects for Future". *Studies of Broadcasting*. March 1991: No. 27.
- Jackson, Keith. "An Experiment in Listener Access." Combroad No.29 (October-December 1975):71 - 72.
- Jensen, Klaus B. "News as Social Resource: A Qualitative Empirical Study of the Reception of Danish News. European Journal of Communication. Vol. 3: 1988.
- Jensen, Klaus B.; and Rosengren, Karl E. "In Search of the Audience". European Journal of Communication Vol. 5: 1990.
- Jensen, Klaus Bruhn; and Jankowski, Nicholas W. *A Handbook of Qualitative Methodologies for Mass Communication Research*. London and New York: Routledge, 1991.
- Karunanayake, Kandana. "Focal Group Discussions: A Valuable Research Tool." *EBU Review* XXXVIII:2 (March 1987):18 - 21.
- Kasari, Heikki. Television Viewing in Finland. Helsinki:Oy.Yleisradio Ab., No.40:1989.
- Khodaiji, N; Delhi Doordarshan's Programme for Children: Use and Response. New Delhi: Lady Irwin College. 1983.
- Khurana, B.K.; "Research in Doordarshan" Communicator (January 1987).
- Khurana, B.K.; "Mechanism of Feedback For Rural Television" *Communicator* (April 1984).
- Kottak, Conrad Philip. Prime Time Society: An Anthropological Analysis of Television & Culture. California: Wadsworth, 1990.
- Kuby, Robert: and Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly. Television and the Quality of Life: How Viewing Shapes Everyday Experience. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., 1990.

Kulpok, Alexander. "Teletext Audience Research. "EBU Review XXX1V:2 (March 1983):20 - 23.

- Laird, Arthur. "Audience Research in the CBC." International Studies of Broadcasting. Tokyo:NHK (1971):291 - 301.
- Langham, Josephine. Radio Research: The Comprehensive Guide 1975-1985. London:BBC, 1986.
- Langham, Josephine; and Chrichley, Janine. Radio Research : An Annotated Bibliography 1975-1988. (Second Edition). Aldershot: Avebury, 1989.
- Lazarsfield, Paul F. "Trends in Broadcasting Research in the U.S." International Studies of Broadcasting. Tokyo:NHK (1971):183 - 199.
- Leggatt, Timothy. "Identifying the Undefinable: An Essay on Approaches to Assessing Quality in Television in the UK". *Studies* of Broadcasting, March 1991: No. 27.
- Lindlof, Thomas R. Natural Audiences: Qualitative Research of Media Uses and Effects. New Jersey: Ablex Publishing Company, 1987.
- Lindlof, Thomas R. "The Qualitative Study of Media Audiences". Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media. Vol. 35, No. 1: Winter 1991.
- List, Dennis. Radio Survey Cookbook. Adelaide: ABC Audience Research Dept., 1990.
- Maletzke, Gerhard. "The Development of Broadcasting Research in Germany." International Studies of Broadcasting. Tokyo:NHK (1971):201 - 218.
- McCron, Robin. "Social Research on Broadcasting in Britain". *Combroad* no.73 (October-December 1986):27 - 28.
- Menneer, Peter. "Broadcasting Research: Necessity or Nicety?". InterMedia 12:3 (May 1984):39 - 42.
- Menneer, Peter. "TV Audience Measurement in the U.K.". *EBU Review* XXXVI:2 (March 1985):24 - 29.

- Morrison, David. Invisible Citizens: British public opinion and the future of broadcasting. London: John Libbey and Company Ltd., 1986.
- Mytton, Graham. "Audience Research for International Broadcasting." InterMedia 14:2 (March 1986):35 - 39.
- Mytton, Graham. Looking, Listening & Learning: Report on a National Mass Media Audience Survey in Zambia (1970-73). Lusaka: Institute for African Studies, University of Zambia, 1974.
- Mytton, Graham and Boafo, S.T.K. "Audiences for International Radio Broadcasts in African Cities: A Case Study of Accra, Ghana". *The Third Channel*, 11:2 (1986).
- Nordenstreng, Kaarle. "Broadcasting Research in Scandinavian Countries." International Studies of Broadcasting. Tokyo:NHK (1971):245 - 265.
- Nordenstreng, Kaarle. "Comments on 'Gratifications Research' in Broadcasting." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 34:1 (1970): 130 - 132.
- Oksanen, Matti. Finnish Media Utilization. Helsinki: Oy. Yleisradio Ab., 1986.
- Perera, P.W.S. "A Radio Audience Survey in Sri Lanka." EBU Review XXXI:2 (March 1980):27 - 32.

RAI Servizio Opinioni, (Italian Radio and Television Audience Research) Publications:

RAI Servizio Opinioni Magazine (Annual).

The RAI "TV-Meter" Service (December 1985)

Planet Teen Ager: A Brief Synopsis (Giugno 1989)

The Aims, Structures, & Technology of the "Super Partes" Company for TV Audience Measurement". (Auditel) 1990.

Immagini di Televisione: Strategie di orientamento del consumo televisio. Rome: RAI, 1987. Abstracts in English of the Researchers from 1977 to 1986. 1987.

- Raboy, Marc. "Legal, Institutional and Research Perspectives on Broadcast Quality in Canada". Studies of Broadcasting, March 1991: No. 27.
- Rasmusson, Mark; and Spain, Dr. Peter. "Radio Research in The Gambia." Combroad (March 1983):24 - 26.
- Rybolt, William; Stauffer, John; and Frost, Richard. "Recall and Comprehension of Radio News in Kenya." Journalism Quarterly 57:4 (Winter 1980).
- Silvey, Robert. Who's Listening?: The Story of BBC Audience Research. London: George Allen and Unwin Ltd., 1974.
- Solbach, Wilfried (ed.). Audience Research in Developing Countries. Cologne: Deutsche Welle Radio Training Centre, 1987.
- Standard Definition of Broadcast Research Terms. New York:National Association of Broadcasters, January 1967.
- Stuart, Alan. Sampling in Television Research. London:ATV, 1960.
- Surveying the Audience: A Handbook for Small Market Public Radio Stations. Washington: Corporation for Public Broadcasting, 1990.
- Van Vuuren, Dean P.; and Van Der Walt, H. "Broadcasting Research: Change & Credibility". Studies in EducationalEvaluation 16 (1990): 97-113.
- Vilanilam, J.V. "Youth and the Media in Kerala, India: TwoPreliminary Research Reports." *Gazette* 37:1-2 (1986):79 - 86.